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Corbion at a glance

Corbion: biobased products, designed by science,  

powered by nature, and delivered through dedication  
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Corbion is the global market leader in lactic  
acid, lactic acid derivatives, and lactides, and a 
leading company in functional blends containing 
enzymes, emulsifiers, minerals, and vitamins. We 
deliver biobased products made from renewable 
resources and applied in global markets such as 
bakery, meat, culinary, pharma, home and personal 
care, and resins. operating worldwide, Corbion is a 
global company generating annual sales of around 
€ 744 million and employs a workforce numbering 
1,885 in 20 countries. Corbion is listed on the  
nYse euronext Amsterdam.

Corbion recognizes two distinct segments: 
Biobased Food Ingredients and Biochemicals,  
each with their own marketing and sales units. 
these segments are company-wide supported  
via globally managed innovation, supply chain,  
and support functions.

 
biobased Food ingredients

our differentiated portfolio of biobased food  
ingredients combined with our leading edge  
fermentation technology, blending capability,  
deep end market understanding, and strong  
customer relationships make us a unique player  
in the industry. We hold leading positions in various 
markets such as bakery and meat, and are moving 
into leadership positions in other markets as well. 
our portfolio is tailored around food integrity:  
natural solutions that enhance the consumer 
experience of products from creation to consump-
tion, by prolonging freshness and providing safe 
and healthy food. 

bioChemiCals

our biobased chemicals derived from renewable 
resources such as sugar, starch, or carbohydrates, 
are a sustainable alternative to fossil-based  
chemicals in various applications. our biobased 
products offer a mix of improved performance at 
competitive prices and with a reduced carbon foot-
print. We are constantly searching for new building 
blocks and molecules in order to secure future  
revenue growth in these attractive segments, 
while being able to remain competitive in the  
long term. 



the past year was a milestone year in the 

existence of our company. We successfully 

completed the transformation of CsM, 

which was announced in May 2012 and 

approved by our shareholders in July 

2012. the “physical” transformation from 

a bakery-led company into a biobased 

products business has been achieved within 

little more than a year. the divestment 

of 75% of our sales, around 80% of our 

employees and the majority of our factories 

and other facilities around the world was 

completed without any business issues 

arising – an achievement we are all  

very proud of.

A milestone year in the  
existence of our company
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Members of the  
Board of Management
CEO Gerard Hoetmer
CFO Koos Kramer
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When we announced our plans in 2012, we knew of 
course that we were embarking on a huge effort. large 
divestments are complicated and need to be executed 
with care. For instance, the divestment process involved 
the very complex disentanglement of the two activities, 
splitting a lot of shared support functions like It, while 
continuing to fulfill our higher results expectations and 
conducting intensive preparations and due diligence 
for the divestment. Building the new organization also 
brought challenges in integrating Caravan Ingredients, 
purac, and the remaining central services. With exten-
sive project teams, support from external parties, and  
a lot of hard work from our people, we were able to 
manage both the growth and the divestment agendas  
successfully.

the divestment process was finalized within our  
expected time schedule and at a value meeting our  
expectations at seven times eBItDA. We all realized  
that the proceeds are very important for the future 
of Corbion, but it was also satisfying that we believe 
to have found a buyer under which CsM Bakery can 
develop their business further.

our new organization is founded on an overall strategy 
of maintaining and developing the ample opportunities 
the biotechnology markets offer us. It is with this in 
mind that we have started to fine-tune and focus our 
Biochemicals and our Biobased Food Ingredients strate-
gies. For the latter, the strengths of Caravan Ingredients 
and purac have been combined into “our food integrity”- 
strategy. Many of our employees have been working 
hard alongside their “normal” jobs to drive the strategic 
work and to implement the new organization.

With so much effort going into the transformation, I am 
proud that we were able to deliver volume growth over 
3% and an eBItDA at constant currencies that was 7% 
ahead of 2012. For me, this indicates two things. First, 
that we have a very motivated team. And second, that 
the transformation into a biobased products company 
gives us a good base for valuable growth.

our successful transformation has also been recog-
nized by our investors. our company valuation has 

increased, with our share price rising from € 12.94 at 
announcement date in May 2012 to € 15.40 at the  
end of 2013, an increase of 19%.

Corbion operates in a high-growth business environ-
ment, in which we can continue to grow our existing 
categories and customer segments while at the same 
time developing new segments through commercially 
attractive products with new or enhanced properties. 
our strong positions in various markets, our techno-
logical edge, our impressive innovation pipeline, our 
robust intellectual property positions, and most  
importantly our passionate people, cannot give us  
any excuse not to lead the field in our markets.

In the years to come, Corbion will demonstrate the 
opportunities this sector can bring by delivering on our 
promise for the years until 2016 to grow the business 
by 6-9% (Compound Annual Growth Rate) with eBItDA 
margin of at least 15% in 2016, creating value for all 
stakeholders in our company.

A new company has been created, with a solid foun-
dation to build on the many opportunities open to us.

It has been Koos’ and my privilege to lead this change. 
With the divestment of the Bakery supplies businesses 
completed and the new organization of Corbion in 
place, it is now time to hand over responsibilities to a 
new management team. We have found an excellent 
team headed by tjerk de Ruiter as Ceo, with eddy van 
Rhede van der Kloot as CFo, and the new Cto sven 
thormählen. they will constitute the Board of Manage-
ment of Corbion with effect from 12 May 2014, subject 
to approval by our shareholders. I am confident they 
have the background and credentials to successfully 
lead Corbion through the next stage of its development 
as a biobased products company. 
 
I want to thank the people within Corbion, our customers, 
suppliers, and last but not least our shareholders for their 
continuing support to the company.

Gerard Hoetmer, CEO

Message from the Ceo
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Sales

Net sales

Number of employees

Emissions

Balance sheet ratios

EBITDA

Earnings per share

Cash flow

ROCE

Organic sal es growth 1 5%

scope I

scope II

kt Co2 equiv

kt Co2 equiv

99

94

EBITDA excluding one-off costs 
increased by 0 2%

Decreased by € 38 7 million

Excluding one-off costs

€ 743 6 mln € 99 2 mln € 34 1 mln

-0 2x EBITDA € 0 06 13 1%

By segment

By region

Biobased food ingredients

€ 566.0 million

Biochemicals 

€ 177.6 million

Asia 

€ 80.6 million

EMEA 

€ 140.4 million

Latin America 

€ 42.8 million

North America 

€ 479.8 million

19%

76%

24%

11%

64%
6%

By region

By unit

Segments

Biobased Food Ingredients

Biochemicals

R&D

Operations

Support functions

15%

185 66%

34%96

281

12%219

60%1,138

13%247

Asia

EMEA

Latin America

North America

13%

37%

6%

243

689

123

830 44%

1,885Total

Biobased Food Ingredients € 105 7 million

Biochemicals € 15 9 million

EBITDA excluding one-off costs by segment

Company highlights
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report oF the board 
oF management
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our strategy

Company Compass

our company compass guides our business focus, connects our people, and gives us our shared 
direction.

our purpose
Improve the quality of life for people today and generations to come.

our vision
Inspire a conscious choice for safe, healthy, and convenient solutions made through nature’s  
processes and renewable resources.

our mission
Creating value for our customers through our biobased products, designed by science, powered by 
nature, and delivered through our dedication.

our values
In close pARtneRsHIp with our customers, we develop commercially attractive biobased alterna-
tives by redefining technological edges.

our people and organization are driven by a pAssIon for exploring new solutions that meet our 
customers’ needs.

peRFoRMAnCe: We use our knowledge, agility, and dedication to deliver to ever-changing demands 
from markets whilst delivering value to our shareholders.

groWth strategy

In line with our unique position and capabilities, we make strategic choices which are based on our 
compass and the opportunities the market offers us. We have committed ourselves to delivering 
sustainable growth and superior returns. this means we aim to deliver a compounded average 
sales growth rate of 6-9% for the 2013-2016 period and to realize an eBItDA of over 15% in 2016.  
At the same time, we intend to increase our operational and capital expenditures to reinforce our 
core capabilities: an additional € 5 million annually on innovation and, on average, € 100 million per 
year to maintain and enlarge our manufacturing capabilities and capacity, in particular.

In 2013, we have made substantial progress in the execution of our strategy via a strong per-
formance in our existing markets and increased investments to develop and commercialize new 
opportunities.
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In order to make the right strategic choices in the dynamic landscape we are operating in we have 
set a number of initiatives in motion in the past year. A harmonized framework – our stage-gate 
process for rigorously prioritizing and evaluating innovation activities – has been developed and 
applied. With a view to capital expenditures and potential acquisitions, we professionalized the 
way in which we build business cases in order to better reflect the uncertainties in our environ-
ment. portfolio management has been introduced to align business initiatives.

Although our markets offer us many choices, we will stay close to our core Biobased Food  
Ingredients and Biochemicals activities on the basis of our capabilities, in order to increase  
our success rate and time to market in the various business projects.
the food and biochemicals industries have different business dynamics and a different value 
chain. to grow our business we have tailor-made strategies in place for each of these segments, 
which fit with the nature of these businesses and our market positions.

Both our segments’ strategies are based on common capabilities and are addressing the same 
megatrends.

addressing megatrends

societal drivers or megatrends that in our opinion are the most relevant for our strategy are 
population growth, resource depletion, and food security. By addressing these megatrends, we will 
continue to see growth for our company and at the same time be meaningful to society at large.

Megatrends

We address these megatrends in various ways and will continue to do so, for example by sourcing 
sustainable raw materials made from renewable resources, by developing innovative production 
processes in order to avoid the use of food crops, and by providing products that can help reduce 
waste and improve health and the safety of food.

Renewable resources
the use of renewable resources, such as sugar, starch, or other second generation carbohydrates 
is key in our strategy. As the world population grows, biobased products offer a more sustainable 
solution for meeting the ever-increasing demands for fossil-oil and its derivatives.

Avoiding the use of food crops
We recognize that food as a raw material for the production of biobased chemicals will compete 
with and, therefore, adversely impact the food supply chain over time. We have programs in place 
to replace our current agricultural raw materials, such as sugar cane and starch with second  
generation feedstocks, including agricultural byproducts such as, but not limited to, corn stover, 
sugar cane bagasse, and woody biomass.

Reducing waste
At present, approximately one third of food*) is discarded around the globe. this has direct  
implications for food availability and use of limited resources. our products for food preservation 
and prolonging freshness play an important role in reducing food waste. our food integrity  
solutions allow food producers to market food that stays fresh for longer periods of time. 

*) Source: Global food losses and food waste, FAO, 2011

POPULATION GROWTH RESOURCE DEPLETION FOOD SECURITY

As the world population 
continues to grow, there will 
be an increased need for 
consumer goods and safe and 
healthy food.

Increasing demand for 
resources requires a shift to 
renewables and alternative 
processes.

The need to secure food 
availability for a growing 
population can be partly 
resolved by reducing food 
waste.
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Healthy and safe food
our company is poised to grasp the opportunities arising from the global concern around food 
safety, by supplying food products with health and safety benefits for society and by meeting 
growing demands. our biobased solutions help to keep food safe and to prevent infection related 
to foodborne bacteria, such as listeria. We address health and well-being issues by providing  
solutions for fortification and salt reduction.

our Core Capabilities

In today’s competitive environment we can only show sustainable success if we continue to  
develop and invest in our capabilities. our capabilities will enable us to realize the opportunities 
that society’s megatrends offer. 

We have three defined capabilities: commercial, innovation, and technological excellence in which 
we will continuously invest in order to win in our markets. 

Commercial excellence
For Corbion, it all starts with understanding consumer needs. We monitor key industry trends and 
work closely with customers to ensure that our products and solutions are what society and the 
market need. our offerings give our customers the tools to develop differentiated products that 
meet consumer demands – products that stand out and help them to grow.

We have defined four areas of key competency development that will enable us to realize our 
growth ambition: 
1  strategic market insight
2  segmentation and positioning
3  Key account management
4  Category management

A program has started in 2013 within our company to improve these competencies and harmonize 
processes and systems in order to better serve our customers and realize a preferred supplier 
position. 

Innovation excellence
Corbion is built on outstanding scientific capabilities, knowledge management, and collaborative 
innovation. Identifying and harnessing the best, whether it be a new enzyme, the latest piece of 
scientific research, or a market insight is what enables us to turn science into innovations. 

As we deliver many very specific high value solutions to our customers in the food and biochemical 
industries it is essential to continue to innovate and be ahead of competition.
our highly qualified employees, global network of state-of-the art laboratories and expertise  
centers, and our partnerships with renowned universities, institutes, and industry players are  
fundamental in maintaining and strengthening our leadership position. 

technological excellence
We use our research capabilities and proprietary technology to bring innovation to life. We have 
unique capabilities and know-how in fermentation and the downstream processing of organic  
acids, as well as in the development and production of lactic acid and derivatives applications, 
many of which are protected by intellectual property rights. 

We translate ideas from laboratory to industrial scale. We develop and implement cost-leading, 
new and improved process concepts for current and future Corbion products.

Continuously bringing down our cost levels is essential in a fast growing and evolving industry  
like the bioplastics industry. Increasing the scale of our production units with the most efficient 
technologies is required to maintain our cost advantage versus our competition.
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market size

Corbion operates in two very large markets: food ingredients and chemicals. In these two markets 
we have positioned ourselves to leverage two fast growing segments: the market of biobased 
food ingredients to support the integrity of food and the biochemicals market.

looking at our Biobased Food Ingredients segment, we define the food integrity market as a 
sub-segment of the wider specialty food ingredients market. We estimate that the food integrity 
market is € 22 billion in size, and that the global specialty food ingredients market is € 37 billion in 
size*). Currently, Corbion’s addressable market – defined as the market for preservatives, enzymes,  
emulsifiers, and acidulants – is an estimated € 5 billion, indicating we have a market share of 11%.

If we take a close look at our largest market units, Bakery and, Meat and Culinary, we see  
leading market positions for both. Bakery has an estimated 30% market share of the relevant 
north American markets for emulsifiers and enzyme-based functional blends. In Meat and Culinary, 
we estimate that Corbion has a 49% share of the global meat preservation market, particularly  
in meat and poultry industry, which is estimated to be € 202 million in size.

the biochemicals market is estimated to be between € 94 and € 130 billion as part of the  
global chemicals market of around € 1,010 billion in annual size**). presently, our market share  
is still small. the launch of plA-based bioplastics and succinic acid should grow our share in the 
coming years.

With strong capabilities and megatrends that are driving growth in the large market segments  
we are operating in, we are very excited about our growth prospects.

*) Source: Bain & Company

**) Source: Arthur D. Little
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Net sales 2013

Source: Company data

We have organized ourselves in such a way that we can optimally serve our markets. We have split 
our customer facing market organization in two distinct segments: Biobased Food Ingredients  
and Biochemicals. these segments are divided into market units, each addressing certain product  
market combinations. these units are supported by our strategically important innovation and 
supply chain organization. It is within these units that we are able to differentiate our solutions 
from competition. our innovation, supply chain, and other support organizations are organized 
globally to use our scale, easily exchange knowledge, and optimize costs.

biobased Food ingredients segment

Biobased food ingredients are an important part of our portfolio. they account for most of today’s 
sales and profit, enabling us to pursue our ambition and grow as a company.

Biobased Food Ingredients

Bakery

Meat and Culinary

Foods

Biobased Food 

Ingredients

Biochemicals

59%

15%

26%

By segment

76%

24%

Asia

EMEA

Latin America

North America

By region

19%

6%

11%

64%

Biochemicals

Chemicals

Animal health

Pharma/medical

Home, industrial, 

institutional, and 

personal care

43%

15%

13%

29%

our business
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our differentiated portfolio of biobased food ingredients combined with our leading edge fermen tation 
technology, blending capability, deep end market understanding, and strong customer relationships 
make us a unique player in the industry. We have leading positions in various markets including bakery 
and meat, and are extending our leadership positions to other markets. our portfolio is tailored around 
food integrity: natural solutions that enhance the consumer experience of products from creation to 
consumption, by prolonging freshness and providing safe and healthy food. 

our markets
We have organized ourselves into three market units; Bakery, Meat and Culinary, and Foods.

bakery 
We offer a broad portfolio of functional blends that delivers against our customers’ food integrity 
and freshness needs. this includes functional ingredients, emulsifiers, bread mixes, specialty 
bases, salt replacers, frozen dough, vitamin and mineral premixes, and formulations for flour  
enrichment.

meat and Culinary
We provide a complete range of solutions to improve food safety, shelf life, and the quality of 
processed fresh meat and cooked meat products, covering the entire spectrum from value to 
premium clean label, and lower sodium containing products. our biobased solutions also help to 
prevent infections from foodborne bacteria, such as listeria.

Foods
In the beverage, dairy, confectionery, and prepared foods markets we are known for our complete 
range of products in the areas of shelf life extension, preservation, acidification, flavor boosting, 
texture improvement, and fortification. 

segment strategy
Corbion will extend its leadership position in food by providing biobased ingredients which will help 
food companies to solve their food integrity challenges, to keep food fresh and safe to reduce 
waste, and facilitate flexibility in the value chain through:
•	 the delivery of value added products and applications expertise based on customer and  

market insights.
•	 Continuous reduction of cost levels of core Corbion process facilities.
•	  the delivery of innovative products using our core technology platforms enhanced by  

acquired or licensed adjacent technologies. 

our approach to food integrity consists of two key elements: a quality element based on safety 
and preservation, and a sensory element around taste and texture.
through our preservatives, we provide our customers not only with safe food, but also with  
products that have a longer shelf life. other challenges regarding the freshness of food, such as 
look and feel and taste and smell are partly linked but also depending on other technologies. 

Corbion has leading market shares in the bakery and meat markets. We intend to grow the core 
businesses of bakery and meat by leveraging our brand recognition and by expanding geographi-
cally as well as into adjacent market segments where the “food integrity” theme resonates with 
our customers. We will augment our product portfolio for these segments by incorporating ingredi-
ent families that build upon our current platform and consolidate our food integrity positioning.  
examples include other ferments or natural, biobased ingredients to avoid colour, taste, and  
flavour degradation.

Clean label
We have a growing portfolio of fermentation-based food ingredients, which has been specifically 
developed to help meet the increasing demands for simple, clean, and understandable labels (also 
known as ‘cupboard ingredients’) and still enable food processors to produce high quality, safe, 
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and tasty products. the ingredients are suitable for a wide variety of food products, including 
meat, poultry, fish, deli-salads, bakery, dips, spreads, sauces, and dressings. 
In 2013, we added Verdad powder F80 to our “clean label” portfolio. Based on the natural fermen-
tation of sugar, Verdad powder F80 can be labeled as “fermented sugar” to meet the consumer 
demand for natural ingredients and provide a biobased alternative. 

extending freshness
our extended shelf life products help to maintain the freshness of meat, bread, and processed 
foods. Across the food industry, the collective waste starts to add up to significant losses of 
valuable resources. Corbion has a wide range of biobased products that extend the freshness 
and shelf life of our customers’ products and thus help to reduce waste levels. In 2013 we have 
expanded our ultra Fresh® platform to include new and innovative solutions. For the sweet goods 
market we developed ultra Fresh® sweet, a complex enzyme technology that helps sweet goods 
perform better throughout the freshness cycle and beyond 45 days. 

bioChemiCals segment

Corbion is one of the most experienced producers of chemicals derived from organic acids 
through the fermentation of carbohydrates. Building on our lactic acid technology using renew-
able resources, we have developed a number of differentiated products with unique functionali-
ties. these are applied in various end applications in the polymers and chemical industries. our 
biobased chemicals, chemicals derived from renewable resources such as sugar, starch, or other 
carbohydrates, are sustainable alternatives to fossil-based chemicals. Many of those biochemi-
cals may act as building blocks for other materials, also called platform molecules. our biobased 
products are unique in the market, as they offer a mix of increased performance at a competitive 
price and a reduced carbon footprint. We are constantly searching for new building blocks and 
molecules in order to secure future revenue growth and remain competitive in the long term. 

our markets
We have organized our Biochemicals segment into three market units: Biochemicals, Bioplastics, 
and new Business Ventures. the Biochemicals market unit is the largest market unit, respon-
sible for nearly all sales in this segment, and supplies our organic acids and derivatives to many 
markets. the Bioplastics market unit is active in developing applications based on our lactides to 
replace many fossil-based plastics. Although limited, sales levels are increasing. the market unit 
new Business Ventures is working on a longer horizon and developing new molecules for various 
markets. Corbion provides building blocks and additives for its main markets for biochemicals 
including packaging, home and personal care, automotive, pharma, electronics, and agrochemicals.  
In addition, we are gaining presence in the market for animal health additives. 

With a long-standing position in medical biomaterials, Corbion is market leader in resorbable 
polymers for the medical device and pharmaceutical industries. We develop, manufacture, and 
market resorbable polymers and monomers for medical applications, and polymers for controlled 
drug delivery, medical devices, and parenteral and dialysis solutions. Corbion plays a leading role in 
developing the mass market for bioplastics in selected segments, including packaging, electronics, 
and automotive. the main growth driver is in poly lactic acid (plA) bioplastics, where Corbion  
is leveraging its lactic acid and lactide technologies, as well as its downstream know-how  
(polymerization and conversion) to replace fossil-based plastics. Additional new market  
opportunities are being pursued in biobased succinic acid (through our joint venture with BAsF) 
and in FDCA (2,5-furandicarboxylic acid). 

segment strategy
We will achieve growth in our biochemical markets by continuously improving our value propositions  
and moving into new market segments through innovation with a focus on application development 
to reinforce our product portfolio.
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In Biochemicals we develop commercially attractive biobased alternatives using renewable and 
sustainable resources. We use our own core technology platforms, acquired or licensed adjacent 
technologies, intellectual property rights, and partnerships to establish significant positions in 
selected biochemical markets. Innovation is a key element in our Biochemicals strategy, but  
partnerships are equally important as they are closely intertwined. partnerships are necessary for 
market access and technology. 

our lactic acid technology is key, but we have also identified business opportunities in adjacent  
organic acid platforms. Based on our core technology of fermentation and downstream process-
ing, we will continue to develop alternatives for fossil-based chemicals. these attractive products 
will capture market share from the traditional fossil-based chemical market. the value of the  
global biochemical market is predicted to be worth between € 175 billion and € 420 billion by 
2025*). A large part of this growth is estimated to come from a growing demand for bioplastics. 

Bioplastics provide a sustainable alternative to their traditional, fossil-based counterparts.  
Bioplastics are defined as plastics that are biobased, biodegradable, or both. In the case of plA, 
both these criteria are being met. plA is made from renewable, biobased resources and has a 
much lower carbon footprint than other plastics. 

Corbion was the first one to commercialize a high heat plA variety that can withstand tempera-
tures up to 180°C/356°F, thus creating opportunities for plA in the automotive market amongst 
others. Corbion not only targets the higher value-added durable applications for plA (e.g. for  
electronics and automotive), we also work with industry partners to develop the mass markets  
for plA, such as packaging and disposables where biodegradability is a key requirement. the de-
velopment of both high-end and mass market applications however requires time, as these  
applications undergo rigorous testing, must meet high quality standards, and their implementation 
may require modifications in the production process of our customers. We are confident, how-
ever, that plA based on our lactides can compete with some of the most widely used traditional 
fossil-based plastics and will continue to replace polypropylene (pp), polystyrene (ps), acrylonitrile 
butadiene styrene (ABs), and polyamide (pA) in a multitude of applications. our goal is to capture 
the plA-market opportunity and substantially grow this business.
 
We produce polymers with a very high purity for the medical device and pharmaceutical industries 
among others, to make implants. An example of an exciting innovation in this respect is our Fiber-
live™ technology. this technology is a strong, fully resorbable material for human and veterinary 
implants, comparable to metal, with strength up to six times higher than cortical bone. Fiberlive™ 
is a unique composite consisting of resorbable silica-based fibers and resorbable polymers.  
It will be a game changer in the orthopedic resorbable market, where high load-bearing properties 
are needed, in for example, trauma and spine applications. We expect to make the first sales  
in the veterinary market due to the very stringent and time consuming test procedures for  
human implants.

partnering is essential
In replacing fossil-based chemicals we participate in an extensive value chain. In our view  
partnering is the key to success rather than developing competencies in all stages of the value 
chain. that is why it is essential that we selectively identify partnerships in the areas of, amongst 
others, biobased feedstock and adjacent technologies. two examples of partnering are our joint 
venture with BAsF called succinity and our collaboration with Cargill Animal nutrition.

basF (succinity)
In 2013 Corbion and BAsF established a 50-50 joint venture called succinity, to produce and sell 
biobased succinic acid. succinic acid is a very promising molecule to cater to the needs of the 
biobased chemicals industry. It has a lower carbon footprint than fossil-based succinic acid. In 
succinity, BAsF and Corbion are pooling their strengths in market access and fermentation and 
purification technology in order to become a leading supplier of biobased succinic acid. succinic 

*) Source: Arthur D. Little
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acid can be used in a variety of applications, ranging from chemical intermediates to bioplastics. 
A new plant is designed for an annual production of 10,000 metric tons of succinic acid and was 
commissioned at the end of 2013. 

Cargill animal nutrition
In June 2013 we announced our collaboration with Cargill’s Animal nutrition business for the 
development and commercialization of biobased animal feed solutions under the Aloapur® brand. 
Cargill brings its animal nutrition expertise and global footprint to the partnership. Cargill’s provimi 
business will develop the application and offer Aloapur® to customers to help them improve 
animal health and nutrition. these solutions boost growth and make for better feed conversion 
in suboptimal conditions in poultry production and at the same time have the potential to bring 
about a significant reduction in the use of antibiotics. More and more countries are banning antibi-
otics as a growth promoter in the wake of reports about the potentially harmful effects on human 
health. our first commercial product, Aloapur®, launched July 2013, is based on our core capability 
in lactic acid derivatives.

innovation

Innovation is at the heart of Corbion. It is a key differentiator in our strategic positioning, an  
important element of our brand image, and fundamental to maintaining and strengthening our 
leading market position. the changing environment in which Corbion operates today underscores 
its importance. Innovation is crucial for deepening our relationships with customers and helping 
them to succeed in an evolving marketplace. our commitment to innovation is deeply embedded  
in our strategy and culture.

With 12% of Corbion’s workforce directly engaged in R&D, scientific and technological excellence 
are the foundation upon which the company was built. What sets us apart, is our capability to  
turn science into biobased applications and innovations that meet customer and market needs. 
We expect to ramp up our R&D investments, increasing them by € 5 million annually in the next few 
years and enabling an even more strategically balanced and better-resourced approach to R&D, 
one that will establish the best combination of projects between application and formulation, new 
product development, and breakthrough innovations. In 2013 we increased our R&D investments 
by € 6.4 million. our R&D investments as a percentage of net sales was 3.5%.

Innovation excellence
Innovation excellence focuses on the development of the capabilities to make and execute better 
choices for our growth strategy. We manage risks, prioritize projects, and optimally allocate  
resources to our project portfolio by applying a stage-gate process which comes up with a coherent 
set of choices about “where to play” and “how to win.” each project follows a well-defined, fixed  
sequence of developmental stages. During each stage an assessment is performed with a focus 
on the value proposition the project delivers to the market. At each stage gate, management  
decides whether to move on to the next stage or to revisit or terminate the project. project risks 
are mitigated by phasing resources and investments in parallel in order to decrease risk as the 
project moves through the funnel. the commitment to the choices increases at each gate-pass, 
ultimately resulting in the decision to launch a new product. the best projects are advanced and 
resources are allocated by using a rigorous portfolio management approach.

We have integrated a sustainability assessment into our innovation stage-gate process. It is based 
on the most material aspects across our value chain and will also be used to evaluate our current 
product portfolio. the sustainability assessment enables us to understand where our solutions 
provide environmental and societal benefits, and helps us to identify areas of improvement.
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Stage-gate process

Key innovation programs supporting our growth
Corbion has a wide range of coherent innovation programs to enable our growth strategy. one 
overarching theme in these programs is the consideration of environmental, social, and economic 
aspects, which addresses resource depletion and food security for a growing population. 

Innovation pipeline

the projects beyond the scoping stage are discussed in the chapters on Biobased Food Ingredients  
and Biochemicals.

process innovation
Corbion has designed specific programs to increase resource efficiency. We have been developing a 
scalable, cost-effective, sustainable process for producing organic acids. What sets this new tech-
nology apart is that we recycle nearly all chemicals, and thus require fewer input materials. the 
formation of gypsum, a byproduct in the conventional process, is avoided. the new gypsum-free 
technology has been implemented on a small scale in the netherlands in 2013. this technology is 
expected to be implemented in the intended capacity increase of our lactic acid plant in thailand. 

We are investing in advancing technology for the next generation of organic acid production in 
order to resolve the conflict between the limited availability of land for food production and the 
carbohydrate feedstock needs for biochemical production. From 2016, we intend to start replacing 
traditional agricultural raw materials, such as sugar cane and corn starch, with second generation 
feedstocks on a demonstration scale. 

DISCOVERY STAGE 1
Scoping

STAGE 2
Concept 
development

STAGE 3
Design and
develop

STAGE 4
Test and
validate

STAGE 5
Launch

1 2 3 4 5

Process innovation
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Ultra Fresh® Sweet
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Biochemicals
PLA

Animal health

Succinic acid (BASF JV)

FiberLive™ (biomaterials)

FDCA
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new building blocks and molecules: adjacent organic acid platforms 
We are constantly searching for new building blocks and molecules to secure future revenue 
growth and remain competitive in the long term. our selection process to determine which new 
building blocks and molecules we will explore focuses on: 
•	 strategic fit and financial reward
•	 Market attractiveness and product differentiation
•	 Fit with our technological capabilities
•	 Competitive advantage and risks

the molecules that have been selected are biobased succinic acid, calcium propionate, and FDCA 
(2,5-furandicarboxylic acid). Calcium propionate is used as a mold inhibitor in bakery products and 
animal feeds. It has a great fit with Corbion’s capabilities, making use of our fermentation technol-
ogy experience and access to markets we operate in. FDCA is a potential replacement for purified 
terephthalic acid (ptA), which is used mainly for the production of pet bottles and polyester fibers. 
Replacement of ptA with FDCA results in a polymer called peF, which has superior barrier proper-
ties compared with traditional pet and a lower carbon footprint. FDCA production fits in well with 
Corbion’s capabilities in fermentation and purification and builds further on our bioplastics portfo-
lio. In general the molecules that Corbion is working on are all based on renewable resources and 
are considered to have the potential to be produced cost competitively compared to fossil-based 
alternatives.

operations, supply Chain, and proCurement

to successfully accomplish the delivery of our solutions and services to our customers and meet-
ing their needs, we operate from a demand-driven perspective. By optimizing the operations and 
supply chain processes we were able to lower the working capital, and maximize service levels to 
our customers. 

We have a worldwide supply chain with manufacturing facilities in the usA, thailand, Brazil,  
netherlands, and spain. our facilities in the netherlands and spain are smaller sites which are  
specialized in developing new products or processes and producing specialty ingredients.
our large scale facilities in the usA, thailand, and Brazil are all strategically located close to their 
raw material source and/or their main sales markets. 

operations and supply chain 
the operations and supply chain activities of Corbion have three key objectives: 
1   to ensure the delivery of quality products to our customers, from our doors to the customers’ 

floors. We do this in a safe, environmentally responsible, sustainable manner, and with a quality 
that meets our customers’ expectations.

2    to reduce the manufacturing and supply chain costs from both a fixed and variable perspective 
in order to maintain cost competitiveness in the market. 

3    to support the growth of existing and new products in the market and incorporate any  
acquired assets into the Corbion supply chain. 

In the 2013-2016 period we have earmarked on average € 100+ million annually for capital  
expenditures, a significant part of which will be allocated to new production facilities and  
capabilities to specifically meet increasing demands. If contracts for plA would fully utilize our 
lactides production capacity earlier than expected, additional capital expenditures of € 150 to  
€ 200 million would be required. 

several focus areas have been defined in operations and supply chain: 
•	 Safety – ‘Zero’ accidents is the standard of performance we work toward. We record and 

investigate all incidents, including those with contractors, by determining the root cause and 
implementing prevention measures.
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•	 Quality – our goal is to deliver the “perfect order” to the customer, as measured by on-time and 
in-full indicators, first time right, and complaints. We record incidents and complaints. In 2013 
we had no incidents of non-compliance with regulations or voluntary codes concerning the 
health and safety impacts of products and services during their life cycle.

•	 efficiency – We have established technology platforms in various processes and in maintenance. 
through these platforms, best practices are established and savings programs are initiated 
which help Corbion to stay competitive in the volatile markets we have experienced in the last 
5 or 6 years. We strive for world class performance in maintenance and reliability, and through 
our efforts have ensured the reliability of our assets.

•	 environment – our aim is to have “zero” spills and reduce environmental impact. environmental 
responsibility is practiced through the implementation of management systems and adherence 
to standards. We investigate all incidents and implement prevention measures. In 2013, we had 
zero reportable spills.

to meet these objectives, we maintain management systems that are designed to ensure  
continued compliance, while working toward ongoing improvement. We implement eHs  
(environmental, Health and safety) management systems, such as Iso 14001 and osHAs 18001. 
All of our sites are BRC-certified and assessed through sedex, the supplier ethical Data exchange. 
sedex, a not-for-profit membership organization is committed to the continuous improvement of  
ethical and responsible practices in supply chains through the sharing of information on health  
and safety, labor standards, business integrity, and the environment.

procurement
We run our procurement activities through a centralized approach, with our sourcing strategies 
carried out by regional teams in thailand, Brazil, the netherlands, and the usA. our global approach 
provides us with an efficient and agile procurement team which has built a deep understanding 
of our sourcing needs and the ability to respond swiftly to market developments. this has proven 
to be an effective way for capturing economies of scale on our purchased goods and services, for 
lowering our supply risks, and for deepening our market insights for the benefit of our customers.

our efforts in procurement create value through:
•	 Risk-management of our large commodity exposures (soy bean oil, sugar, corn, and wheat).
•	 ensuring a safe supply of materials and services to our operations at all times, without  

disruptions.
•	 Reducing the cost base of our raw materials and services consistently through a highly  

professional process.
•	 ensuring a sustainable raw material supply.

During 2013 we right-sized our organization, after the divestment of the Bakery supplies busi-
nesses. this change has allowed us to focus even more on the performance drivers listed above. 
We took a major step to outsource our procurement of indirect materials to dedicated third-party 
providers in europe and the usA, strengthened our team in the usA, and developed highly practi-
cal regional sourcing strategies, with one shared and coherent vision company-wide. All of this is 
now in place and we look with confidence to the years ahead to bring competitive advantages to 
our business through a highly professional procurement operation.

the commodity markets in which we procure were relatively stable during the year, without a 
great deal of the price volatility which we have seen in the previous years. notable major crop 
events which have impacted our business were absent in 2013. Most of the commodities we  
use have reverted to global supply surplus situations, and prices have drifted down slowly and 
consistently over the year as a result. However, climate events, such as droughts, can have a deep 
impact on our supply costs. We are mitigating those risks actively by taking longer-term contract 
positions, by approving raw materials from other regions of the world, and on a longer-term  
horizon, considering second generation feedstocks. 
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Price index, second future contract - from October 2012 to December 2013

In periods of gradual decline in the commodity markets, we will see this impact on our cost  
levels with a lead-time, as we are obliged to carry some forward covers to secure our supplies  
and mitigate the effect of price fluctuations. For sugar, our main raw material, we had relatively 
long price covers at the start of 2013, all against committed sales volumes. on the other key  
commodities we saw lower raw material costs as a result of the declining markets.

Raw materials breakdown

Source: Company data

sustainable supply
to produce biobased, sustainable products we must secure a sustainable supply and ensure 
environmental and social responsibility in our supply chain. We are aware that, as a company which 
procures much of its feedstocks from the agricultural industry, a great deal of the environmental 
and social impact in our value chain is upstream of our own operations, on farm level. our impact, 
as just one company, to improve sustainability in our value chain is generally limited. that is why, 
in addition to direct engagement with our raw material suppliers, we work with multi-stakeholder 
initiatives such as Sedex for all our raw materials and Bonsucro for our key agricultural raw  
material, sugar cane. our sustainable supply program is based on compliance with the Corbion 
Supplier Code, which is included in our purchasing agreements to embed sustainability in our 
supply relationships. We engage with suppliers and evaluate supplier performance through risk 
assessment and encourage our suppliers to use global standards and good agricultural practices. 
Finally, we train and engage our procurement team, who work toward our sustainable supply  
targets: to have 50% of our raw material supply (spend) assessed by 2015 and 90% by 2020.
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our performance

We want to improve the quality of life for people today and generations to come. We do this by ad-
dressing the megatrends driving our business, developing attractive and profitable solutions with 
our customers and engaging with our stakeholders. We measure and report on our financial, social, 
and environmental performance.  

key Figures

Financial
Millions of euros 2013 2012 (restated)

Continuing operations
net sales 743 6 753.7

operating result 39 0 37.6

eBItDA excluding one-off costs 99 2 99.0

Result after taxes 7 2 25.6

earnings in euros 2) *) 0 06 0.30

Diluted earnings in euros 2) *) 0 06 0.30

Cash flow from operating activities 34 1 72.8

Cash flow from operating activities per common share, in euros 2) *) 0 45 0.96

Depreciation/amortization fixed assets 41 0 43.2

Capital expenditure on (in)tangible fixed assets 75 5 55.8

eBItDA margin % 4) 13 3 13.1

Result after taxes/net sales % 1 0 3.4

number of employees at closing date 1,885 1,834

total operations
balance sheet

non-current assets 435 5 1,374.3

Current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents 206 2 704.4

non-interest-bearing current liabilities 134 2 489.6

net debt position 1) -29 4 510.9

provisions 31 7 219.5

equity 505 2 858.7

Capital employed 5) 475 7 1,304.8

Average capital employed 5) 908 5 1,516.4

key data per common share

number of issued common shares 71,939,942 69,914,711

number of common shares with dividend rights 61,176,915 69,909,876

Weighted average number of outstanding common shares *) 70,114,838 71,902,593

price as at 31 December 15 40 16.25

Highest price in calendar year 18 60 16.48

lowest price in calendar year 14 41 10.49

Market capitalization as at 31 December 942 1,136

earnings in euros 2) *) 0 02 -0.96

Diluted earnings in euros 2) *) 0 02 -0.96

Cash flow from operating activities per common share, in euros 2) *) 0 10 2.69
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Millions of euros 2013 2012 (restated)

other key data

Cash flow from operating activities 9 9 197.4

Depreciation/amortization fixed assets 41 0 109.6

Capital expenditure on (in)tangible fixed assets 75 5 76.2

number of employees at closing date 1,885 9,650

number of issued financing preference shares 2,983,794 2,983,794

equity per share in euros 3) 7 87 11.78

ratios

RoCe % 6) 13 1 9.5

net debt position/eBItDA 7) -0 2 2.0

Interest cover 8) 13 5 10.1

Balance sheet total: equity 1:0 7 1:0.4

net debt position: equity 1:-17 2 1:1.6

Current assets: current liabilities 1:0 4 1:0.4

social
2013 2012 (restated)

total employees 1.885 1.834

employees per region

Asia 13% 13%

eMeA 37% 35%

latin America 6% 7%

north America 44% 46%

employees per unit

segments 15% nA

- Biobased Food Ingredients 63% NA

- Biochemicals 37% NA

R&D 12% nA

operations 60% nA

support functions 13% nA

environmental
Category Unit 2013 2012 (restated)

Volume kt 419 0 401.4

energy use, specific GJ/t 5 8 5.8

Co2 equiv, scope I kt 99 88

Co2 equiv, scope II kt 94 92

Co2 equiv, scope I, specific Kt/kt 0 24 0.22

Co2 equiv, scope II, specific Kt/kt 0 22 0.23

Financial (continued)

1) Net debt position comprises interest-bearing debts less cash and cash equivalents.

2) Per common share in euros after deduction of dividend on financing preference shares.

3) Equity per share is equity divided by the number of shares with dividend rights.

4) EBITDA margin % is EBITDA divided by net sales x 100.

5) Capital employed and average capital employed are based on balance sheet book values.

6) Return On Capital Employed (ROCE) is defined by Corbion as EBIT excluding one-off costs for the year divided by the average capital 

employed based on balance sheet book values x 100. 

7) EBITDA is “Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization, and impairment of (in)tangible fixed assets,” including 

acquisition and divestment results for the full year and excluding one-off costs.  

8) Interest cover is EBITDA as defined in Note 7 divided by net interest income and charges.

*) previous year is restated for stock dividend 

NA  = Not available
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FinanCial Commentary 2013, dividend proposal, outlook For 2014

Markets
the global macroeconomic conditions continued to be challenging in 2013. Consumer confidence, 
especially in the usA and europe, remained subdued. this held back demand in both of Corbion’s 
segments, but particularly in the largest segment, Biobased Food Ingredients. 

north America is our largest end market, representing 64.5% of sales. According to our data, 
consumption of bakery products in the usA declined by 0.5%, albeit with a slight improvement in 
the latter part of 2013. In 2013, according to the us Department of Agriculture, total usA meat 
and poultry production was stable compared to 2012. In europe, data from the european Commis-
sion shows a drop in beef production which was offset by an increase in poultry production. Corbion 
performed well in the above mentioned markets, by growing revenues and volumes in both north 
America and europe in 2013. one indicator of the challenging macroeconomic conditions has been 
the volatility in many global currencies. Despite the uncertainty in the euro-area, the euro  
appreciated against other currencies.

Results
net sales 
net sales in 2013 decreased by 1.3% to € 743.6 million (2012: € 753.7 million). exchange rate 
movements, especially the us dollar, Brazilian real, and Japanese yen, negatively impacted the 
sales figures by € 30.6 million (4.1%). Adjusted for reclassifications and for currency effects,  
organic growth was € 11.0 million (1.5%).

Full year 2013 compared to full year 2012

Total growth Currency Total growth 
at constant 

currency

Acquisitions/
reclassifi-

cations

Organic Price/mix Volume

Biobased Food Ingredients -2.4% -4.2% 1.8% 1.6% 0.2% -0.7% 0.9%

Biochemicals 2.1% -3.5% 5.6% 0.0% 5.6% -5.3% 10.9%

total -1.3% -4.1% 2.8% 1.3% 1.5% -1.5% 3.0%

* Sales to divested Bakery Supplies businesses now reclassified as third party sales instead of intercompany.

organic growth in the Biobased Food Ingredients segment was the result of almost 1% higher 
volumes sold with increased demand for our biobased products in most geographies. this growth 
was achieved despite the continued weak economic climate, the bankruptcy of a major customer 
in the Bakery market unit, which we reported in the second quarter, and the ongoing impact of the 
earlier legislative change in the usA on the Meat and Culinary market unit. Volume growth was off-
set by lower average sales prices (-0.7%) reflecting the lowering of raw material prices during the 
year. In the Biochemicals segment volumes increased by 10.9% driven by product introductions 
and a widening geographical spread. the negative price/mix effect of -5.3% was mostly caused by 
a higher proportion of lower cost/lower price products sold.

expenses 
In line with our strategic priorities we increased our expenditure on R&D in 2013 substantially to 
€ 25.8 million (2012: € 19.3 million), bringing R&D expenditure as a percentage of sales at 3.5% 
(2012: 2.6%). the majority of the increased expenditure was related to the Biochemicals segment 
where we are making significant investments in order to develop new organic acids (biobased 
succinic acid, FDCA) based on our leading edge fermentation capabilities. partly offsetting these 
additional expenses, central costs were lower by € 3.6 million. As a result of the transformation of 
CsM into Corbion approximately 40% of central staff was released during 2013, which was a major 
contributor to the decrease in central costs.
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Millions of euros 2013 2012

r&d expenses cash-out 29.2 23.0

Capitalization -5 3 -4.8

Depreciation and amortization 1 9 1.1

Impairment 0 0

R&D expenses 25 8 19.3

   

r&d expenses before d&a 23.9 18.2

operating result
operating result excluding one-off costs increased by € 2.4 million, or 4.3%, to € 58.2 million in 
2013 (2012: € 55.8 million). At constant currencies the increase was 11.5%.

depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization were € 41.0 million (2012: € 43.2 million); the slight decline is  
related to the currency impact.

ebitda 
eBItDA excluding one-off costs increased by € 0.2 million, or 0.2%, to € 99.2 million in 2013  
(2012: € 99.0 million). eBItDA was negatively impacted by € 5.0 million as a result of currency 
translation and transaction effects. eBItDA including one-off costs of € 17.9 million (mainly  
related to the strategic transformation) amounted to € 81.3 million.

During 2013 there was a reduction in volatility in global agricultural commodity markets.  
Bumper crops in 2013 supported inventory levels, which, along with large export supplies, saw  
international prices of cereals and sugar fall to levels well below their highs in 2012 and early 
2013. our most important input cost is sugar; average sugar prices fell in 2013 for the third  
successive year. Given the time lag inherent to our cover positions, the positive effect on our  
margins was limited.

Millions of euros  2013  2012

ebitda excluding one-off costs breakdown 99.2 99.0

- Biobased Food Ingredients 105.7 106.9

- Biochemicals 15.9 18.1

- Central costs -22.4 -26.0

   

depreciation and amortization -41.0 -43.2 

ebit excluding one-off costs 58.2 55.8

biobased Food ingredients

Millions of euros  2013 2012

net sales 566 0 579.7

   

organic growth 0 2% -1.0%

   

ebitda excluding one-off costs 105 7 106.9

ebitda margin excluding one-off costs 18 7% 18.4%
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Biobased Food Ingredients as a whole showed limited volume growth in 2013. net sales declined 
slightly, mostly because of currency effects.

our largest market unit, Bakery, showed a slight volume decline in 2013, in line with or better 
than the north American bakery market. the bankruptcy of one of our largest baking customers, 
towards the end of 2012, caused some loss of volume. over the course of 2013 this volume loss 
was mostly absorbed by other industrial bakers and from bankruptcy restarted company. In the 
second half of the year we shipped the first batches of our new ultra Fresh® product line, which 
has generated positive feedback.

the other Biobased Food Ingredients market units, Meat and Culinary, and Foods, showed good  
volume developments in 2013. In meat in north America we grew our volumes again after two 
years of declines caused by the substitution with chemically derived preservation products  
following a legislative change in 2011. the sales of our low-cost-in-use product line which we  
introduced in response to this change is growing well, thereby mitigating the substitution effect. 
We also successfully expanded our premium ferments line, our clean label solutions.

net sales of Biobased Food Ingredients declined from € 579.7 million to € 566.0 million; sales  
were stable year-on-year on an organic basis. the eBItDA margin before one-off costs increased 
from 18.4% to 18.7%. eBItDA before one-off costs declined by € 1.2 million to € 105.7 million 
(2012: € 106.9 million). 

biochemicals

Millions of euros  2013 2012

net sales 177 6 174.0

   

organic growth 5 6% 3.4%

   

ebitda excluding one-off costs 15 9 18.1

ebitda margin excluding one-off costs 9 0% 10.4%

Biochemicals showed strong volume growth in 2013 (10.9%). net sales was negatively affected by 
currency effects and, more importantly, lower average selling prices. these lower average prices 
were mainly caused by a product mix effect due to the growth in the second half of 2013 of sales 
of lower cost/lower price acidifiers for the animal feed industry. 

Bioplastics related contracts have been coming in slower than we expected. We did sign a sizeable 
contract for commercial lactide volumes, as communicated in May 2013. lactides, a derivative of 
lactid acid, are a pre-cursor to bioplastic poly lactic acid (plA). this partner is building a plA plant 
with a capacity of 10,000 metric tons (start-up expected in the second half of 2014) where we are 
the exclusive supplier of lactides. We have made good progress, and saw increased activity from 
other potential partners in 2013, and we remain confident that this will translate in significant 
commercial contracts. still, Bioplastics only made a small contribution to overall Biochemicals 
sales in 2013. 

Margins were lower in 2013 because of the higher sales of lower price/cost products and espe-
cially higher R&D expenditures. the eBItDA margin before one-off costs decreased from 10.4% to 
9.0%. eBItDA before one-off costs decreased from € 18.1 million to € 15.9 million, with the major-
ity of this decrease being caused by negative currency effects. 

one-off costs
one-off costs for the year amounted to € 17.9 million. these related mainly to advisory costs in 
connection with the divestment of the Bakery supplies businesses, It disentanglement costs,  
settlements with the pension funds, and severance payments.
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Financial income and charges
net financial charges decreased by € 7.9 million to € 16.6 million due mainly to the lower net debt 
position.

taxes
net taxes of our continuing operations in 2013 showed a cost of € 14.0 million compared to a 
credit of € 12.6 million in 2012. our tax line has been impacted substantially by various one-off 
items related to the divestment of the Bakery supplies businesses. Most relevant is the tax line 
from continuing operations before one-offs. this shows a tax expense of € 10.9 million, which as a 
percentage of net profit before tax is 27%.

discontinued
the Bakery supplies businesses sold on 3 July 2013, are included into our accounts until that date. the 
results are accounted for in the line result after taxes from discontinued operations. In the first half 
of 2013, the Bakery supplies businesses delivered net sales of € 1,244.1 million, slightly down (0.4%) 
compared with the first half of 2012, while volumes were almost flat (+0.2%). eBItDA before one-off 
items increased by 10.8% from € 63.0 million to € 69.8 million mainly due to better cost control. 

Balance sheet
Capital employed including goodwill decreased by € 829.1 million to € 475.7 million. 
the main movements were:

Millions of euros

Continued  

Capital expenditure on (in)tangible fixed assets 75.5

Depreciation/amortization/impairment of (in)tangible fixed assets -42.3

Working capital increase 3.7

exchange rate differences -26.7

other -1.6

discontinued  

Divestment -837.7

Capital expenditure of € 75.5 million (2012: € 55.8 million) was significantly higher than depreciation 
and amortization of € 42.3 million. Major capital expenditure investments in 2013 were the  
preparation for a full-scale, leading edge technology lactic acid production unit, the installation  
of a commercial scale succinic acid plant, and a new medical biomaterials plant in the usA.
 
Working capital decreased by € 1.9 million to € 79.6 million. this decrease is the balance of an  
increase of € 3.7 million before currency effects and a currency effect of € -5.6 million. our  
average cash conversion cycle decreased from 51.2 days in 2012 to 49.4 days in 2013, due  
mainly to good inventory control and a lower receivables position. 

equity before profit appropriation decreased by € 288.6 million to € 505.2 million. 

the main movements were:
•	 the positive result after tax of € 4.2 million.
•	 A decrease of € 200.9 million due to the share buyback.
•	 A decrease of € 70.1 million in connection with the dividend for the financial year 2012  

and the special interim dividend.
•	 negative exchange rate differences of € 22.5 million due to the translation of equity  

denominated in currencies other than the euro.
•	 And a positive movement of € 5.9 million in the hedge reserve.

At the end of 2013 the ratio between balance sheet total and equity was 1:0.7 (2012: 1:0.4).
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Cash flow
Cash flow from continuing operating activities decreased by € 38.7 million to € 34.1 million com-
pared to 2012. this is the balance of lower operational cash flow before movements in working 
capital of € 4.5 million, a negative impact of working capital and provisions of € 31.4 million, and 
higher taxes and interest paid of € 2.8 million.
the cash flow used for investment activities increased by € 14.0 million to € 69.2 million in 2013. 
Capital expenditure accounted for most (€ 66.1 million) of this. 
Cash outflow from financing activities amounted to € 786.4 million, up by € 663.0 million com-
pared to 2012, predominantly due to the divestment of the Bakery supplies businesses. the cash 
received was used for an interim dividend of € 50.4 million, a share buyback of € 200.9 million, and 
net repayments of loans amounting to € 515.4 million.

Financing
our financing ratios have improved mainly due to the lower debt levels following the divestment of 
the Bakery supplies businesses.

At the end of 2013, the net debt to eBItDA ratio was negative at -0.2x (2012: 2.0x), reflecting the 
net cash position at the year-end. the interest cover over the full year 2013 was 13.5x (2012: 
10.1x). We continue to stay well within the limits of our financing covenants.

the net cash position amounted to € 29.4 million at the end of 2013, an improvement of € 540.3 
million compared to the end of 2012. this is the net balance of the following major movements:
•	 A positive cash flow from operating activities before working capital and provisions  

of € 84.2 million.
•	 A net investment in tangible and intangible fixed assets of € 66.1 million.
•	 Cash dividend payments of € 70.1 million.
•	 tax paid on profit of € 12.3 million.
•	 Interest payments of € 15.1 million.
•	 An increase of € 22.7 million in working capital and provisions.
•	 the cash flow and divestment of the discontinued operations for the net amount of  

€ 841.5 million. 

As at 31 December 2013, the interest-bearing non-current liabilities amounted to € 94.4 million 
(31 December 2012: € 615.0 million). the average effective interest rate on the non-current  
liabilities outstanding as at 31 December 2013 was 3.88% with an average remaining term of  
3.1 years (31 December 2012: average interest rate 3.31% with an average term of 2.9 years).

divestment of bakery supplies businesses
on 3 July 2013 we completed the divestment of our Bakery supplies businesses for an enterprise 
value of € 1,050 million. We received a net cash proceeds of € 874 million. 

Millions of euros

selling price 1,050

sale of pension liabilities 132

normalization of working capital 44

net proceeds 874

part of the proceeds was used to redeem short-term debt. to the holders of our us dollar denomi-
nated private placement (us$ 300 million), we proposed a voluntary repayment of the outstanding 
debt which was taken up by holders of us$ 173 million. 

the other main use of the divestment proceeds was a € 250 million cash return program  
consisting of an interim cash-dividend of € 50 million, an open market buyback of € 45 million in 
common shares and € 10 million in financing preference shares, and a tender offer of € 145 million. 
the open market share buyback program ran from 29 July 2013 until 10 october 2013. A total of 
2,479,185 common shares were repurchased at a volume-weighted average price of € 18.0854 
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per share. under the tender offer, we repurchased 8,286,211 of our common shares at a price of 
€ 17.50 per share. Corbion held 14.91% of its outstanding shares in treasury at year-end 2013. 
these treasury shares are without dividend rights. the necessary actions to cancel these treasury 
shares have been initiated.

the remaining funds are held in secure short dated Dutch government bonds, money market 
funds, and direct deposits with banks. By holding on to part of our original us dollar denominated 
private placement we retain access to that channel for potential future needs.

Reservation and dividend policy
the reservation policy is aimed at creating and retaining sufficient financial capacity and flexibility 
to realize our strategic objectives while maintaining healthy balance sheet ratios. Corbion intends 
to add or charge the profit or loss to the company reserves after payment of the statutory divi-
dend on financing preference shares and after deduction of the proposed dividend on common 
shares. Issues such as financing requirements, acquisitions, divestments, reorganizations, or other 
strategic considerations can lead to adjustments in the reserves and the reservation policy.

the amount of dividend on common shares and the type of dividend that the company will pay 
to its shareholders depend on the financial results of the company, the market environment, the 
outlook, and other relevant factors. We have adjusted our dividend policy after the divestment 
of the Bakery supplies businesses as the growth profile requires a higher profit retention rate to 
finance that growth. Corbion aims at a dividend payout of 35% of net profit adjusted for non-cash 
one-off items.

We will regularly review our financial position in relation to these investment plans, as we are  
committed to return any future surplus capital to shareholders. In view of our growth strategy, we 
expect to make major investments in production capacities, especially for our biochemical business. 
As at the end of 2013, our financial position is in line with our investment plans for the coming years.

Dividend proposal
upon adoption of the financial statements holders of financing preference shares will receive the 
statutory dividend. the proposed dividend on common shares will be presented to the General 
shareholders’ Meeting to be held on 12 May 2014. 

the proposed dividend on common shares amounts to € 0.15 per share. this is 35% of our net 
profit from continued activities excluding the one-off costs. We have excluded the one-off costs 
as they reflect expenses related to the transformation of Corbion which should be seen in relation 
to the distribution of € 250 million to shareholders via the interim dividend and the share buyback. 
shareholders will be able to choose between a cash and a stock dividend charged to the reserves. 
the stock dividend is exempt from Dutch dividend taxes.

outlook 2014
2014 will be the first full year of Corbion operating as a biobased products company with a  
focused strategy, a new organizational structure, and a solid foundation given our 2013 results.  
In 2014 we foresee good progress in our current business. this will give us the right focus to 
further successfully execute our strategy and make progress towards our 2013-2016 targets. 
Growth in Bioplastics will be an important driver of our overall growth, especially at the end of  
the 2013-2016 planning period.

For 2014, we expect the current macroeconomic environment continuing to be challenging, includ-
ing some headwind from the strong euro. on the positive side, we will see some benefits from the 
unwinding of our old raw material cover positions that will be replaced by new, lower costs con-
tracts. As a result of the reduced net debt, interest expenses will come down substantially. tax as 
percentage of profit before tax is expected to be between 20-25%. 
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soCial perFormanCe

our employees are a vital part of the company “capital”, creating the innovations and focused 
solutions that excite our customers, improving the health and well-being of people, and helping to 
sustain the environment we live in. Across our organization we share a unique entrepreneurial and 
innovative spirit and customer focus. 

our organization is designed to carefully mirror the dynamics in our business so that we are able 
to constantly adapt and shift to meet our customers’ needs and future market developments. In 
2013 we built a market-driven organizational structure to support this. this has allowed us to build 
an integrated business with a shared strategy and with exceptional service. underpinning all of 
this are our core capabilities - commercial, innovation, and technological excellence - that propel 
Corbion’s differentiation within our market segments. our support functions enable our success by 
integrating the necessary tools, processes, and business support services within our organization. 

Creating this new structure has meant considerable change for our employees and involved  
resizing the organization. the process of transforming requires a lot of adaptation, effort, and 
careful management, while at the same time, ensuring our continual drive for results. 

For our people, this means we create space and opportunities to constantly feed their curiosity  
and grow their life-long knowledge. For our leadership, this requires deep collaboration and  
accountability. It means supporting and developing our people to process what opportunities  
are possible within the new space that has been created by growth. It is our culture, collaboration, 
and leadership that will ultimately enable Corbion to bring innovations and solutions that excite 
our customers and benefit society.

We have carried out a selection process to identify and integrate the key social performance  
indicators that best reflect the role our people, environment, and culture play in delivering on our 
strategic ambitions. these includes a clear breakdown of our workforce profile, hires and turnover, 
labor practices, and occupational health and safety.
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Workforce profile
Number of 
employees

% of workforce

total workforce 1,885

per region

Asia 243 13%

eMeA 689 37%

latin America 123 6%

north America 830 44%

per unit

segments 281 15%

- Biobased Food Ingredients 185 66%

- Biochemicals 96 34%

R&D 219 12%

operations 1,138 60%

support functions 247 13%

by gender

Female 505 27%

Male 1,380 73%

by employment contract

Full time 1,755 93%

- Permanent 1,688 90%

- Temporary 67 4%

part time 130 7%

- Permanent 118 6%

- Temporary 12 1%

In 2013, our total workforce grew by approximately 6%, as a result of strategic investments, in  
the areas of technology expertise, new product commercialization, new partnerships, and key ac-
count expansions. the acquisition of BIRD also contributed marginally to workforce increases.
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Hires and turnover
Number of  
new hires

New hire rate Number of 
leavers

Turnover rate

total 241 13% 190 10%

Number of  
new hires

% of new hires Number of 
leavers

% of leavers

by employee category 

staff 180 75% 133 70%

Middle management 61 25% 52 27%

senior management 0 0% 5 3%

by region

Asia 34 14% 28 15%

eMeA 104 43% 49 26%

latin America 10 4% 10 5%

north America 93 39% 103 54%

by gender

Male 177 73% 87 46%

Female 64 27% 103 54%

our overall turnover rate of 10% together with our new hire rate of 13% reflects the profound 
transformation and change we went through as a company in 2013 as well as the highly dynamic 
market we operate in at Corbion.

labor practices
Collective bargaining agreements Number of 

employees
% of workforce

total employees with agreements 799 42%

the majority of our workforce has no collective labor agreements. there are various alternatives 
to encourage employee involvement across our global company, from employee bodies in thailand 
to works’ councils in the netherlands, ensuring high-level employee-management interaction  
and labor practices to enjoy a positive working environment. these are in addition to our Code  
of Conduct, which includes our strong commitment to responsible labor practices.

safety
the safety of both our employees and our contractors is of utmost concern to us and we implement 
safety management systems to ensure our high standard is upheld. In 2013, we tracked the follow-
ing safety KpIs for both employees and contractors: injury rate (ltI: lost time injuries), lost day rate 
(lDR), and occupational diseases rate (oDR), all per 200,000 hours worked, and fatalities. In 2013, we 
experienced an ltI of 1.0 and an lDR of 66, zero cases of occupational disease, and zero fatalities for 
our employees. our employee absentee rate was 1.6% overall. For our contractors, we experienced 
zero cases of lost time injury, zero lost days, zero occupational diseases, and zero fatalities. 

the most significant safety incident was a small explosion in one blending line at our Kansas 
Avenue plant in the usA in which three employees were treated, one for second-degree burns and 
the other two for smoke inhalation. the incident was communicated through a press release, was 
investigated and corrective measures have been implemented. other injuries experienced in 2013 
were of a minor nature, such as sprained shoulders and back strains, a shoulder dislocation and a 
hernia, and were also investigated and corrective measures have been implemented. safety data 
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is collected for the company as a whole and on a per site basis. We have not recognized any signifi-
cant differences on a regional level or on the basis of gender.

We aim to improve our safety KpI for employees in the future by strengthening the existing safety 
foundation through osHAs 18001, establishing the right policies, procedures, processes and practices  
(4ps) across Corbion and creating greater safety awareness among employees through behavioral 
based safety. our target is to reduce both our injury rate (ltI) and lost day rate (lDR) to zero by 2020. 

Business conduct
We uphold our business integrity, personal integrity, employment standards, assets, and  
sustainability and we are guided by the principles of the un Global Compact and the oeCD  
Guidelines for Multinational enterprises. How we implement this is outlined in our Corbion Code  
of Conduct, and in our Insider Trading Rules, and Whistleblower Rules. 
In accordance with our compliance program, we monitor our business conduct through various 
indicators. In 2013, we had no incidents of corruption or discrimination and no fines. We record, 
manage, and mediate all grievance incidents. 

stakeholder engagement
We identify and engage with stakeholders in order to understand their needs and expectations. 
this enables us to better align our actions with society and anticipate future developments. 
Important stakeholders for us are employees, customers, shareholders, suppliers, the community, 
nGos, and society as a whole. We aim to build trust with our stakeholders through open dialog, 
and transparent actions and communications. 

We identify and work with the most relevant stakeholder groups for the different parts of our  
business and along our value chain. this includes collaborating in multi-stakeholder organizations, 
such as those focusing on the biobased economy, second generation feedstocks, driving  
sustainable supply and agriculture, and the improvement of livelihoods.

engagement partners and multi-stakeholder initiatives:
•	 BE-Basic (Biobased ecological economy) 
•	 Bonsucro
•	 BPF (Bioprocess pilot Facility)
•	 BPM (Biobased performance Materials)
•	 CEFIC (european Chemical Industry Council)
•	 Commission Corbey (advisory body for the Dutch Government on the sustainable use of biomass)
•	 United Nations Global Compact’s (sustainable Agriculture Business principles Core Advisory Group)
•	 DPI (Dutch polymer Institute)
•	 EuropaBio (european Association for Biotechnology Industries) 
•	 European Bioplastics (association representing the interests of europe’s bioplastics’ industry)
•	 Institute for Societal Innovations (Instituut Maatschappelijke Innovatie, Food-Fuel Initiative)
•	 ICOS Cleantech Fund I and II (venture funds investing in early technology start-ups based  

in the netherlands)
•	 IFFI (Ingredients for Food Innovators)
•	 IFPRI (International Fine particles Research Institute)
•	 ISPT (Institute for sustainable process technology)
•	 Leatherhead (leatherhead Food Research)
•	 NL-GUTS (netherlands Group of users of technologies for separation)
•	 Roundtable for Product Social Metrics
•	 RSPO (Roundtable on sustainable palm oil)
•	 eco-Citizen project, Brazil
•	 March of Dimes, Feeding America, American Cancer Society, Salvation Army, Wounded Warriors, 

Blair Area Community Foundation
•	 TIFN (top Institute for Food and nutrition)
•	 VNCI (Vereniging nederlandse Chemische Industrie)
•	 Wetsus (Center of excellence for sustainable Water technology – technological top  

Institute Water)
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environmental perFormanCe

our products and solutions aim to reduce environmental impact for our customers. Also, we work 
continuously on reducing the environmental impact of our operations and upstream activities by 
focusing on resource efficiency and emissions. these are the areas with the greatest environmen-
tal impact, as confirmed by our impact assessment through life Cycle Assessment (lCA) and our 
discussions with key stakeholders. Resource efficiency includes the aspects of energy and water 
use and waste produced. emissions are determined for our manufacturing facilities and include 
scopes I, II and III as Co2 equivalents. We measure and report on our performance and strive to 
implement best practices, as outlined below.

Category Unit 2013 2012

production volume kiloton 419 0 401.4

energy electricity GJx10^3 451 445

Heating GJx10^3 1,472 1,379

steam GJx10^3 497 492

 total gJx10^6 2.42 2.32

total, specific gJ/t 5.8 5.8

Water withdrawn Ground m3x10^3 363 419

Municipal m3x10^3 1,010 1,034

surface m3x10^3 6,722 6,644

total m3x10^3 8,095 8,096

Water discharged treated sewer m3x10^3 660 742

non-treated sewer m3x10^3 782 791

treated surface m3x10^3 1,252 1,098

non-treated surface m3x10^3 5,054 5,090

Waste (non-hazardous) Incinerated kiloton 0 3 *

landfilled kiloton 14 *

Recycled kiloton 11 *

total kiloton 26 32

Waste (hazardous) Incinerated kiloton 0 04 *

landfilled kiloton 0 04 *

Recycled kiloton 0 32 *

total (exported) kiloton 0.40 0.43

Waste sub-total kiloton 26 32

usable byproducts kiloton 341 342

emissions scope I kt Co2 equiv 99 88

scope II kt Co2 equiv 94 92

scope III kt Co2 equiv 467 *

scope I, specific Kt/kt 0 24 0.22

scope II, specific Kt/kt 0 22 0.23

nox ton 66 78

sox ton 0 6 0.0

Dust ton 15 11

*not available
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Resource efficiency: energy, water, and waste
our resource efficiency KpIs measure the performance of all of our operations. In 2013, our specific 
energy consumption was 5.8 GJ/t, which is consistent with previous years. We implemented effi-
ciency measures such as process improvements and improved lighting, while some energy require-
ments increased, primarily due to the startup of lactide production in thailand. We are implement-
ing energy-reduction projects, such as process optimization, improving insulation, and replacing 
inefficient equipment. 

Water management is an important area of our operations. An improved water efficiency is realized 
by implementing concentration increases in various stages of our processes, more specifically the 
fermentation processes. In 2013, we successfully maintained the reduced water withdrawal level 
we achieved over the past two years. 

our waste is the sum of our hazardous and non-hazardous production waste, which is either sent 
to landfill, incinerated, or recycled and has decreased by 19% over the last year.
through our anaerobic waste water treatment, we were able to avoid biomass waste and utilize 
biogas as renewable energy. other efforts focused on increasing the recycling of packaging and 
pallets, re-use of production waste, and landfill avoidance.

emissions
We report our emissions in carbon equivalents from cradle to gate in accordance to the Green 
House Gas protocol. this includes scope I emissions from direct production (for natural gas, fuel oil, 
and biogas) and scope II emissions from purchased energy (for electricity and purchased steam). 
We manage our direct (scope I) and indirect (scope II) emissions through energy management sys-
tems. In 2013 our specific emissions remained consistent with previous years. Although continu-
ous improvement is a strong focus in our operations, many of our facilities are already  
operating in a highly efficient manner. this presents a challenge in terms of identifying further  
reduction opportunities in current operations. Implementing new technologies, such as gypsum-
free will provide an opportunity to reduce these emissions further.

In 2013, we started reporting our scope III emissions. these emissions related to purchased goods 
and services, fuel and energy-related activities, upstream transportation, business travel and 
employee commuting. Here, the largest component is purchased goods. It is unfeasible to include 
emissions related to the use, transport, and disposal of our products, as they are typically a small 
component in a wide range of products and applications. Assessing our scope III emissions enables 
us to identify opportunities to reduce impact in our upstream activities. 

environmental grievances
In 2013 we did not experience any fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with  
environmental laws and regulations. Also, we had zero reportable spills and zero dust complaints. 
We had four odour complaints at our thailand facility and two noise complaints at our Brazil  
facility. We will continue to improve our production practices and implement technology to further 
mitigate these.

economic relevance of environmental aspects
In 2013, we developed a new strategic tool to assess the economic costs and benefits of environ-
mental aspects of key product groups. We use this tool to consider environmental externalities in 
our strategic process to evaluate our products against industry benchmarks. 

Food waste
An important positive environmental as well as societal impact of our products is the reduction  
of food waste in the value chain. Corbion’s preservation solutions help to reduce losses across  
the value chain, from processing, to distribution, and consumption. translated for our current  
business, our products preserve an estimated six million tons of food annually, which if wasted, 
translates to almost 50 million tons of avoided Co2 equivalents. For specific food preservation  
applications, we measure the positive impact of our preservation products and communicate 
these, both in economic and in environmental terms to our customers. For example, for our  



   35Corbion AnnuAl RepoRt 2013 ouR peRFoRMAnCe

ultra Fresh® bread solution, we have developed a customer value calculator (CVC), an interactive 
tool which enables us to determine both economic savings and the reduction of emissions, land 
use, and energy demand based on our customers’ recipe and logistical and manufacturing  
circumstances. this supports them in their efforts to move forward and reduce impact in bread 
production. Additionally, our ultra Fresh® technology has been extended for fresh baked goods  
as ultra Fresh® sweet. 

Circular economy for bioplastics
We regard the development of a circular economy for bioplastics as a material topic which is  
of strong interest to our stakeholders. the circular economy is most relevant for our business  
segment which is concerned with lactides for plA, where we provide pure, natural materials which 
are suitable for re-use and recycling in a closed loop. 

plA offers great flexibility in terms of end-of-life options to enable a circular bioplastics economy. 
As such a successful circular economy would involve several players. We are addressing this topic 
through a multi-stakeholder initiative sponsored by the Dutch government.
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our governance

Corporate governanCe

Corbion recognizes the importance of good corporate governance and the principles contained 
within the Dutch corporate governance code (the “Code”), namely, that a company is a long- 
term partnership between various parties related to the company. our management bears overall 
responsibility for balancing the interests of these parties, mostly with the aim of ensuring  
continuity of the company. At the same time, Corbion aims to create long-term value for its  
shareholders. Corbion is committed to embedding the Code principles within the company,  
thereby abiding by the core concepts of good business practices, integrity, openness, and  
transparent and well-supervised management. the full text of the Code can be viewed at:  
www commissiecorporategovernance nl.

Compliance with the Code
With the exception of the deviations outlined in the paragraphs below, Corbion endorses and  
adheres to the principles and best practices of the Code.
Important changes in the corporate governance structure are presented to the General share-
holders’ Meeting for discussion. our corporate governance policy, including the relevant  
regulations and reports, can be consulted on the Corbion website.

Deviations from the Code
Corbion departs from the provisions of the Code with regard to (a) the severance arrangements  
in the event of non-voluntary resignation by members of the Board of Management and (b) the 
possible financing of income tax on vested shares under the share plan by selling part of the 
vested shares.

Regarding its composition, the supervisory Board always tries to strike the right balance between 
expertise and experience. A certain degree of age and gender variation may be instrumental 
in achieving the desired balance in the composition of the Board. In this respect, the profile of 
Corbion’s supervisory Board deviates from best practice provision III.3.1 of the Code. the required 
expertise and experience, as well as the availability of the right candidates, are decisive when 
proposing candidates for (re)appointment.

therefore, although Corbion pays close attention to gender diversity in the profiles of new Board 
of Management and supervisory Board members in accordance with section 2:166 subsection 2 of 
the Dutch Civil Code, Corbion does not strictly follow the recommendation for an explicit target on 
gender diversity and has not formulated concrete targets in this respect. 

there are two other aspects in which Corbion departs from the Code. the members of the super-
visory Board and the Board of Management are appointed by the General shareholders’ Meeting on 
the basis of nominations by the supervisory Board. the Corbion Articles of Association state that 
the General shareholders’ Meeting can overrule any such nomination by an absolute majority of 
the votes cast, provided the said majority represents at least 1/3 of the issued capital. In contrast 
with the Code, no second meeting will be convened if there is no quorum, as a second meeting is 
not required by law.
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the General shareholders’ Meeting may decide to suspend or dismiss a member of the Board of 
Management or the supervisory Board by an absolute majority of the votes cast, provided the said 
majority represents at least 1/3 of the issued capital. this quorum requirement does not apply if 
the proposal for suspension or dismissal is submitted by the supervisory Board. In contrast with 
the Code, no second meeting will be convened if there is no quorum, as a second meeting is not 
required by law.

Corporate governance statement
the information and statement pursuant to the Decree of 23 December 2004 as amended in 
March and December 2009, to determine additional regulations regarding the content of the 
annual report, have been published on Corbion’s website, www corbion com (Investor Relations, 
Corporate Governance).

structure
Corbion nv is an international holding company as described by section 153, subsection 3 under b, 
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. the “large company” regime therefore does not apply to Corbion 
nv. Corporate governance relates to the management and supervision of the company, account-
ability, and the influence of stakeholders on decision-making. 

the Board of Management is responsible for developing objectives and the strategy, determining 
the risk profile, and implementing strategic and operational policies. the independent supervisory 
Board oversees and advises the Board of Management. From among its members, the supervisory 
Board has appointed an Audit Committee, a nomination Committee, and a Remuneration  
Committee.

the Board of Management fulfills its duties by promoting the interests of Corbion and its  
businesses. these interests are understood as the interests of all stakeholders, including  
customers, shareholders, employees, suppliers, and financial partners. Corbion is aware of its  
corporate and social responsibilities and is deeply committed to protecting the interests of the 
community. Corbion works on the principle that corporate management should consistently  
develop and implement corporate policies taking into account the long-term and continuity  
perspective. Corbion endorses the importance of clear accountability for its policies and the 
results thereof.

Common shares in Corbion are listed on the nYse euronext stock exchange in Amsterdam. the 
financing preference shares are not listed. no restrictions apply for the transfer of shares. If a 
shareholder or group of shareholders acquires 30% or more of the share capital, the said share-
holder or group of shareholders is required by law to make an offer for the entire outstanding 
capital. shareholders have voting rights in proportion to the number of shares held. the Annual 
General shareholders’ Meeting will be held within six months of the close of the financial year. At 
this meeting, the annual report and financial statements drawn up by the Board of Management 
will be presented for adoption, amongst other things. If requests are received from shareholders 
who individually or collectively represent at least one percent (1%) of the issued capital to place 
items on the General shareholders’ Meeting agenda, these will be honored provided they are  
submitted to Corbion at least 45 days prior to the date of the meeting.

extraordinary General shareholders’ Meetings will be held as often as the Board of Management 
and supervisory Board deem necessary. An extraordinary General shareholders’ Meeting will also 
be held if one or more shareholders who collectively represent at least 1/10 of the issued capital 
submit a written request to this effect to the Board of Management or the supervisory Board 
enclosing a detailed list of agenda items. If neither the Board of Management nor the supervisory 
Board – which have equal powers in this matter – responds in such a way that this extraordinary 
General shareholders’ Meeting can be convened within six weeks of the request, the applicants 
are at liberty to convene the meeting themselves and appoint a Chairman.
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With the exception of cases in which a larger majority is required by law or the Articles of Associa-
tion, decisions at the General shareholders’ Meeting will be taken by an absolute majority of the 
votes cast. Decisions to amend the Articles of Association and/or dissolve the company may only 
be taken at a General shareholders’ Meeting in which at least two-thirds of the issued capital is 
represented and by a majority of at least three-quarters of the votes cast, unless the proposal 
has been submitted by all incumbent members of the Board of Management with the collective 
approval of all incumbent members of the supervisory Board, in which case the decision may be 
taken by an absolute majority of votes, regardless of the represented capital.

risk management 

Risk management and internal control
In an increasingly volatile world where events are more interlinked than ever before, Corbion, with 
its worldwide operations in various markets and jurisdictions, needs to ensure a timely identifica-
tion and effective management of all significant risks inherent to the execution of its strategy and 
realization of its objectives. the Board of Management is responsible for the design, implementa-
tion, and operation of Corbion’s risk management and internal control system. We have defined 
a governance model that identifies clear reporting and accountability structures in line with the 
Dutch corporate governance code (see the Corporate governance section).

Risk management approach
our approach to risk management aims to achieve a reasonable level of assurance, in line with 
the enterprise Risk Management framework of the Committee of sponsoring organizations of the 
treadway Commission (Coso – eRM). our approach aims to embed risk awareness and risk man-
agement at all levels of Corbion to ensure risk decisions are taken and evaluated consciously and 
properly. our risk management approach covers strategic/market, operational and financial/com-
pliance risks, which can be illustrated as follows:

to embed risk awareness, constant attention and communication of management coupled with 
risk management workshops are essential to identify critical risks for all our business activities. 
Awareness, identification of risks, and action plans to mitigate the risks are at the heart of our 
risk management program. the progress in risk mitigation is discussed on an ongoing basis in the 
periodic meetings between the business management and the Board of Management. 

Insurance
Insurance is an integral part of our risk management approach as it is an instrument to manage 
the financial consequences of risks. the choice to obtain external insurance cover depends on 
the cost efficiency of the instrument. the coverage of insurances is monitored and benchmarked 
regularly.

STRATEGIC/MARKET OPERATIONAL FINANCIAL/COMPLIANCE

As the world population 
continues to grow, there will 
be an increased need for 
consumer goods and safe and 
healthy food.

The need to secure food 
availability for a growing 
population can be partly 
resolved by reducing food 
waste.

Entity wide controls

Global control framework

Monitoring and audit
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Key risk areas
the following tables summarize the main risks that have been identified for Corbion, with their 
possible impact and mitigation measures taken to address them. the risks have been grouped in 
Corbion specific risks, and those of a more generic nature, also applicable to Corbion.

Corbion specific risks

Type of risk Possible impact Mitigation

strategic and market risks

Being unable to execute Corbion’s biobased 
strategy.

With our choice to divest the Bakery  
supplies businesses and focus on biobased 
activities, we become more dependent 
on the success of this business segment. 
the further implementation of our growth 
strategy is likely to lead to large capital 
expenditures (and potentially acquisitions) 
whereby financial returns might only be 
visible in the longer term.

the strategic decision to focus on our 
biobased activities was taken after 
many years of success in this field, as 
illustrated by our strong positions in 
promising segments of the market. With 
the new focus and the funds which came 
available following the divestment of the 
Bakery supplies businesses, we intend to 
continue and broaden this success. A fully 
aligned management team and effective 
professional support in the execution of our 
strategy should mitigate the risk of less 
fortunate choices in our capital allocation, 
and at the same time, increase the 
potential for of realizing attractive returns 
on our investments.

Generating insufficient returns on our  
R&D / Innovation spend.

We spend approximately 3-4% of net sales 
on our R&D/Innovation effort annually. 
these funds are spent with the intent to 
develop and introduce new and innovative 
products into the marketplace and to in-
novate our production processes. However, 
we might not generate the returns on our 
R&D/Innovation expenses to cover our cost 
of capital in all cases.

We seek to mitigate the risk of low returns 
on R&D/Innovation investments by requiring 
every innovation project to adhere to a 
structured innovation process, in which pro-
jects can only proceed to next phases upon 
meeting strict criteria (stage-gate process). 
A disciplined execution of this stage gate 
process should result in projects which are 
more likely to deliver the expected results 
in line with the business plan assumptions. 
It also enables us to discontinue projects at 
an early stage when investments are still 
limited in case they do not deliver according 
to plan. Additionally, we mitigate this risk by 
sharing the development risks of some of 
our major initiatives by entering into part-
nerships with reputable third parties. 

plA bioplastics developments not meeting 
expectations.

lactide is the (lactic acid based) source 
material to manufacture plA, which is one 
of the most promising bioplastics. Demand 
depends on the cost level of plA relative to 
conventional fossil-based plastics, legisla-
tive progress benefiting bioplastics, and 
general producer and consumer interest in 
plastics made from renewable resources. 
We have made significant investments in 
plA related production capacity and organi-
zational structures which might not yield 
returns over our cost of capital.

We closely monitor competing technologies 
and are maintaining our competitiveness by 
continuously refining our offering in terms 
of product specification and cost. We con-
tinue to professionalize our organization to 
optimally meet the needs of our (potential) 
customers.
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Type of risk Possible impact Mitigation

Inability to protect and enforce Corbion’s intel-
lectual property.

Intellectual property rights, including pat-
ents, trade secrets, confidential informa-
tion, trademarks, and other forms of trade 
protection, are important to our business. 
We endeavor to protect our intellectual 
property rights in jurisdictions in which 
our products are produced or used and in 
jurisdictions into which our products are 
imported. However, we may be unable to 
obtain protection for our intellectual prop-
erty in key jurisdictions.

We have designed and implemented 
internal controls to restrict access to and 
distribution of our intellectual property. 
Despite these precautions, our intellectual 
property is vulnerable to unauthorized 
access through employee error or actions, 
theft and cyber security incidents, and 
other security breaches. When unauthor-
ized access and use or counterfeit products 
are discovered, we report such situations 
to governmental authorities for investiga-
tion, as appropriate, and take measures to 
mitigate any potential impact.

operational risk

Disruption of our supply chain as a result of 
calamities such as fire, floods, earthquakes, or 
due to contamination, strikes or major system 
breakdowns. 

A major (natural) disaster would threaten 
our business continuity. our focus on 
biobased activities has enhanced this risk 
because of a smaller base of operation.

our risk management approach aims to 
detect and prioritize the most serious risk 
areas which might cause a discontinuation 
of our supply chain. We have developed 
appropriate back-up measures where pos-
sible and these measures are tested for 
effectiveness, where possible. 

Based on best practices and experiences, 
we continuously review and improve manu-
als and guidelines at our operations to sup-
port employees in preventing and limiting 
risk calamities and mitigating their impact.

Raw material and energy price volatility and 
availability.

As we have seen in previous years, 
sudden volatility in the price of our key 
raw materials can seriously impact the 
margins of our products sold. scarcity of 
raw materials due to excessive demand 
or production interruption at suppliers 
can also impact our results due to sales 
declines and additional costs incurred to 
meet our raw materials needs.

We continuously invest in our relationships 
with customers and advise them on  
changes in product assortment, technology,  
and changes in consumer behavior. It is 
our belief that a relationship based on 
transparency and trust, in which true value 
is added, supports our ability to (partly) 
pass on increased costs via price increases 
or to redevelop products with lower cost 
ingredients in collaboration with our 
customers.

As an important share of our raw materials 
is agriculturally based, longer term con-
cerns about land use and food availability 
might become a concern for biobased 
chemicals production. We actively address 
this risk through our engagement and 
our innovation efforts to replace current 
agricultural raw materials by alternative 
(non-food) sources.

our procurement organization, globally 
organized with dedicated finance support, 
has developed adequate measures to 
secure contract positions and to obtain 
financial instruments to minimize or delay 
exposure to cost fluctuations in raw 
materials prices that could negatively 
impact our margins. these measures 
include early warnings of possible impact 
to our organization and our customers. 
Furthermore, we have implemented a 
multiple-supplier sourcing policy for our 
most critical raw materials.
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Type of risk Possible impact Mitigation

Disruption of It systems It systems are essential to our supply 
chain, customer fulfillment, and financial 
reporting processes. With the divestment 
of the Bakery supplies businesses, we have 
had to disentangle two It environments. 
the remaining It infrastructure requires 
updating to match the current organiza-
tion and could cause disruptions to our 
processes.

A program has started to harmonize the 
It environment (both infrastructure and 
applications) so that it will optimally serve 
our organization. We will address this via a 
careful but thorough upgrade of both our It 
infrastructure and some software applica-
tions. In recent years we have implemented 
various new systems, thus gaining a good 
understanding of how to execute such im-
plementations in a successful way (includ-
ing taking the necessary safety measures 
to avoid failures). Where possible, we try to 
limit the potential impact of system failures 
by avoiding "big bang" implementations. 

Financial and compliance risks

exposure to liabilities related to divestment 
Bakery supplies businesses.

In July 2013, we successfully completed 
the divestment of the Bakery supplies 
businesses to affiliates of Rhône Capital. 
Following significant transactions such as 
the divestment of the north American and 
european Bakery supplies businesses, we 
might eventually be exposed to liabilities 
arising from commercial agreements, 
regulatory matters, personnel, financing or 
taxation and others. these liabilities could 
have a significant negative impact on our 
financial situation.

the risk directly related to the buyer of the 
Bakery supplies businesses is limited due 
to various thresholds in the share purchase 
agreement (besides being capped, any 
claims can only be made when certain 
amounts are exceeded). In preparing the 
financial statements, the impact of this  
potential exposure has been analyzed; 
where necessary, we have provided for 
those liabilities or made disclosures, as 
the case may be, at the current estimated 
outcome. Also, where necessary, we have 
obtained sufficient extra comfort by means 
of subject-matter expert advice from 
respectable legal and tax advisors.

generic risks (also applicable to Corbion) 

Type of risk Possible impact Mitigation

strategic and market risks

Worsening of economic conditions. Despite being active on several continents, 
demand for our products is impacted by the 
cyclical market conditions that affect some 
of our customers and subsequently our 
financial results and potential inability to 
meet our strategic objectives.

We address part of the impact of an eco-
nomic downturn through continued cost 
reduction and by adjusting our product of-
fering to meet changing demand. We have 
built a degree of flexibility into our produc-
tion costs by hiring temporary staff. We 
are also able to partly adjust our product 
offering because of our extensive R&D and 
procurement experience.

loss of our competitive position. We operate in highly competitive markets 
where it is vital to keep cost and service 
levels at least on par with competition. 
Failure to achieve this might lead to market-
share erosion or to customers substituting 
our products with alternatives.

our focus on a single activity, biobased 
products, will enhance our competitive 
position as all investments should support 
our competitive position in this field.
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Type of risk Possible impact Mitigation

operational risks

loss of large customers. the loss of a large customer could have a 
disproportionate impact on the profitability 
of the company. We have a large customer 
base in which the five largest customers  
account for approximately 13% of our 
sales.

Intimate customer relationships based on 
a profound knowledge of our customers' 
needs and those of their end consumers; 
continuous new product development, 
where possible developed jointly with our 
customers; and excellent service and cost 
levels should limit the risk of large custom-
ers leaving. our strategy is very much 
focused on improving these fundamental 
aspects of the relationship with custom-
ers, for which substantial investments have 
been and will be made.

Financial and compliance risks

legal and regulatory non-compliance. our business is subject to regulations by 
international, national, and local govern-
mental authorities. non-compliance with 
local laws, food safety regulations, human 
health, safety, and many other regulations 
could pose a serious threat. We could be 
exposed to substantial claims from various 
parties or permits might be cancelled.

our Code of Conduct, policies, and 
procedures are properly maintained and 
made available to all staff via the Corbion 
intranet and are frequently communicated. 
Compliance is enforced by the local 
companies supported by the group.

Volatility in the currency exchange rates. As we operate in various non-euro countries 
we are exposed to volatility in the exchange 
rates of a number of currencies versus the 
euro. We are particularly sensitive to the 
relation between the euro and us dollar. 
these fluctuations can have significant 
harmful impact on our financial results.  
this can be seen in the translation of the 
results and equity of foreign entities into 
euros and in the results of transactions 
when the currency of the production costs 
is different from the currency in which 
the sale of the product is being made. A 
stronger euro resulting in a decline in the 
€/us$ exchange rate of 0.01 would result 
in a net negative impact of approximately 
€ 0.8 million in our eBItDA (relating to both 
transactional and translational effects).

We have a hedging policy in place to limit 
the impact of volatility in foreign exchange 
rates. Hedging the impact of the foreign 
currency translation risk is partly and indi-
rectly effectuated through matching with 
liabilities denominated in foreign currency.

100% of our total external debt is  
denominated in us dollars, which partly  
offsets the large equity translation 
exposure we have against the us dollar. 
the exposure to transaction risks is partly 
hedged by offsetting the long/short foreign 
currency positions through a system of 
gradually selling and/or buying these  
currencies to mitigate the impact of  
sudden volatility of these currencies. 

non-compliance with International Financial 
Reporting standards (IFRs).

not informing our shareholders and other 
stakeholders in conformity with IFRs could 
lead to a lack of trust, reputation damage, 
a declining share price, and potential legal 
claims.

our financial reporting systems and pro-
cesses are geared towards our business 
requirements and support regular business 
reviews. For group reporting we deploy a 
standard consolidation tool. our corporate 
accounting policies and procedures are 
properly maintained and made available to 
all our staff via the Corbion intranet and are 
communicated frequently to our finance 
community. A monthly review of finance 
reports is performed by corporate and busi-
ness unit teams. our global control frame-
work should warrant adherence to IFRs.
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Type of risk Possible impact Mitigation

non-compliance with applicable tax laws. Corbion operates in many countries and, 
therefore has to manage compliance with 
a wide variety of tax laws. Changes in tax 
laws or in their application could adversely 
affect our financial results.

We have an adequate quarterly reporting 
system in place, hold regular tax meetings, 
and visit our operating companies to moni-
tor tax compliance. In addition, our global 
tax control framework should also warrant 
compliance. transfer pricing policy and 
documentation are in place as well. Further-
more, we work with external tax experts 
who support our tax planning and returns 
and advise us in compliance matters.

Control measures
In order to prevent risks from occurring and to mitigate the impact of risks once they occur,  
Corbion has a number of control measures in place, the details of which are explained below.

entity-wide controls
our entity-wide controls are not limited to those outlined in this section, although various exam-
ples of policies and procedures can be found which are implemented by local operating companies.

legal and regulatory review
local management is responsible for compliance. Corporate legal is consulted by local manage-
ment on an ongoing basis. every six months, local management reports legal issues exceeding  
€ 100,000 to Corporate legal and Corporate Finance.

Fraud prevention and Code of Conduct
Corbion has a continuous focus on fraud prevention. our Code of Conduct is regularly updated and 
made available via the intranet to all our employees. 

Whistleblower procedure
A whistleblower policy and reporting system are in place to enable our employees to report poten-
tial integrity issues or violations of our Code of Conduct. In 2013, no cases were reported. Where 
necessary, appropriate measures and/or actions will be taken by management. 

letter of representation
every six months, managing directors and finance directors of each reporting entity and, where 
applicable, other senior staff, provide a letter of Representation to the Board of Management. 
this letter represents compliance with financial reporting and internal controls.

Financial control framework
As Corbion operates worldwide, it is committed to maintaining high-quality, reliable financial re-
porting and a sound control environment. All reporting entities assess operational effectiveness of 
their financial closing and reporting processes, at mid-year and end-of-year, confirming compliance 
with the relevant guidelines and IFRs. together with the letters of Representation, this ensures 
the integrity of our financial reporting. During 2013 our main entities performed an assessment 
of the operational effectiveness of their key financial process controls. the assessments have 
been audited by the internal auditors and used by external auditors. the scope of our information 
security policy is fully aligned with the Iso 27002 standard and also meets our financial reporting 
requirements. Central assessments were completed both by an external party and internally by 
the It security officer.
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Monitoring and audits
business planning, budgeting, and management review
Based on Corbion’s strategy and plans, targets are set for the annual budget process. After de-
termining the budgets, targets are rolled out to the responsibility areas (market units, operations, 
etc.) within Corbion and operational levels. Quarterly updated estimates are made based on a 
forecast until the end of the year. Forecasts are specifically discussed between responsibility area 
leaders and the Board of Management. the Board of Management monitors business performance 
on a monthly and quarterly basis using a defined set of key performance indicators and reviews of 
actual results versus budgets and the previous year. local entities are visited frequently.
operational management meets at least once a month to discuss the strategy and related risks, 
the actual performance versus budget, and other significant matters. 

internal audit
Internal audit (CIAs) supports the organization in accomplishing its objectives by providing a  
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of internal control  
and governance processes.
the objective of CIAs is to provide a broad range of audit services designed to assist the Board of 
Management in controlling the business operations. It provides independent, risk based objective 
assurance, and consulting services designed to add value to the organization’s operations. CIAs 
evaluates risks and ensures that the controls in place are adequate to mitigate those risks. Be-
sides the assurance role, CIAs also provides value to the business through tailor-made operational 
audits, identifying best practices, and indicating improvement opportunities to management.

the focus of CIAs is evenly spread over the following areas:
•	 Compliance of the operating companies with the financial control framework.
•	 Value-adding audits (focusing on key business processes, strategic themes).
•	 special projects (e.g. due diligence, post mortems, fraud prevention, review of business cases, 

quality assurance projects).

Internal audit at Corbion is based on a co-sourcing model: the Internal Audit Director, together with 
external parties, provides specialized knowledge and flexibility. In 2013, 14 audits were performed 
and reported. 

Audit results are reported to the Board of Management, the business management in question, 
and the Audit Committee.

external audit
our external financial audit engagement ensures that all main entities are audited by the external 
auditor either for statutory and/or group purposes. the focus of the external auditor’s work is the 
financial reporting with the objective of providing a reasonable basis for the audit opinion on the 
fairness of the presentation of the financial position.

management representation
Corbion’s risk management and internal control systems are designed to identify in a timely man-
ner the risks inherent to our strategic, operational, and financial business objectives and to deter-
mine appropriate risk responses as described above. Risk management and actions taken in the 
year under review were reported to and discussed by the supervisory Board and Audit Committee.
Internal representations received from management, regular management reviews, evaluations 
of the design and implementation of our risk management and internal control systems, and 
business and Audit Committee reviews are an integral part of the company’s risk management 
approach. It should be noted that the above does not imply that these systems and procedures 
provide certainty as to the realization of strategic, operational, and financial business objectives, 
nor that they can prevent all misstatements, inaccuracies, errors, fraud, and non-compliance with 
laws and regulations. on the basis thereof, the Board of Management believes to the best of its 
knowledge that the internal risk management and control systems provide a reasonable level of 
security against inaccuracies of material importance in the financial reporting.
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these systems operated adequately in the year under review; and there are no indications that 
the systems would not be adequate in 2014. 

All in all, the Board of Management is of the opinion that it has fulfilled the best practice provision 
II.1.4 of the Dutch corporate governance code with due observance of the recommendations of 
the Corporate Governance Code Monitoring Commission.

responsibility statement
to the best of our knowledge the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position, and earnings of Corbion and its consolidated companies. Further, to 
the best of our knowledge the annual report gives a true and fair view of the position of Corbion 
as at the balance sheet date, and of the development during the financial year of Corbion and its 
group companies included in the financial statements, together with a description of principal risks 
Corbion faces. the members of the Board of Management have signed the financial statements 
pursuant to their statutory obligations under section 101 subsection 2 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code and section 25c subsection 2 sub c of Chapter 5 of the Financial Markets supervision Act 
(“Wet op het financieel toezicht”).

Diemen, the Netherlands, 24 February 2014

board of management Corbion nv
Gerard Hoetmer, Ceo
Koos Kramer, CFo
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Report of the  
supervisory Board

FinanCial statements, 1 January 2013 - 31 deCember 2013

the financial statements prepared by the Board of Management for the financial year 2013 have 
been audited and certified by Deloitte Accountants B.V. the auditors’ findings on the financial 
statements have been discussed with the supervisory Board. the supervisory Board has accepted 
the financial statements and recommends that they be adopted by the General shareholders’ 
Meeting. the members of the supervisory Board have signed the financial statements pursuant to 
their statutory obligation under section 101 subsection 2 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

strategiC transFormation

Corbion successfully completed the divestment of its Bakery supplies businesses to affiliates of 
Rhône Capital llC in July 2013. this divestment was an important step in the transformation into  
a biobased products company. Corbion returned € 250 million of the sale proceeds to its share-
holders by means of an interim dividend and a share buyback program.
In June 2013, Corbion announced its revised strategy at the capital markets day. this new  
strategy will enable Corbion to further develop into a leading biobased products company. 
At the extraordinary General shareholders’ Meeting on 11 october 2013, the Articles of  
Association of the company were amended, including the name change into Corbion nv.  
the name CsM has been sold together with the Bakery supplies businesses.

meetings oF the supervisory board

the strategic transformation of Corbion, the divestment of the Bakery supplies businesses,  
and the review of the Board of Management succession planning had a strong impact on the  
frequency and the content of the supervisory Board meetings in 2013.

During the report year the supervisory Board held seven regular meetings with the Board of  
Management. the discussions at these meetings covered frequently recurring topics, such as 
strategy updates, the Corbion portfolio, developments in results, business developments in the 
market units and operating companies, trends in the markets where Corbion operates, key invest-
ments, group risks, internal risk management and control systems, the outcome of the Board of 
Management’s evaluation of the set-up and operation of these systems, corporate governance, 
corporate social responsibility, succession planning, the organizational structure, management 
development, acquisitions and divestments, the financial statements, and the annual report. In  
addition to these regular meetings, five conference-call meetings were held to discuss in great 
detail the strategic transformation and divestment of the Bakery supplies businesses as well as 
succession planning. the supervisory Board has engaged external advisors to support them in 
their tasks and monitoring activities.

the supervisory Board visited several production facilities of Corbion Caravan in Kansas, usA. prior 
to its regular meetings with the Board of Management the supervisory Board also meets in the 
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absence of the Board of Management to discuss, amongst others, developments in the results,  
and the profile, composition, and performance of the Board of Management. the supervisory 
Board also evaluates its own performance, the performance of its committees, and that of its 
members. Focus points include expertise, independence, integrity, critical ability, and a balanced 
composition of the supervisory Board. With the appointment of Mr. M. Vrijsen and the nomination 
of Mr. s. Riisgaard, stronger technical and industry expertise are brought into the supervisory 
Board, as Corbion completes its transition to a biobased products company.

Attendance at the in-person meetings held in 2013 was almost 100%. In three instances one 
supervisory Board member was not able to attend a meeting. In all those instances the member 
concerned had given his input to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Attendance at the confer-
ence-call meetings was also almost 100%. In one instance one supervisory Board member was 
not able to attend a call and the member concerned had given his input to the Chairman prior to 
the call. the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the supervisory Board regularly met with the Board 
of Management, either in person or by phone. Also in this very intensive and important year for 
Corbion, all supervisory Board members were able to make themselves sufficiently available to 
give adequate attention to the needs of Corbion.

Members of the supervisory Board regularly met with the business leaders and members of the 
corporate staff. 

Given the number of exceptional issues in 2013, the frequency and number of meetings was 
substantially higher than in previous years and the time commitment by each supervisory Board 
member has been considerably higher than before.

Composition oF the supervisory board

Mr. M. Vrijsen was appointed as a member of the supervisory Board.

Regarding its composition the supervisory Board always tries to strike the right balance between 
expertise and experience. A certain degree of age and gender variation may be instrumental in 
achieving the desired balance in the composition of the Board. Required expertise and experience 
as well as the availability of the right candidates will be decisive when proposing candidates for 
(re)appointment.

In the judgement of the supervisory Board all its members are independent as required by the 
corporate governance code.

the supervisory Board highly appreciates and respects the continued efforts and commitment 
of Corbion management and all employees to the success of Corbion in the transformation into a 
biobased products company. 

Committees oF the supervisory board 

Audit Committee
the members of the Audit Committee are Mr. R. pieterse (Chairman), Mr.J.p. de Kreij , and Mr. W. 
spinner. In 2013 the Audit Committee met seven times in the presence of the CFo, the external 
auditor, the sVp Finance, and the Internal Audit Director. the agenda at these meetings covered, 
amongst others, the strategic transformation of Corbion and the divestment of the Bakery 
supplies businesses, the annual and half-year figures, the interim management statements, 
accounting issues such as held for sale, the operation of the internal risk management and control 
systems, tax matters, the financing plan, treasury, information technology developments and 
organization, and the reports of the internal and external auditors. In addition to these regular 
meetings three conference call meetings were held to discuss the divestment of the Bakery 
supplies businesses.
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the Audit Committee closely monitors the independence of the external auditor. It evaluates the 
performance of the external auditor on a yearly basis and where appropriate recommends the re-
placement of the external auditor. Furthermore, approval of the Audit Committee is required with 
respect to the fees for all audit services to be performed by the external auditor as requested by 
the Board of Management. the Audit Committee will act as the principal contact for the external 
auditor in case of irregularities in the content of financial reports. the Audit Committee follows the 
revised 2013 regulations regarding the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor.

In 2014 Mr. G.M. Dekker of Deloitte Accountants B.V. will resign as the responsible partner for  
Corbion. Mr. Dekker has been the responsible partner for the past seven years and will be  
succeeded by Mr. B. Albers.

nomination Committee
the nomination Committee consists of Messrs. R.H.p. Markham (Chairman), M.p.M. de Raad, and M. 
Vrijsen. the nomination Committee met four times in 2013. It discussed among other subjects the 
succession planning and the composition of and changes in the supervisory Board. together with 
the Board of Management it paid attention to the functioning of the Corbion executives and other 
senior managers. It also discussed the impact of the transformation of Corbion into a biobased 
products company on the organizational structure and the succession plans and implemented the 
extension of the Board of Management with a Cto-role. 

the nomination Committee met (either in person or by phone) ten times outside of the regular 
meeting schedule to specifically discuss succession scenario’s, meet and interview potential  
candidates and prepare final candidates as proposed Board of Management members to the 
full supervisory Board. next to these formal meetings, there was regularly informal consultation 
between the members. specifically with respect to the CFo succession, the Audit Committee was 
closely involved.

Remuneration Committee
the Remuneration Committee consists of Messrs. M.p.M. de Raad (Chairman), R.H.p. Markham,  
and M. Vrijsen. the Remuneration Committee met four times in 2013 and discussed among other 
subjects the level of achievement of the 2012 short-term Incentive plan (stIp) targets for the 
members of the Board of Management, the progress of the stIp 2013 targets, and the target 
setting for stIp 2014. In light of the divestment of the Bakery supplies businesses and the 
transformation into a biobased products company, the Remuneration Committee agreed with the 
supervisory Board to set specific targets for this divestment and introduce a performance-based 
incentive tied to the ltIp. Further details are included in the Remuneration policy and report. 

the Remuneration Committee met (either in person or by phone) ten times outside of the regular 
meeting schedule to discuss terms and contractual issues regarding the existing and proposed 
Board of Management members. next to these formal meetings, there was regularly informal 
consultation between the members.

remuneration poliCy and report

the aim of the remuneration policy for the Board of Management is to create remuneration  
packages and employment conditions, which are competitive and linked to the strategy, with a 
strong emphasis on performance-related pay. this policy has been approved by the Annual General 
shareholders’ Meeting in 2010. since then no changes have been presented or executed. 

Following the divestment of the Bakery supplies businesses in July 2013, Corbion has become  
a focused biobased products company. the new company operates in different segments,  
geographies, and industries. Consequently, it is our intention to review the remuneration policy  
in 2014 and present it to the shareholders in 2015.
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the total remuneration package for the Board of Management is benchmarked against companies 
in the netherlands of comparable size and complexity as Corbion. this benchmark is set at the 
median level of this group of comparable executives based on various sources of market data on 
the remuneration for corporate executives in the netherlands. 

As per the employment agreement of the current Directors their base salary is adjusted annually 
on 1 May on the basis of the consumer price index for family expenditure as published by statis-
tics netherlands (CBs). the adjustment as at 1 May 2013 amounted to 2.9%. 

stIp (short-term employee benefits according to IAs 24.17)
Members of the Board of Management are entitled to a short-term “at-target” incentive. there are 
two target levels for this incentive. one applies to the Ceo and the other to the CFo and if relevant 
to other Board members. the Ceo is entitled to an at-target bonus incentive of 60% of his base 
salary in case of realization of the short-term targets. the CFo is entitled to an at-target bonus 
incentive of 50% of his base salary in case of realization of the short-term targets. three financial 
targets – eBItA, organic growth and cash flow from operating activities – account for 75% of stIp, 
while 25% relates to personal targets. the extent to which these personal targets have been real-
ized is determined by the supervisory Board. 

In case a target is exceeded members of the Board of Management are entitled to a higher stIp 
than the at-target incentive for that particular target. For the Ceo a maximum stIp of 90% of his 
base salary may apply and for the CFo (and if relevant other Board members) a maximum stIp of 
75% of his base salary may apply. Both the Ceo and CFo can achieve the maximum bonus incen-
tive in case all targets, financial and personal, are substantially exceeded (defined as 115% or 
more for each target). In case a target is not realized a smaller stIp than the at-target incentive 
will be paid out, with the understanding that no stIp will be awarded for substantially lower  
performance (defined as 85% or less for each target).

the supervisory Board determines, at its full discretion, the stIp pay-out for the Board of  
Management. As a result of the fact that the financial targets for 2013 for the larger part have 
been achieved and the personal targets have been overachieved, the total short-term incentive  
is higher than the “at-target” level. In 2013 the short-term incentive payment was € 469,603  
or 74% of base salary (2012: € 442,960) for the Ceo and € 295,497 or 62% of base salary  
(2012: € 278,732) for the CFo. 

ltIp (long-term employee benefits and share-based payments according  
to IAs 24.17)
the long-term incentive for the Board of Management is based on the long-term Incentive plan 
(ltIp) linked to relative total shareholder Return (tsR). 

each year members of the Board of Management are entitled to an conditional grant of Corbion 
shares. there are two target levels for this incentive. one applies to the Ceo and the other to 
the CFo and if relevant to other Board members. the Ceo is entitled to a conditional share grant 
value of 60% of his base salary. the CFo is entitled to a conditional share grant value of 50% of 
his base salary. the total number of conditionally granted shares is determined by dividing the “at 
target” amount applicable for the respective Board member (as a percentage of base salary) by 
the (undiscounted) fair value average stock price over the month prior to the date of grant (April 
of any year). the performance criterion for the ltIp is total shareholder Return over a three-year 
performance period. After vesting and share delivery, the Board members according to the plan 
rules, are required to keep the shares in a blocked account for another two years. the total lock-up 
period therefore is five years.

Corbion’s tsR is benchmarked against a peer group of ten comparable companies. Based on 
independent analysis the performance of Corbion versus this peer group is assessed at the end of 
the three-year performance period. According to the remuneration policy effective as of 2010, the 
target performance has been set at position 6 in the peer group based on detailed analysis. If  
Corbion delivers an outstanding performance (first or second in the peer group) over the three-
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year reference period the ltIp will amount to 175% of the at-target grant. If the performance is 
below the threshold (below position 6 in the peer group) the shares do not vest. the total number 
of shares to be delivered upon vesting can vary between zero and 175% of the initial grant, de-
pending on the tsR performance. According to the ltIp plan regulations it is at the full discretion 
of the supervisory Board to determine the pay-out based on the tsR result.

the Remuneration Committee evaluates the performance of Corbion in relation to the peer group, 
using data supplied by a leading bank in the netherlands. upon vesting the members of the Board 
of Management will receive a number of additional Corbion shares to cover the dividend value, 
which is equal to the gross dividend that would have been paid on the shares in the period of 
conditional allocation. At the time of vesting the members of the Board of Management may sell 
as many shares as necessary to pay the related income tax. the vested shares will be blocked for 
two more years. 

the supervisory Board periodically determines the peer group. If, for whatever reason, companies 
in the peer group change, the supervisory Board may decide to make one or more adjustments to 
the composition of the group.

In light of the transformation of Corbion into a biobased products company, the supervisory Board 
decided to adjust the peer group in 2012. the current tsR peer group consists of the following 
companies: Balchem (usA), Chr. Hansen (DK), DsM (nl), Du pont (usA), Kerry Group (IR), nutreco 
(nl), novozymes (DK), sensient (usA), solazyme (usA), and tate & lyle (uK). the tsR performance 
for the 2011 ltIp series (vesting in 2014) is still based on the previous peer group.

the number of performance shares conditionally granted to Mr. Hoetmer in 2013 (vesting in 2016) 
is 21,502 representing a value of € 370,910. the number of performance shares conditionally 
granted to Mr. Kramer in 2013 (vesting in 2016) is 13,530 representing a value of € 233,393. these 
shares will be delivered into a blocked account upon vesting. the lock-up period will end per May 
2018. the performance against the peer group will be measured to determine the percentage of 
shares that will actually vest for the members of the Board of Management.

the shares conditionally granted in 2010 vested in 2013. Corbion ranked ninth in the peer group 
consisting of Aryzta (CH), Flower Food (usA), General Mills (usA), Greencore (usA), Grupo Bimbo 
(MeX), Kerry Group (IR), novozymes (DK), nutreco (nl), Ralcorp (usA), and Wessanen (nl). this posi-
tion implies that the vested grant of 2010 did not result in any payout. 

In 2013 Corbion divested its Bakery supplies businesses to Rhône Capital for €1.05 billion. 
Because of the complexity of the transaction, and at the same time, the need to focus on ongoing 
business, the supervisory Board set a number of business- and transaction-related targets to 
optimize successful conclusion of the divestment. the supervisory Board determined after the 
close of the transaction that these targets have been fully achieved and decided to grant shares 
to both members of the Board of Management for their achievement. In respect of this the 
supervisory Board decided to grant shares to encourage further shareholder value creation.  
the value of the grant and shares delivered was € 517,140 (33,087 shares; fair value € 15.63)  
for Mr. Hoetmer and € 294,334 (18,832 shares; fair value € 15.63) for Mr. Kramer. In 2013, as in 
previous years, the Board members did not use the option of selling any shares to compensate  
for income tax. the shares delivered are blocked for a minimum of two years.

there is no share option program in place for the Board of Management. 

Commitment Award (long-term employee benefits and share-based payments  
according to IAs 24.17)
the members of the Board of Management are entitled to an annual Commitment Award in the 
form of Corbion shares amounting to 10% of their respective base salaries. this award was put in 
place for the current Board members in 2006 to compensate for a loss of early-retirement pension 
entitlements at the time. the shares are blocked until the end of their employment with Corbion, 
with the understanding that as many shares as necessary may be sold to pay the related income 



   51Corbion AnnuAl RepoRt 2013 RepoRt oF tHe  supeRVIsoRY BoARD

tax. In 2013, as in previous years, the Board members did not use this option. An overview of the 
Commitment Award shares can be found in note 30 to the financial statements. 

pension (post-employment benefits according to IAs 24.17)
the pension plan for the members of the Board of Management is a defined contribution plan, the 
contributions being paid by Corbion. the plan is within the fiscal boundaries (table 2, Witteveen 
franchise) using 65 as the retirement age. the members of the Board of Management are also 
insured for a disability pension and death-in-service. In 2013 the total payment for these benefits 
amounted to € 199,000 for Mr. Hoetmer and € 118,500 for Mr. Kramer.

other benefits and entitlements
Members of the Board of Management are provided with benefits in line with those applicable to 
other senior managers at Corbion (e.g. company car, expense allowance). the costs for these  
benefits provided in 2013 amounted to € 37,548 for Mr. Hoetmer and € 31,548 for Mr. Kramer.

Corbion does not grant loans to members of the Board of Management. Hence, there are no  
outstanding loans. 

employment contract
Members of the Board of Management are appointed for a period of four years and may be  
reappointed with the approval of the General shareholders’ Meeting. 

Messrs. G.J. Hoetmer and n.J.M. Kramer have an employment contract for an indefinite period of 
time, which expires at the retirement age or earlier if terminated by either party. the notice period 
for all members of the Board of Management is three months. Corbion, being the employer, is 
required to give six months’ notice. 

A severance pay arrangement is included in the employment agreement of the current members 
of the Board of Management. this contractual severance pay arrangement deviates from provision 
II.2.8 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code. this deviation originates from the time of appoint-
ment of the Board members in 2005/2006, at which time this was customary practice for board 
members of Dutch listed companies. severance entitlement for any future Board members will  
follow legislation and customary practice for board members of Dutch listed companies at the 
time of the appointment.

the agreed severance pay for the current Board members amounts to a maximum of 1.5 times the 
sum of the annual base salary and the most recently determined short-term incentive (stIp). In 
addition, contributions to the base pension plan and the Commitment Award will be continued for 
a further two years. 

As indicated new appointments to the Board of Management will be handled in accordance with 
the practice of good governance and regulations in force at the time of the appointment. 

the members of the Board of Management may accept a maximum of two paid or unpaid positions 
on an outside supervisory board or any other such (advisory) position, provided they obtain the 
prior approval of the supervisory Board. 

Currently, only Mr. G.J. Hoetmer has an external unpaid position with the “spieren voor spieren” 
foundation (www.spierenvoorspieren.nl), a charity organization active for the benefit of children 
suffering from muscular diseases. He also serves as a non-executive director of Devro plc.

remuneration for the board of management
total annual remuneration for the Corbion Board of Management amounted to € 3.2 million in  
2013 (2012: € 3.0 million). the higher balance is due to the higher stIp payment following better 
business results and the discretionary ltIp grant related to the divestment of the Bakery  
supplies businesses.



  52 Corbion AnnuAl RepoRt 2013 RepoRt oF tHe  supeRVIsoRY BoARD  

breakdown remuneration board of management

Thousands of euros IAS 24 7 
category

Short-term employee 
benefits*

Share- 
based 

payments

Post- 
employ-

ment 
benefits

Other 
long-term 

benefits

Termi-
nation 

benefits

Year Base 
salary

STIP LTIP Total Pension 
benefits

Other 
benefits

Severance 
payments

Total

G.J. Hoetmer 2012 651 443 435 1,529 180 1,709

2013 668 470 581 1,719 199 1,918

n.J.M. Kramer 2012 494 278 301 1,073 118 1,191

2013 507 295 342 1,144 119 1,263

*   Excluded from short-term benefits is a criss levy of € 204 thousand for Mr. Hoetmer (2012: € 121 thousand)  

and € 129 thousand for Mr. Kramer (2012: € 79 thousand)

Considering the anticipated changes to the Board of Management that will take place, the company 
has provisioned for the costs relating to contractual commitments as existing per end of 2013.  
Details of these provisions are included in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

remuneration for the supervisory board
total remuneration for members of the supervisory Board in 2013 amounted to € 0.3 million  
(2012: € 0.3 million). the table below provides details on the various committees. 

every supervisory Board member receives an annual base fee of € 45,000; the Vice-Chairman  
receives € 50,000 and the Chairman € 60,000. For membership of the Audit Committee an  
additional fee of € 5,000 applies; and for the Chairman € 10,000. A member of the nomination 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee receives € 2,500; the additional fee for the  
Chairman of these Committees amounts to € 5,000. In addition, members receive reimbursement 
of expenses.

breakdown remuneration supervisory board

Thousands of euros Year Base fee Committee fee Total*

R.H.p. Markham, Chairman  

(chairman nomination Committee/member Remuneration)

2012 55,000 7,500 62,500

2013 60,000 7,500 67,500

M.p.M. de Raad, Vice-Chairman  

(chairman Remuneration Committee/member nomination Committee)

2012 55,000 7,500 62,500

2013 50,000 7,500 57,500

R. pieterse (chairman Audit Committee) 2012 45,000 5,000 50,000

2013 45,000 5,000 50,000

W. spinner (member Audit Committee) 2012 45,000 5,000 50,000

2013 45,000 5,000 50,000

J. p. de Kreij (member Audit Committee) 2012 45,000 5,000 50,000

2013 45,000 5,000 50,000

M. Vrijsen (member Remuneration Committee/ nomination Committee), 

appointed per May 2013

2012 0 0 0

2013 30,000 3,333 33,333

* Excluding expenses

no loans or advance payments or any guarantees to that effect have been granted to the  
members of the supervisory Board. none of the members of the supervisory Board has shares  
in the company or any option rights relating thereto (as at 24 February 2014). 

Diemen, the Netherlands, 24 February 2014

on behalf of the supervisory Board
r.h.p. markham
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sustainability  
statements

sustainability strategy and materiality

sustainability is at the heart of our purpose - to improve the quality of life for people today and 
generations to come. this means we drive sustainability along our value chain in order to reduce 
our own impact and that of our suppliers and customers. We aim to achieve this through:
•	 sustainable supply: ensuring the responsible environmental and social performance of suppliers.
•	 sustainable processes: using innovative and resource-efficient technologies based on  

renewable resources, while ensuring the safety of our employees.
•	 sustainable product solutions: enabling fresh, safe and healthy food, and biochemicals based 

on renewables. 

this is reflected in our initiatives. through our sustainable sourcing program we aim to assess 
the social and environmental responsibility of our raw material suppliers (50% by 2015 and 90% 
by 2020). We intend to introduce new technologies based on second generation feedstocks and 
based on our gypsum-free process in the coming years. to ensure the safety of our employees, 
we aim to achieve zero safety-related incidents by 2020. our sustainability assessment is used to 
evaluate all new projects as well as our key product groups through life Cycle Assessment (lCA) 
and in terms of our material issues.

embedding sustainability in our organization requires engagement from various parts of the  
organization, including procurement, innovation, operations, finance, marketing, and communi-
cations as well as our external stakeholders. Further, we drive sustainability through leadership  
commitment by our Ceo as well as our Head of sustainability and dedicated working groups.

We have evaluated megatrends presented in publications by thought leadership, such as the World 
Business Council for sustainable Development, in order to identify the key forces impacting our 
business and stakeholders.
Aligning our business to address our most material issues helps us to serve the needs of a  
growing population in an increasingly resource constrained world. the megatrends of population 
growth, resource depletion, and food security have many related material issues which affect  
our business, our value chain, and our stakeholders. 

In 2013, we conducted our annual evaluation to determine which issues are most relevant for our 
business and our stakeholders. this process comprised of identification, ranking, and evaluation  
of issues along our value chain. Internal stakeholders from different business and corporate  
functions were surveyed and interviewed. they also supported the process to identify and engage 
external stakeholders, including customers, suppliers, governmental agencies, business partners, 
nGos, universities, and thought leaders, to respond to the issue survey and raise additional topics 
and concerns. 

the resulting materiality matrix captures the relative importance of each issue for Corbion and our 
stakeholders. understanding and strategically addressing our issues enables us to improve our 
performance and prepare for future developments. We report on the identified issues in various 
ways depending on the particular topic, ranging from how it relates to our business, to our value 
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Circular economy

Good agricultural practices

Sustainable supply

Resource e�ciency
Emissions

Health and well-being Human capital

Product safetyFood waste

Waste and e�uents

Renewable resources

Food security

Business conduct

contribution, to our performance. the use of renewable resources lies at the heart of our strategy. 
A sustainable supply, and in particular good agricultural practices are therefore important issues for 
Corbion, which we address through our sustainable sourcing program and engagement activities. 
the efficient use of resources such as energy and water, the reduction of carbon footprint, wastes 
and emissions, and the development of processes which do not interfere with the food value chain 
are key elements in our process development and operations to reduce our impact and optimize our 
performance. the integrity of our business conduct and the protection and development of our  
human capital are essential for us to ensure our long-term success as a responsible business.  
Finally, providing safe products which contribute to food security, health and well-being and a  
circular economy are priorities for both our ongoing business and the future viability of our business.

Materiality matrix

renewable resources Corbion's contribution to an economy based on the use of renewable resources as an 
alternative to fossil-based resources.

business conduct Business practices with regard to transparency, integrity and the prevention of  
corruption.

Circular economy providing pure biobased materials and addressing concerns related to the disposal of 
plastics, thus enabling a circular economy.

emissions Corbion's emissions, including carbon footprint and measures to minimize Greenhouse 
Gas emissions from cradle to gate. 

health and well-being Contribution of Corbion products to human health and well-being through food  
nutrition/fortification and medical biomaterials.

product safety Health and safety impacts of Corbion's products and services during their life cycle.

Food security societal concerns about the use of food crops for the production of biochemicals 
(e.g. competition with food production).

Food waste Corbion’s efforts and solutions to reduce food waste along the value chain.

good agricultural practices Comprises Corbion's engagement to ensure sustainable agricultural practices to 
secure its supply and reduce impact. 

resource efficiency Refers to the efficient use of energy, water, and resources in both the company's 
production processes and upstream processes.

sustainable supply Refers to the efforts of Corbion to engage the supply chain in order to manage  
risks and improve sustainability performance and working conditions. 

Waste and effluents Refers to the management and reduction of solid waste and effluents from  
Corbion's production processes. 

human capital Refers to how Corbion treats its employees in terms of training, human rights,  
fair remuneration, and occupational health and safety.
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gri g4 table

our report is based on the Global Reporting Initiative G4 – Core and contains standard Disclosures 
from the GRI sustainability Reporting Guidelines. our reporting boundary is defined per material 
aspect as follows.

economic aspects refer to our company operations as outlined in our financial statements.
environmental aspects refer to our company operations. In the case of Co2 emissions, these are 
determined based on the Greenhouse Gas protocol and include upstream activities related to 
scope III.

the social aspects relate to human capital and business conduct: labor practices and decent 
work, human rights, and society (anti-corruption) are reported for the boundary of our company. 
We understand the importance of social and environmental aspects in our supply chain, are 
starting to assess these through our sustainable sourcing program, and will report on our supplier 
assessment as data becomes available, for 2013, this is an omission. the aspect of product 
responsibility extends to outside of our company boundary, to the use of our products by our 
customers, and we track any incidents and complaints concerning the health and safety impacts 
of our products during their life cycle. 

Additional material topics identified through our materiality assessment: renewable resources, 
food security and food waste, involve stakeholders outside of our company boundary. How we  
address these topics is included in this report.
 
Due to the divestment of our Bakery supplies businesses in 2013, the reporting boundary for  
our own company has changed relative to our 2012 report and includes only Corbion operations. 
Historical data are reported for the new Corbion boundary. 
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General standard Disclosures
Core # Description Location in report

strategy and analysis 1 Ceo statement on sustainability Message form Gerard Hoetmer, CEO Corbion

 2 Description of key impacts, risks, opportunities Addressing megatrends, Risk management

organizational profile 3 name Corbion at a glance

 
4 Brands, products, services Corbion at a glance, Biobased Food Ingredients 

segment, Biochemicals segment

 5 location of HQ Corbion at a glance

 6 Countries Corbion at a glance

 7 ownership Corbion at a glance

 8 Markets served Our business

 9 employees, operations, sales Corbion at a glance

 10 employee breakdown Social performance

 11 Collective bargaining Social performance

 12 Describe supply chain Operations, supply chain, and procurement

 13 Changes in reporting period Our strategy, Information on the Corbion share

 14 precautionary approach Risk management

 15 Charters and principles Social performance, Sustainability statements

 16 Membership organizations Social performance

Identified material aspects 17 entities Financial statements

and boundaries 18 process on defining content and aspects Sustainability statements

 19 list of aspects Sustainability statements

 20 Boundary per aspect within company Sustainability statements

 21 Boundary per aspect outside of company Sustainability statements

 22 Restatements Sustainability statements

 23 significant changes in boundary Sustainability statements

stakeholder engagement 24 list of stakeholder groups Social performance 

 25 Basis for identification of stakeholders Social performance, Sustainability statements

 26 Approach to stakeholder engagement Social performance, Sustainability statements

 
27 topics and concerns raised through stakeholder 

engagement
Social performance, Sustainability statements 

Report profile 28 Reporting period Financial statements

 29 Date of last report Financial statements

 30 Reporting cycle Financial statements

 31 point of contact Contact

 32 GRI content index Sustainability statements

 33 policy on external assurance Auditor’s report

Governance 34 Governance structure Corporate governance

ethics and integrity 56 Values principles and standards Sustainability statements

specific standard disclosures
Category Material aspect DMA and indicator Location in report

economic economic performance eC1 Financial commentary, Financial statements

environmental energy en3, en4, en5 Environmental performance 

Water en8 Environmental performance

emissions en15, en16, en17, en21 Environmental performance 

effluents and waste en22, en23, en24, en25, en29 Environmental performance

environmental grievance mechanisms en34 Environmental performance

social labour practices and decent work lA1, lA6 Social performance

Human rights HR3 Social performance

society so4, so5, so8 Social performance

product responsibility pR2 Operations, supply chain, and procurement
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please note that the material aspects of supplier environmental Assessment, supplier Assess-
ment for labor practices, and supplier Human Rights Assessment are omitted, as the information 
is currently unavailable. tracking of progress for our sustainable sourcing program will be initiated 
in 2014. external assurance has only been carried out for the aspect of economic performance. 

un global CompaCt

“In 2013, Corbion became a signatory of the united nations Global Compact. We are committed to 
align our operations and strategies with these ten principles in the areas of human rights, labor, 
environment, and anti-corruption. We will continue to support the principles and communicate our 
progress in terms of practical actions and outcomes.” Gerard Hoetmer, Ceo Corbion.

united nations Global Compact Reference list
Topic Principle Location in report

Human rights principle 1: Businesses should support and respect 
the protection of internationally proclaimed human 
rights; and principle 2: make sure that they are not 
complicit in human rights abuses. 

Sustainable supply 
Social performance

labor principle 3: Businesses should uphold the freedom 
of association and the effective recognition of the 
right to collective bargaining;
principle 4: the elimination of all forms of forced and 
compulsory labor;
principle 5: the effective abolition of child labor; and
principle 6: the elimination of discrimination in 
respect of employment and occupation. 

Sustainable supply 
Social performance

environment principle 7: Businesses should support a precaution-
ary approach to environmental challenges;
principle 8: undertake initiatives to promote greater 
environmental responsibility; and
principle 9: encourage the development and diffu-
sion of environmentally friendly technologies. 

Sustainable supply
Social performance
Second generation feedstock case

Anti-Corruption principle 10: Businesses should work against 
corruption in all its forms, including extortion and 
bribery.

Sustainable supply 
Social performance
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Consolidated  
financial statements

Consolidated inCome statement

Millions of euros Note 2013 2012
(restated)

Continuing operations
net sales 4 743 6 753.7

Costs of raw materials and consumables -378 2 -389.6

production costs -122 8 -124.2

Warehousing and distribution costs -39 6 -41.7

gross profit 203.0 198.2

selling expenses -56 8 -53.1

Research and development costs -25 8 -19.4

General and administrative expenses -81 4 -88.1

operating result 39.0 37.6

Financial income 7 0 2 1.4

Financial charges 7 -16 8 -25.9

Results from joint ventures and associates 14 -1 2 -0.1

result before taxes from continuing operations 21.2 13.0

taxes  8 -14 0 12.6

result after taxes from continuing operations 7.2 25.6

Discontinued operations
result after taxes from discontinued operations 9 -3.0 -90.9

result after taxes 4.2 -65.3

per common share in euros  10

Basic earnings from continuing operations 0 06 0.34

Diluted earnings 0 06 0.34

Basic earnings from continuing and discontinued operations 0 02 -0.96

Diluted earnings 0 02 -0.96
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Consolidated statement oF Comprehensive inCome

Millions of euros Note 2013 2012
(restated)

result after taxes 4 2 -65.3

other comprehensive results to be recycled

translation reserve 18 -22 5 -7.6

Hedge reserve 18 5 9 5.1

taxes relating to other comprehensive results to be recycled 18 -7 0 -2.3

total other comprehensive results to be recycled -23.6 -4.8

other comprehensive results not to be recycled

Remeasurement defined benefit arrangements 20 0 8 -47.8

taxes relating to other comprehensive results not to be recycled 0 2 13.5

total other comprehensive results not to be recycled 1.0 -34.3

total comprehensive result after taxes -18.4 -104.4
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Consolidated statement oF FinanCial position

Before profit appropriation, millions of euros Note As at  
31-12-2013

As at 
31-12-2012

(restated)

As at 
01-01-2012

(restated)

Assets
property, plant, and equipment 11 310 2 303.0 583.0

Intangible fixed assets 12 97 5 93.4 912.4

loans, receivables, and other 13 4 9 3.6 9.9

Joint ventures and associates 14 6 9 6.4 9.1

Deferred tax assets 21 16 0 21.4 44.5

total non-current assets 435.5 427.8 1,558.9

Inventories 15 97 1 104.6 337.9

Receivables 16 97 1 94.4 376.5

tax assets 12 0 20.0 26.0

Cash and cash equivalents 17 123 9 60.2 116.0

Assets held for sale 1,477.6

total current assets 330.1 1,756.8 856.4

total assets 765.6 2,184.6 2,415.3

equity and liabilities
equity 18 505.2 793.8 919.3

provisions 19 12 0 19.6 127.9

Deferred tax liabilities 21 10 1 21.2 134.5

non-current liabilities 22 94 4 614.0 726.9

total non-current liabilities 116.5 654.8 989.3

Interest-bearing current liabilities 23 0 1 2.4 4.7

trade payables 57 7 60.4 311.9

other non-interest-bearing current liabilities 73 4 60.5 144.6

provisions 19 9 6 13.6 23.5

tax liabilities 3 1 5.1 22.0

liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 594.0

total current liabilities 143.9 736.0 506.7

total equity and liabilities 765.6 2,184.6 2,415.3
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Consolidated statement oF Changes in equity

Before profit appropriation, millions of euros Share capital Share  
premium 

reserve

Other  
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Total

as at 1 January 2012 (as previously reported) 17.6 74.1 53.9 802.7 948.3

Impact implementation IAs 19R -29.0 -29.0

balance as at 1 January 2012 (restated) 17.6 74.1 53.9 773.7 919.3

Result after taxes 2012 -65.3 -65.3

other comprehensive result after taxes 2012  -4.8 -34.3 -39.1

transfers to/from other reserves 1.2 -1.2

total comprehensive result after tax 2012 -3.6 -100.8 -104.4

Cash dividend   -21.6 -21.6

stock dividend 0.6 -0.6

Acquired company shares -0.4 -0.4

share-based remuneration transfers -1.3 1.3

share-based remuneration charged to result 0.9  0.9

total transactions with shareholders 0.6 -0.6 -0.4 -20.7 -21.1

as at 31 december 2012 (restated) 18.2 73.5 49.9 652.2 793.8

Result after taxes 2013 4 2 4 2

other comprehensive result after taxes 2013 -23 6 1 0 -22 6

transfers to/from other reserves -12 6 12 6

total comprehensive result after tax 2013 -36.2 17.8 -18.4

Cash dividend -70 1 -70 1

stock dividend 0 5 -0 5

Acquired company shares -200 9 -200 9

share-based remuneration transfers -1 1 1 1

share-based remuneration charged to result 0 8 0 8

total transactions with shareholders 0.5 -0.5 -0.3 -269.9 -270.2

as at 31 december 2013 18.7 73.0 13.4 400.1 505.2

For more information on equity see Note 18.
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Consolidated statement oF Cash FloWs

Millions of euros Note 2013 2012 
(restated)

Cash flow from continuing operating activities
Result after taxes 7 2 25.6

Adjusted for:

•	Depreciation/amortization	of	fixed	assets  6 41 0 43.2

•	Impairment	of	fixed	assets 11/12 1 3 7.9

•	Result	from	divestments	of	fixed	assets 2 1 -0.9

•	Share-based	remuneration 0 8 0.9

•	Interest	income 7 -0 2 -0.1

•	Interest	expense 7 12 7 25.3

•	Exchange	rate	differences 7 -2 5 -0.3

•	Fluctuations	in	fair	value	of	derivatives 7 6 3 -0.6

•	Other	financial	income	and	charges 7 0 3 0.2

•	Results	from	joint	ventures	and	associates 14 1 2 0.1

•	Taxes 8 14 0 -12.6

Cash flow from continuing operating activities before movements in working capital 84.2 88.7

Movement in provisions -20 9 3.1

Movements in working capital:

•	Receivables -12 9 1.7

•	Inventories 2 4 7.8

•	Non-interest-bearing	current	liabilities 8 7 -3.9

Cash flow from continuing business operations 61.5 97.4

Interest received 0 2 0.1

Interest paid -15 3 -26.2

tax paid on profit -12 3 1.5

Cash flow from continuing operating activities 34.1 72.8

Cash flow from discontinued operating activities -24.2 124.6

Cash flow from operating activities 9.9 197.4

Cash flow from continuing investment activities
Acquisition of group companies 24 -2 0 -8.0

Investment joint ventures and associates 14 -1 7 -5.0

Investment other financial assets -1 5 -0.9

Repayment other financial assets 10.5

Capital expenditure on (in)tangible fixed assets -66 1 -53.1

Divestment of (in)tangible fixed assets 2 1 1.3

Cash flow from continuing investment activities -69.2 -55.2

Cash flow from discontinued investment activities 865.7 -25.6

Cash flow from investment activities 796.5 -80.8

Cash flow from financing activities
proceeds from interest-bearing debts 81 0

Repayment of interest-bearing debts -596 4 -101.4

Acquisition of company shares 18 -200 9 -0.4

paid-out dividend -70 1 -21.6

Cash flow from financing activities -786.4 -123.4

net cash flow 20.0 -6.8

effects of exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents -2 7 -2.6

increase/decrease cash and cash equivalents 17.3 -9.4

Cash and cash equivalents at start of financial year 106 6 116.0

Cash and cash equivalents at close of financial year 123 9 106.6

For more information on the cash flow statement see Note 29.
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notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

1 aCCounting inFormation 

General 
on 11 october 2013, CsM nv changed its legal name to Corbion nv. 
Corbion nv is the global market leader in lactic acid, lactic acid derivatives and lactides, and a 
leading company in functional blends containing enzymes, emulsifiers, minerals, and vitamins. 
the company delivers high performance biobased products made from renewable resources and 
applied in global markets such as bakery, meat, pharmaceuticals and medical devices, home and 
personal care, packaging, automotive, coatings, and resins. Its products have a differentiating 
functionality in all kinds of consumer products worldwide. 

Corbion is based in Amsterdam and listed on nYse euronext Amsterdam. 

the consolidated financial statements drawn up by the Board of Management have been  
discussed by the supervisory Board on 24 February 2014. they will be presented to the General 
shareholders’ Meeting for adoption on 12 May 2014. the supervisory Board will give a preliminary 
recommendation regarding the consolidated financial statements to the General shareholders’ 
Meeting. 

In compliance with section 2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code the income statement of Corbion nv is  
presented in a summarized form as it is incorporated in the consolidated financial statements.

Discontinued operations 
on 3 July 2013, Corbion announced the successfull completion of the divestment of its Bakery 
supplies businesses to affiliates of Rhône Capital. the Bakery supplies businesses have been  
divested for an enterprise Value of € 1,050 million. For more information on the divestment see 
note 24. For more information on discontinued operations see note 9. 

Acquisition 
the following acquisition influenced the 2013 consolidation: 

BIRD engineering bv 
on 7 March 2013, purac, a subsidiary of Corbion, announced that it had entered into an agreement 
to acquire BIRD engineering bv, the netherlands. BIRD engineering is a biotech contract research 
company, specifically in the field of industrial microbiology. BIRD engineering has experience with 
various micro-organisms, mostly bacteria and yeasts, and has expertise in the development of new 
strains and fermentation processes. the acquisition includes the intellectual property and seven 
key employees of BIRD engineering. BIRD Recruitment, a division of BIRD engineering bv was not 
part of the acquisition. 
the transaction has no material impact on Corbion’s financial position. 

For more information on the acquisition see note 24. 

Reported amounts 
unless stated otherwise all amounts in the financial statements are reported in millions of euros.  
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exchange rates of main currencies in euros
Average exchange 

rate 2013
Average exchange 

rate 2012
Exchange rate 

31-12-2013
Exchange rate 

31-12-2012

us dollar 1 33 1.28 1 38 1.32

Japanese yen 129 49 102.45 144 50 113.50

Brazilian real 2 87 2.51 3 25 2.70

thai baht 40 72 39.86 45 05 40.25

2 aCCounting prinCiples 

General 
the consolidated financial statements of Corbion nv have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting standards (IFRs) adopted by the european union. With the excep-
tion of financial instruments, the financial statements in general are prepared on the basis of the 
historical cost principle. 

the comparative income statement and cash flow statement are presented as if an operation 
which was discontinued during the financial year had been discontinued from the start of the  
comparative years (see note 9, Discontinued operations). 

In 2013, Corbion applied all the new and amended standards and interpretations published by  
the International Accounting standards Board (IAsB) and the International Financial Reporting  
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), if and insofar as these applied to Corbion and were effective  
as at 1 January 2013.  

the main effective changes applied by Corbion at 1 January 2013 are: 

 -ias 19: employee benefits revised 
Corbion adopted IAs 19: “employee benefits revised” in the group’s consolidated financial state-
ments for the year starting 1 January 2013. the application of this revised standard had a sig-
nificant impact on amounts reported in respect of the group’s results and equity. the revised 
standard had a negative effect (excluding tax effects) of € 88 million on equity, € 25 million of 
which related to continuing operations and led to an increase in the pension provision by the same 
amount. 
the total continued pension costs in 2012 increased by € 2.2 million as a result of the adopted 
standard. 

- iFrs 13: Fair value measurement 
IFRs 13, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, establishes a single source of 
guidance for fair value measurement and disclosures about fair value measurement. the application of 
the new standard resulted in more extensive disclosures in the financial statements. 

none of the new and amended IFRs and IFRIC interpretations not yet effective, have been applied 
by Corbion.  

the main effective changes after 1 January 2013 are: 

- iFrs 9 Financial instruments 
IFRs 9, issued in november 2009, introduced new requirements for the classification and  
measurement of financial assets. the standard is effective for annual periods beginning on  
or after 1 January 2015. Corbion anticipates that the new standard does not have a significant 
impact on amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. 
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- new and revised standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates, and disclosures 
In May 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates, and 
disclosures was issued, including IFRs 10, IFRs 11, IFRs 12, IAs 27 (as revised in 2011), and IAs 28 
(as revised in 2011).  
these five standards together with the amendments regarding the transition guidance are effec-
tive for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with earlier application permitted. 
Corbion currently anticipates that none of the standards will have a significant impact on amounts 
reported in the consolidated financial statements. 

Corbion also anticipates that the application of all other new and amended IFRs and IFRIC interpre-
tations currently known for future periods will have no significant impact on the Corbion financial 
statements.  

Consolidation 
the consolidation includes the financial data of Corbion nv and its group companies (together 
“Corbion”). All inter-company receivables, debts, and transactions have been eliminated. Group 
companies are companies in which Corbion nv exercises control. the results of acquisitions and 
divestments are recognized from the moment that control is obtained or transferred. 

Foreign currency 
the consolidated financial statements are in euros. the euro is Corbion nv’s functional and pres-
entation currency. the functional currency is the currency of the primary environment where the 
group company operates and may therefore differ from one company to another. transactions in 
other than the functional currency are translated at the exchange rates that apply on the transac-
tion date. Any monetary assets and liabilities resulting from such transactions are translated at 
the exchange rates on the balance sheet date. Any exchange rate differences are recognized in 
the income statement or deferred in equity in case of hedge accounting. 
the assets and liabilities of consolidated foreign group companies and the long-term foreign-cur-
rency loans, which have been taken out to finance these subsidiaries, are converted into euros on 
the balance sheet date, taking taxes into account. the subsequent currency translation differenc-
es are incorporated in the translation reserve in equity. the results of the foreign group companies 
are translated into euros on the basis of average exchange rates. the difference between net 
profit on the basis of average exchange rates and net profit on the basis of the exchange rates as 
at the balance sheet date is incorporated in the translation reserve in equity. If a foreign operation 
is divested or scaled down the associated cumulative currency translation differences are recog-
nized as result in the income statement. 

property, plant, and equipment 
land, buildings, machines, installations, and other operating assets are valued at the acquisition 
price or the cost of production, subject to straight line depreciation calculated over the estimated 
economic life and the estimated residual value. the cost of production includes the cost of materi-
als and direct labor and an attributable part of the indirect costs. land is not depreciated. Grants 
are deducted from the acquisition price or the production costs of the assets to which the grant 
relates. property, plant, and equipment are tested for impairment if there are indications for this. 
Impairment is the amount by which the book value of the property, plant, and equipment exceeds 
the recoverable amount. the recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of (a) value in use and 
(b) fair value less cost to sell. 

Intangible fixed assets 
goodwill 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of 
any non-controlling interests in the acquire, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held eq-
uity interest in the acquire (if any) over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  
Goodwill is valued at cost less impairment. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually – or more 
often if there are indications for impairment. Impairment is the amount by which the book value of 
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the goodwill of a cash-flow-generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount, being the higher of 
(a) value in use and (b) fair value less cost to sell. the value in use is the present value of the cash 
flows which the unit is expected to generate. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carry-
ing amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata 
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. If impairment is incurred, the impairment 
is charged to the income statement. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in 
subsequent periods. 
When an entity or activity is sold or closed down the goodwill allocated to the entity is included in 
the calculations for the result of the sale. 

Customer base 
the customer base comprises the part of the paid acquisition sum which, upon acquisition, is 
allocated to the value of the acquired customer base. It is valued at fair value as at the acquisi-
tion date and amortized using a straight line method over the estimated economic life. Amortiza-
tion charges arising from the customer base are recognized in selling expenses. the value of the 
customer base is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the assets may be 
impaired.  

brands and licenses 
Brands and licenses comprise the part of the paid acquisition sum which is allocated to the value 
of the acquired trademarks and product licenses. Brands and licenses are valued against the fair 
value per acquisition date and are subject to straight line amortization calculated over the es-
timated economic life. Amortization charges arising from brands and licenses are recognized in 
selling expenses. the value of the brands and licenses is tested for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the assets may be impaired.  

research and development costs 
Research and development costs comprise the part of the paid acquisition sum which is allocated 
to the value of the acquired research and development costs. these costs are valued at fair value 
as per the acquisition date. own research costs are not capitalized, but charged to the income 
statement. own development costs are capitalized if the appropriate criteria are met. Research 
and development costs are valued at cost and amortized using a straight line method over the 
estimated economic life. Amortization charges arising from research and development costs are 
recognized in research and development costs. the value of the development costs is tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the assets may be impaired. 

non-compete agreements 
non-compete agreements comprise the part of the paid acquisition sum which is allocated to the 
value of the acquired non-compete agreements. non-compete agreements are valued against the 
fair value per acquisition date and are subject to straight line amortization calculated over the es-
timated economic life. Amortization charges arising from non-compete agreements are recognized 
in selling expenses. the value of the non-compete agreements is tested for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the assets may be impaired.  

other intangible fixed assets 
other intangible fixed assets consist primarily of capitalized or acquired third-party software and 
licenses. 
other intangible fixed assets are valued at historical cost if capitalized or at fair value if acquired 
and amortized on a straight line basis over the estimated economic life. software and licenses 
amortization charges are recognized in general and administrative expenses. emission rights are 
not recognized in the balance sheet as cost is zero. the value of the other intangible fixed assets 
is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the assets may be impaired.  
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Financial fixed assets 
loans, receivables, and other 
loans and receivables with fixed or determinable payments (generally, with a duration of more 
than one year) are valued at amortized cost less provisions where necessary. 

derivatives 
Derivatives are valued at fair value. 

Joint ventures and associates 
Joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method. 

Deferred taxes 
Deferred taxes concern tax loss carry forward and liabilities and assets arising from temporary 
differences between the tax bases and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial state-
ments of (in-)tangible fixed assets, inventories, and provisions. Deferred taxes are determined 
using tax rates that have been enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred income tax is realized or the deferred tax liability is settled. Deferred 
tax assets are recognized if and insofar that is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary difference and tax loss carry forward can be utilized. 
tax assets and liabilities are netted when there is a legal right and the intention to offset. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities with the same term and relating to the same fiscal unities are offset 
against each other. 

Inventories 
Inventories of raw materials, consumables, technical materials, and packaging are stated at 
the lower of cost (first in, first out) and net realizable value. Inventories of work in progress and 
finished products are stated at the lower of production cost and net realizable value. total cost of 
production includes payroll costs and materials and an attributable part of the indirect production 
costs. A valuation adjustment is deducted for non-marketable inventories. 

Receivables 
Receivables are valued on the basis of the amortized cost using the effective interest rate method 
less provisions deemed necessary for non-collectability. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in bank, cash in hand, current deposits, money market 
funds, and highly liquid treasury bonds with original maturities of no more than three months. Bank 
overdrafts are presented as current interest-bearing liabilities. 

equity 
Corbion runs a share plan for the Board of Management and share-based plans for senior Manage-
ment. the fair value of the right to shares on the date of allocation is recognized in the income 
statement as payroll costs over the vesting period. liabilities arising from share-based plans with 
payment in shares are included in equity and valued only initially. liabilities arising from share-
based plans with payment in cash are included in provisions and revalued every period. 

provisions 
pension and early retirement schemes 
payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. 

For defined retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the pro-
jected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each annual re-
porting period. Remeasurements, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the changes 
to the asset ceiling (if applicable), and the return on plan assets (excluding interest), are reflected 
immediately in the statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognized in other 
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognized in other 
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comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss. past service costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. 
net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net 
defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are categorized as follows: 
• service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on 

curtailments and settlements) 
• net interest expense or income 
• Remeasurements 
the first two components of defined benefit costs are presented in profit or loss. Curtailment 
gains and losses are accounted for as past service costs. 

the retirement benefit obligation in the consolidated statement of financial position represents 
the actual deficit or surplus in the defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calcula-
tion is limited to the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from 
the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans.  
A liability for a termination benefit is recognized at the earlier of when the entity can no longer 
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when the entity recognizes any related restruc-
turing costs. 

other long-term employee benefit commitments  
the other long-term employee benefit commitments relate mainly to anniversaries, years of ser-
vice, termination packages, and medical costs. the commitments arising from these benefits are 
accounted for similarly as the defined benefit pension plans. 

reorganization, restructuring, and other  
these provisions relate to reorganization, restructuring, and other, and represent a legal or con-
structive obligation as a result of a past event, the amount of which is uncertain but which can be 
estimated reliably and of which it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources is required 
to settle the obligation. the provisions are measured at the present value of the expected cost to 
settle the obligation.  

liabilities 
Interest-bearing liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. upon sale or settlement of interest-bearing liabilities any 
profits or losses are directly recognized in the income statement. 

leases 
lease agreements in which the lessor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
ownership of an asset to the lessee are classified as financial leases. All assets and liabilities of 
a financial lease are capitalized at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. lease agreements that do not meet the conditions for a 
financial lease are classified as operational leases. payments made are charged to income on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

net sales 
net sales comprises the proceeds of goods delivered to third parties less discounts and value-
added tax.  
net sale of goods is recognized when Corbion has transferred the actual risks and rewards of own-
ership of the goods to the buyer, when the amount of the proceeds can be reliably measured, and 
when it is probable that the economic benefits of the sale will accrue to Corbion. 

Costs of raw materials, packaging, and consumables 
Costs of raw materials and consumables relate to the cost of consumption of raw materials, con-
sumables, and packaging materials. 
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production costs 
production costs are the costs relating to production operations. 

Warehousing and distribution costs 
Warehousing and distribution costs relate to the costs of warehousing and transport, including 
transport insurance. 

selling expenses 
selling expenses relate to the costs of marketing and sales. 

General and administrative expenses 
General and administrative expenses relate to the costs of administration, management, and It. 

taxes 
tax on the result is calculated on the basis of the result before taxes, taking account of untaxed 
profit elements, non- and part-deductible costs, and fiscal facilities. the prevailing nominal tax 
rates are applied. non-recoverable withholding taxes on foreign dividends are taken into ac-
count. 

Financial instruments and hedge activities 
upon initial inclusion in the financial statements as at the start date of the contract derivative 
financial instruments are recognized at fair value. subsequently, at each reporting date, they are 
measured at fair value. the recognition of any arising results depends on whether or not the de-
rivative instrument can be qualified as a hedging instrument and the type of hedged item. 
If no hedge accounting is applied the fair value fluctuations of the derivative financial instruments 
are recognized in the income statement. 

Corbion designates certain derivative financial instruments as: 
•	 Hedge for possible fluctuations in cash flows which can be attributed to a certain currency, 

interest rate or commodity price risk associated with a recognized asset or liability, or a highly 
probable expected future transaction (cash flow hedge), or 

•	 Hedge for net investments in foreign operations (net investment hedge). 

upon entering into a transaction the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged 
position, as well as the risk management aims and the starting points for entering into various 
hedging transactions are documented. Corbion also documents its estimate as to whether the 
derivative financial instrument offsets the movements in the fair values or cash flows of the 
hedged positions effectively. the documentation process starts at the time of entering into such 
a contract and is updated continuously. 

the fair value of derivative financial instruments which are used as hedging instruments and 
movements in the hedge reserve in equity are explained in note 25. 

Cash flow hedge 
the effective part of changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments which are des-
ignated and classified as cash flow hedge is recognized in equity. Gains or losses from the non-
effective part are directly recognized in the income statement. 

If a hedging instrument expires, is sold, or if the instrument can no longer be qualified as a hedging 
instrument, the cumulative gains and losses remain in equity until the expected future transaction 
is recognized in the income statement. If the expected future transaction is no longer probable 
the cumulative result is transferred immediately from equity to the income statement. 

net investment hedge 
Hedges for net investments in foreign operations are handled in a similar way as cash flow hedges. 
Gains or losses from the hedging instrument which can be attributed to the effective part of the 
hedge are recognized in equity; any gains or losses which cannot be attributed to the effective 
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part are directly recognized as financial income and charges in the income statement. 
Cumulative gains and losses in equity are recognized in the income statement as soon as the 
foreign operation is partly divested or sold. 

Discontinued operations and non-current assets held for sale 
non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will 
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the 
case, the asset (or disposal group) must be available for immediate sale in its present condition 
and the sale must be highly probable. A discontinued operation is a component that either has 
been disposed of, or that is classified as held for sale, and: (i) represents a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations or (ii) is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of 
a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations. Discontinued operations are 
stated on the basis of the lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Discontinued 
operations are presented separately in the income statement and cash flow statement.  
In accordance with IFRs 5, fixed assets related to discontinued operations will no longer be  
depreciated and amortized after the classification as held for sale. 
For more information on discontinued operations see note 9. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
Corbion makes use of accounting estimates and judgments. Described below are the estimates 
and judgments as at the balance sheet date that carry a substantial risk of a material adjustment 
to the book value of assets and liabilities in the next financial year. 

acquisitions 
Corbion has a process in place to identify all assets and liabilities acquired, including intangible 
fixed assets. the judgments made in identifying all acquired assets, determining the estimated 
fair value assigned to each class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well as asset lives, 
can materially impact the results of operations. estimated fair values are based on infor mation 
available around the acquisition date and on expectations and assumptions of anticipated  
discounted cash flows that have been assessed as reasonable by Corbion. For more information  
on acquisitions see note 24. 

goodwill impairment 
every year, Corbion tests the goodwill based on the higher of fair value less cost to sell and the 
value-in-use method. the value-in-use is calculated on the basis of estimates and judgments of the 
expected cash flows which are discounted on a WACC basis. For a description of the main estimates, 
valuation assumptions, and a sensitivity analysis of the applied assumptions see note 12. 

(in)tangible fixed assets 
(In)tangible fixed assets are tested for sustained impairment if there is an indication of possible 
impairment. A key factor is the recoverable amount which is calculated on the basis of estimates 
and assumptions of anticipated discounted cash flows, on the one hand, and an estimate of the 
fair value less cost to sell, on the other. 

pension and early retirement schemes 
Actuarial calculations are used to determine provisions for group personnel arrangements and 
net receivables or obligations from group pension plans. these calculations use assumptions in 
respect of future developments in salary, mortality, staff turnover, return on investments et  
cetera. Changes to these estimates and assumptions can lead to actuarial gains and losses which 
are recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. For more information  
on the applied assumptions see note 20. 

taxes 
Corbion is subject to various tax systems across the world. estimates and judgments are used to 
determine the tax items in the financial statements. Interpretation differences in tax liabilities are 
also taken into account. For more information on taxes see note 21. 
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3 Consolidated inCome statement beFore one-oFF Costs 

the consolidated income statement for financial years 2013 and 2012 from continuing operations 
before one-off costs (non-IFRs financial measures) can be presented as follows. 

2013 2012 (restated)

Before one-
off costs

One-off 
costs

Total Before one-
off costs

One-off 
costs

Total

net sales 743 6 743 6 753.7 753.7

Costs of raw materials and consumables -378 2 -378 2 -389.6 -389.6

production costs -122 7 -0 1 -122 8 -123.3 -0.9 -124.2

Warehousing and distribution costs -39 6 -39 6 -41.6 -0.1 -41.7

gross profit 203.1 -0.1 203.0 199.2 -1.0 198.2

selling expenses -55 6 -1 2 -56 8 -52.9 -0.2 -53.1

Research and development costs -25 8 -25 8 -19.3 -0.1 -19.4

General and administrative expenses -63 5 -17 9 -81 4 -71.2 -16.9 -88.1

operating result 58.2 -19.2 39.0 55.8 -18.2 37.6

less: depreciation/amortization/impairment (in)

tangible fixed assets 41 0 1 3 42 3 43.2 7.9 51.1

ebitda 99.2 -17.9 81.3 99.0 -10.3 88.7

Depreciation/amortization/impairment (in)tangible

fixed assets -41 0 -1 3 -42 3 -43.2 -7.9 -51.1

operating result 58.2 -19.2 39.0 55.8 -18.2 37.6

Financial income 0 2 0 2 1.4 1.4

Financial charges -16 8 -16 8 -25.9 -25.9

Results from joint ventures and associates -1 2 -1 2 -0.1 -0.1

result before taxes from continuing operations 40.4 -19.2 21.2 31.2 -18.2 13.0

taxes -10 9 -3 1 -14 0 8.0 4.6 12.6

result after taxes from continuing operations 29.5 -22.3 7.2 39.2 -13.6 25.6

one-off cost items may occur up to and including the “operating result” item. the one-off item 
“taxes” relates to taxes on these one-off costs only. 

one-off costs are considered whenever the operating performance is impacted by an incidental 
cause outside the normal course of business. In 2013, one-off costs were recorded for the 
strategic transformation. In 2012, one-off costs were recorded for head-office restructuring  
(€ 16.7 million) and for the Relevance restructuring program (€ 1.5 million).

4 segment inFormation 

For its strategic decision-making process Corbion distinguishes between the Biobased Food 
Ingredients and Biochemicals segments. the unallocated item of the total continued operations 
mainly comprises central activities. As a result of the divestment of the Bakery supplies  
businesses prior year segmentation has been restated. 

In the Biobased Food Ingredients segment, our differentiated portfolio of biobased food  
ingredients combined with our leading edge fermentation technology, blending capability, deep 
end market understanding, and strong customer relationships make us a unique player in the 
industry. We hold leading positions in various markets such as bakery and meat, and are  
moving into leadership positions in other markets as well. our portfolio is tailored around food 
integrity: natural solutions that enhance the consumer experience of products from creation  
to consumption, by prolonging freshness and providing safe, and healthy food.  
In the Biochemicals segment, our biobased chemicals, chemicals derived from renewable  
resources such as sugar, starch, or carbohydrates, are a sustainable alternative to fossil-based 
chemicals in various applications. our biobased products offer a mix of increased performance  



   73Corbion AnnuAl RepoRt 2013 notes to tHe ConsolIDAteD FInAnCIAl stAteMents

at competitive prices and with a reduced carbon footprint. We are constantly searching for new 
building blocks and molecules in order to secure future revenue growth and remain competitive  
in the long term.
 

segment information by business area 
Biobased Food Unallocated Corbion

Ingredients Biochemicals (central activities) continuing operations

 2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012

income statement information

net sales 566 0 579.7 177 6 174.0 743 6 753.7

operating result 80 0 80.5 -1 5 2.1 -39 5 -45.0 39 0 37.6

one-off costs included in operating result 2 8 1.2 0 5 0.4 15 9 16.6 19 2 18.2

alternative non-iFrs performance measures

eBItDA excluding one-off costs 105 7 106.9 15 9 18.1 -22 4 -26.0 99 2 99.0

ratios alternative non-iFrs

performance measures  

eBItDA margin % 18 2 18.2 8 7 10.2 10 9 11.8

eBItDA margin % excluding one-off costs 18 7 18.4 9 0 10.4 13 3 13.1

Corbion generates almost all of its revenues from the sale of goods. 

Information on the use of alternative non-IFRs performance measures 
In the above table and elsewhere in the financial statements a number of non-IFRs performance 
measures is presented. Management is of the opinion that these so-called alternative performance 
measures might be useful for the readers of these financial statements. Corbion management 
uses these performance measures to make financial, operational, and strategic decisions and 
evaluate performance of the segments. the alternative performance measures can be calculated 
as follows: 
• eBItDA is the operating result before depreciation, amortization, and impairment of (in)tangible 

fixed assets 
• eBItDA margin is eBItDA divided by net sales x 100
 

segment information by geographical region
Net sales Non-current assets

2013 2012 2013 2012

the netherlands 83 4 59.4 135 2 109.2

Rest of europe 57 0 75.1 36 0 18.3

north America 479 8 492.5 135 2 143.6

other countries 123 4 126.7 113 1 135.3

Corbion total operations 743.6 753.7 419.5 406.4

the above information is based on the geographical location of the assets. non-current assets 
exclude those relating to deferred tax assets. 
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5 payroll and soCial insuranCe 

2013 2012 (restated)

payroll 110 2 104.1

pension premiums – defined benefit pension plans 4 3 6.7

pension premiums – defined contribution pension plans 9 2 3.8

other social insurance 11 6 11.0

share-based remuneration 0 8 0.9

total 136.1 126.5

6 depreCiation/amortization oF (in)tangible Fixed assets 

2013 2012

Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment 36 2 37.2

Amortization of intangible fixed assets 4 8 6.0

total 41.0 43.2

7 FinanCial inCome and Charges 

2013 2012

Interest income -0 2 -0.1

Interest charges 12 7 25.3

exchange rate differences -2 5 -0.3

Fluctuations in fair value of derivatives 6 3 -0.6

other 0 3 0.2

total 16.6 24.5

 

8 taxes 

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total

 2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012

Current tax 19 0 -8.3 12 7 19.3 31 7 11.0

Deferred tax -5 0 -4.3 -0 1 -40.8 -5 1 -45.1

tax charge (income) 14.0 -12.6 12.6 -21.5 26.6 -34.1

For calculation of taxes on discontinued operations see note 9. 
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Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total

 2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012

result before taxes 21.2 13.0 9.6 -112.4 30.8 -99.4

Applicable tax charge at average

statutory tax rate 6 9 4.7 4 6 -27.4 11 5 -22.6

Income not subject to tax -10 6 -10.1 -6 6 -1.1 -17 2 -11.2

expenses not deductible for tax

purposes 7 3 3.5 8 6 1.7 15 9 5.2

effect of the reversal of tax assets 6 3 2.0 6 5 0.7 12 8 2.7

Additions/releases of tax provision 3 4 -2.3 -0.4 3 4 -2.7

prior years effects 0 8 -10.4 0 4 -4.6 1 2 -15.0

effects of recycling -0 1 -8 4 -8 5

effects of goodwill impairment 7 5 9.5 7 5 9.5

tax charge (income) 14.0 -12.6 12.6 -21.5 26.6 -34.1

average tax rate on operations 66.0% -96.9% 131.3% 19.1% 86.4% 34.3%

the average statutory tax rate is the average of the statutory tax rates in the countries where 
Corbion operates, weighted on the basis of the result from ordinary activities before taxes in each 
of these countries. 

the realization of deferred tax assets depends on the expected future profitability. Based on 
management’s expectations the valuation allowance has been increased. 

the adjustment in respect of the effects of goodwill impairment reflects the effect of impairing 
goodwill which is not deductible for tax purposes. 

the adjustment in respect of prior years reflects the effects of changes to relevant regulations, 
facts, or other factors compared to those used in establishing the current tax position or deferred 
tax balance in previous years. 

Breakdown of the tax charge recognized in equity 
Continuing operations Discontinued operations Total

 2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012

tax liability due to loan-related exchange

rate differences 18 7 -0.3 -10 0 1.1 8 7 0.8

tax liability due to hedge results of

financial instruments -1 6 1.3 -0 1 0.2 -1 7 1.5

tax charge due to remeasurement of

defined benefit obligation 0 5 -3.8 -0 7 -9.7 -0 2 -13.5

tax charge (income) recognized in equity 17.6 -2.8 -10.8 -8.4 6.8 -11.2

9 disContinued operations 

Divestment of the Bakery supplies businesses 
on 3 July 2013, Corbion announced the successfull completion of the divestment of its Bakery 
supplies businesses to affiliates of Rhône Capital. the Bakery supplies businesses have been 
divested for an enterprise Value of € 1,050 million.  

the Bakery supplies businesses hold strong market positions in europe and north America. 
However, in the current environment of expected continuation of volatility in raw material costs 
and pressure on consumer spending, further market consolidation in the bakery segment is 
essential for a prosperous future. the high-growth opportunities Corbion has identified for its 
biobased product activities require significant investments as well. In the longer term Corbion does 
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not have sufficient financial resources to exploit both opportunities. It is expected, given the 
current market environment and the requirement to maximize shareholder value, that the Bakery 
supplies businesses will be of greater value to another owner, and as such better positioned to 
participate in this consolidation. the businesses divested were part of the Bakery supplies europe 
and Bakery products north America segments. 

Details of the assets and liabilities disposed of, and the calculation of the profit or loss on  
disposal, are disclosed in note 24.
 

profit for the year from discontinued operations
2013 (6 months) 2012

operations

net sales 1,244 1 2,562.0

Costs of raw materials and consumables -773 4 -1,588.9

production costs -147 0 -328.7

Warehousing and distribution costs -100 2 -207.5

gross profit 223.5 436.9

selling expenses -92 6 -208.3

Research and development costs -10 2 -22.2

General and administrative expenses -82 4 -154.1

Impairment of goodwill -165.0

other proceeds 0.3

operating result 38.3 -112.4

Financial income 0.1

Financial charges -0.3

Results from joint ventures and associates 0 3 0.2

result before taxes 38.6 -112.4

taxes -20 7 21.5

result operations after taxes 17.9 -90.9

divestment 

IFRs 5 remeasurement -30 0

Divestment result (gross) 6 2

Recycled translation reserve -5 2

taxes 8 1

result divestment after taxes -20.9

result after taxes -3.0 -90.9

other comprehensive results to be recycled:

translation reserve -9 8 -3.0

Hedge reserve -0 3 0.9

taxes relating to other comprehensive results to be recycled 10 1 -1.3

total other comprehensive results to be recycled 0.0 -3.4

other comprehensive results not to be recycled:

Defined benefit arrangements -2 7 -34.5

taxes relating to other comprehensive results not to be recycled 0 7 9.7

total other comprehensive results not to be recycled -2.0 -24.8

total comprehensive result after taxes -5.0 -119.1
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the income statement is based on a stand-alone situation of the discontinued operations adjust-
ed for elimination of intercompany transactions and reallocation of other incremental expenses 
directly associated with the discontinued operations. net effects are opposite presented in 
continuing operations. taxes on these adjustments are adjusted as well and calculated on the 
basis of the applicable nominal tax rate. Also changes in overall deferred tax liabilities and assets 
positions as well as current income tax positions due to the classification as discontinued opera-
tions as at the end of 2012 and the associated legal restructuring are taken into account in taxes 
in the income statement. 

Cash flows from discontinued operations 
2013 2012

Cash flow from operating activities

Result after taxes -3 0 -90.9

Adjusted for:

•	Depreciation/amortization	of	fixed	assets 66.4

•	Impairment	of	fixed	assets 30 0 169.4

•	Result	from	divestments	of	fixed	assets -1.5

•	Result	from	purchase/sale	of	group	companies	and	activities -6 2 -0.3

•	Interest	income -0.1

•	Interest	expense 0.2

•	Exchange	rate	differences 5 2 0.1

•	Results	from	joint	ventures	and	associates -0 3 -0.2

•	Taxes 12 6 -21.6

Cash flow from operating activities before movements in working capital 38.3 121.5

Movement in provisions -9 7 -6.0

Movements in working capital:

•	Receivables -25 3 9.6

•	Inventories -15 3 4.0

•	Non-interest-bearing	current	liabilities 2 2 5.3

Cash flow from business operations -9.8 134.4

Interest received 0.1

Interest paid -0.1

tax paid on profit -14 4 -9.8

Cash flow from operating activities -24.2 124.6

Cash flow from investment  activities

Acquisition of group companies -4.7

sale of group companies 873 5

Repayment other financial assets 0.4

Capital expenditure on (in)tangible fixed assets -7 8 -21.4

Divestment of (in)tangible fixed assets 0.1

Cash flow from investment activities 865.7 -25.6

the cash flow statement is also based on a stand-alone situation of the discontinued operations 
with the following adjustments: the adjustments in the income statement are considered to be 
cashed immediately and the intercompany cash flows are eliminated. 
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10 earnings per Common share 

earnings per common share and earnings per common share from continuing and discontinued 
operations are calculated by dividing the profit available for holders of common shares by the 
weighted average number of outstanding common shares in Corbion nv.  
Diluted earnings per common share are calculated by dividing the profit available for holders of 
common shares by the weighted average number of outstanding common shares in Corbion nv 
adjusted for the effects of potential exercise of share rights by the Board of Management.
 

2013 2012 (restated)

result after taxes 4.2 -65.3

Minus: dividend financing preference shares 2 8 3.7

total profit available for holders of common shares (a) 1.4 -69.0

Minus: profit discontinued operations (B) -3 0 -90.9

Continuing operations profit available for holders of common shares (C) 4.4 21.9

Weighted average number of outstanding common shares (d) 70.1 71.9

plus: common shares related to share rights 0 2 0.1

Weighted average number of outstanding common shares after dilution (e) 70.3 72.0

per common share in euros

Basic earnings from continuing operations (C/D) 0 06 0.30

Basic earnings from discontinued operations (B/D) -0 04 -1.26

Basic earnings (A/D) 0 02 -0.96

Diluted earnings from continuing operations (C/e) 0 06 0.30

Diluted earnings from discontinued operations (B/e) -0 04 -1.26

Diluted earnings (A/e) 0 02 -0.96
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11 property, plant, and equipment 

Land Buildings Machinery 
and 

equipment

Other fixed 
assets

Under           
construc-

tion

Not em-
ployed in 

operations

Total

1 January 2012
Acquisition prices 46.5 303.5 916.4 80.9 77.9 1,425.2

Cumulative depreciation -129.6 -652.6 -60.0 -842.2

book value 46.5 173.9 263.8 20.9 77.9 583.0

Movements
Capital expenditure 3.3 14.4 18.1 4.1 27.0 66.9

Divestments -0.1 -1.1 -0.5 -1.7

exchange rate differences -0.2 -0.8 -0.2 0.8 -0.4

Acquisition of group companies 0.2 3.5 3.7

Depreciation -11.9 -59.7 -9.6 -81.2

Impairment -6.8 -2.3 -9.1

other 0.3 12.0 51.8 7.2 -71.3

Reclassification as assets held for sale -31.2 -85.0 -125.2 -9.4 -7.4 -258.2

net movement in book value -27.8 -78.0 -112.6 -10.7 -50.9 -280.0

31 December 2012
Acquisition prices 18 7 164 8 499 1 42 8 27 0 752 4

Cumulative depreciation -68 9 -347 9 -32 6 -449 4

book value 18.7 95.9 151.2 10.2 27.0 303.0

Movements
Capital expenditure 0 1 14 9 6 0 45 8 66 8

Divestments -0 5 -1 7 -0 9 -0 5 -0 4 -4 0

exchange rate differences -1 1 -5 9 -9 3 -0 5 -1 5 -18 3

Acquisition of group companies 0 2 0 2

Depreciation -4 9 -26 7 -4 6 -36 2

Impairment -1 0 -0 3 -1 3

other 1 3 0 3 7 6 0 7 -9 9

net movement in book value -0.3 -13.1 -14.5 1.1 34.0 7.2

31 December 2013
Acquisition prices 18 4 139 7 479 3 46 6 61 0 745 0

Cumulative depreciation -56 9 -342 6 -35 3 -434 8

book value 18.4 82.8 136.7 11.3 61.0 310.2

Depreciation rates 2 5 - 4% 6 7-12 5% 20-50% 6 7-12 5%

the property, plant, and equipment item includes fixed assets with a book value of € 0.4 million 
(31 December 2012: € 0.4 million) which are financed through a financial lease. 

the impairment recorded for buildings (part of the unallocated segment) relates to a lower fair 
value for office premises which are partly vacant.  
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12 intangible Fixed assets 

Goodwill Customer 
base

Brands and 
licenses

Research 
and devel-

opment 
costs

Non-com-
pete agree-

ments

Other 
intangible 

fixed as-
sets

Total

1 January 2012
Acquisition prices 1,036.8 194.8 39.8 32.7 16.9 25.6 1,346.6

Cumulative amortization -355.3 -36.3 -9.7 -10.1 -12.6 -10.2 -434.2

book value 681.5 158.5 30.1 22.6 4.3 15.4 912.4

Movements
Capital expenditure 0.2 4.8 4.3 9.3

Acquisition of group companies 5.4 0.5 17.7 23.6

exchange rate differences -6.2 -1.5 -0.2 -0.3 -0.2 -8.4

Amortization -12.3 -4.5 -3.5 -2.9 -5.2 -28.4

Impairment -165.0 -3.2 -168.2

Reclassification as assets held for sale -462.0 -137.9 -19.5 -17.2 -10.3 -646.9

net movement in book value -627.8 -151.2 -6.3 -16.2 -2.9 -14.6 -819.0

31 December 2012
Acquisition prices 56 6 13 7 26 2 13 2 7 9 3 0 120 6

Cumulative amortization -2 9 -6 4 -2 4 -6 8 -6 5 -2 2 -27 2

book value 53.7 7.3 23.8 6.4 1.4 0.8 93.4

Movements
Capital expenditure 3 3 5 3 0 1 8 7

Acquisition of group companies 0 3 2 6 2 9

exchange rate differences -2 1 -0 3 -0 3 -2 7

Amortization -1 2 -1 0 -0 8 -1 4 -0 4 -4 8

Impairment

other 0 2 -0 2

net movement in book value -1.8 -1.5 4.8 4.3 -1.4 -0.3 4.1

31 December 2013
Acquisition prices 54 7 13 1 32 0 18 3 7 5 2 9 128 5

Cumulative amortization -2 8 -7 3 -3 4 -7 6 -7 5 -2 4 -31 0

book value 51.9 5.8 28.6 10.7 0.5 97.5

Amortization rate 7 - 10% 5 - 10% 33 3% 20-60% 33 3%

goodwill impairment test 
Goodwill is allocated to Corbion’s cash generating units (CGus) identified as the operating seg-
ments. For Corbion the operating segments Biobased Food Ingredients and Biochemicals are the 
levels to which goodwill of Corbion should be allocated for the purposes of impairment testing. 

Main reasons for this approach are: 
•	 It represents a non-arbitrary, reasonable, and consistent basis for the allocation of goodwill.
•	 the allocation is also in line with the expected synergies at the time of an acquisition with 

benefits for more than one entity. 
•	 the allocation represents the lowest level where goodwill is monitored by the Board of 

Management, while not being larger than the operating segments. 
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Breakdown of the book value of the goodwill by segment 

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

Biobased Food Ingredients 50 52

Biochemicals 2 2

Continuing operations 52 54

Assets classified as held for sale 462

total operations 52 516

the recoverable amount of both segments is determined using a value-in-use method. the main 
assumptions used are derived from the financial and business plans for 2013 until 2017 which 
have been approved by the Board of Management. From 2017 onwards a stable growth of 1% is 
taken into account in combination with a relatively constant cost structure.  

the future cash flows are discounted on the basis of WACC before tax.  

overview of the WaCC used

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

pre-tax post-tax pre-tax post-tax

Biobased Food Ingredients 14 5% 10 7% 12.6% 9.7%

Biochemicals 13 1% 11 0% 12.6% 9.7%

In 2012, the WACC was calculated using different CGus. the Biobased Food Ingredients and  
Biochemicals segments were partly included in the Bakery products north America segment  
and partly included in the purac segment. As a result of the divestment of the Bakery supplies 
businesses, the CGus changed significantly. the WACC for 2012 shown above reflects the purac’s 
WACC of 2012 and has been included for comparison purposes only. 

In addition, sensitivity analyses have been carried out in respect of the assumptions using: 
• A terminal value growth of 0% 
• A discount rate of +1%. 
Both assumptions applicable at the same time would not lead to any impairment. 

Given the above assumptions and the outcome of analyses the Board of Management has con-
cluded that the value-in-use of both segments is not lower than the book value of the segment 
including goodwill. 

13  loans, reCeivables, and other 

Long-term 
receivables and 

other

as at 1 January 2012 9.9

Investment 0.8

Income statement -0.1

Repayments -6.6

Reclassification as assets held for sale -0.4

as at 31 december 2012 3.6

Investment 1.3

as at 31 december 2013 4.9

the book value of the long-term receivables does not significantly deviate from the fair value.  
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14 Joint ventures and assoCiates 

Joint ventures Associates Total

as at 1 January 2012 7.3 1.8 9.1

Investment 4.5 0.5 5.0

Income statement 0.3 -0.2 0.1

exchange rate differences -0.4 -0.4

Reclassification as assets held for sale -7.2 -0.2 -7.4

as at 31 december 2012 4.5 1.9 6.4

Investment 1.2 0.5 1.7

Income statement -0.6 -0.6 -1.2

as at 31 december 2013 5.1 1.8 6.9

the group’s share in the results of its principal joint ventures and associates, all of which are 
unlisted, and its aggregated assets (including goodwill) and liabilities, is as follows:  

Assets 
including 
goodwill

Liabilities Net sales Income 
statement

Interest % 
held

succinity GmbH 1.8 0.5 50%

Bioprocess pilot Facility bv 21.1 17.3 1.6 -0.6 31%

total joint ventures 22.9 17.8 1.6 -0.6

Dutch technology Fund I bv 2.1 1.2 -0.3 33%

Icos Cleantech Fund II bv 1.3 0.4 -0.3 24%

total associates 3.4 1.6 -0.6

total joint ventures and associates 26.3 19.4 1.6 -1.2

15 inventories 

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

Raw materials, consumables, technical materials, and packaging 28 1 30.3

Work in progress 9 6 10.5

Finished product 60 5 66.0

Impairment provision -1 1 -2.2

total 97.1 104.6

movements in inventories impairment provision 

2013 2012

as at 1 January -2.2 -11.1

Additions -0 2 -1.3

Releases 1 5 0.9

use -0 2 1.7

Reclassification as assets held for sale 7.6

as at 31 december -1.1 -2.2
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16 reCeivables 

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

trade receivables 85 8 83.6

Impairment provision -2 0 -2.1

other receivables 6 2 4.9

Derivatives 0 2 1.7

prepayments and accrued income 6 9 6.3

total 97.1 94.4

Remaining term of receivables is less than one year. the face value of the receivables (excluding 
derivatives) does not significantly deviate from the fair value. 

the credit risk associated with trade receivables is managed by the local finance managers. 
periodically, each entity reports the expired credit terms and the movements in the provisions for 
trade receivables to the Board of Management. the maximum credit risk in respect of trade 
receivables is € 85.8 million (2012: € 83.6 million). 

trade receivables are not interest-bearing and generally have an average term of credit of 30-90 
days. the impairment provision is based on expired terms of credit and defined individually. the 
trade receivables item includes an amount of € 7.1 million in receivables with expired terms of 
credit which are expected to be received and are therefore not provided for. 

breakdown of expired credit terms 

Total < 30 days 30-60 days 60-90 days > 90 days

Biobased Food Ingredients 5.4 4.3 0.5 0.2 0.4

Biochemicals 1.7 1.3 0.2 0.1 0.1

total 7.1 5.6 0.7 0.3 0.5

movements in trade receivables impairment provision

2013 2012

as at 1 January -2.1 -12.6

Additions/releases 0 1 -4.0

use -0 1 3.6

exchange rate differences 0 1

Reclassification as assets held for sale 10.9

as at 31 december -2.0 -2.1

the additions/releases of the trade receivables impairment provision are recognized as general 
and administrative expenses. 

17 Cash and Cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes € 50.0 million in Dutch treasury certificates, € 23.0 million 
money market funds, and € 10.0 million short-term deposits (31 December 2012: € 0 million). the 
cash and cash equivalents are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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18 equity 

share capital 
As at 31 December 2013 the authorized share capital totaled € 50 million, consisting of 182 million 
common shares with a nominal value of € 0.25 each and 18 million financing preference shares with 
a nominal value of € 0.25 each, divided into three series of six million named FpA, FpB, and FpC. 

the series of financing preference shares have the following dividend percentages and dividend 
review dates. 

Finprefs Dividend First dividend 
review date

Review interval

FpA series 2.67% 1 August 2017 five years

FpB series 2.67% 1 August 2017 five years

FpC series 6.40% 1 August 2017 five years

Holders of financing preference shares have priority over holders of common shares regarding 
dividend payments and liquidation proceeds. 
the average dividend until the first dividend review date on outstanding financing preference 
shares is 3.93% as at 31 December 2013. 

movements in number of issued shares 

Common FPA FPB FPC

as at 1 January 2013 69,914,711 852,512 852,512 1,278,770

stock dividend 2,025,231

as at 31 december 2013 71,939,942 852,512 852,512 1,278,770

movements in number of shares with dividend rights

Common FPA FPB FPC

as at 31 december 2012 69,909,876 852,512 852,512 1,278,770

Acquired shares -10,819,685 -409,513

share-based remuneration 61,493

stock dividend 2,025,231

as at 31 december 2013 61,176,915 852,512 852,512 869,257

movements in treasury stock common shares  

Number Nominal amount 
(in euros)

as at 1 January 2013 4,835 1,209

Acquired shares 10,819,685 2,704,921

share-based remuneration -61,493 -15,373

as at 31 december 2013 10,763,027 2,690,757

As at 31 December 2013, Corbion has a treasury stock of 10,763,027 common shares at its 
disposal with a nominal value of € 0.25 each (representing 14.4% of the total share capital issued) 
at an average acquisition price of € 17.36. Further, Corbion has a treasury stock of 409,513 
financing preference shares with a nominal value of € 0.25 each (representing 0.5% of the total 
share capital issued) at an average acquisition price of € 23.46. 
treasury stock shares have no dividend rights. 
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share movement: acquired common shares 
During the report year the company acquired a total of 10,819,685 common shares with a nominal 
value of € 0.25 each at a total acquisition price of € 200,910,064. 
the costs of € 200,910,064 (2012: € 370,885) arising from the acquired shares during the report 
year, have been charged to the reserves. 

share movement: stock dividend 
During the report year the company placed at the common shareholders’ disposal a stock dividend 
totaling 2,025,231 shares (2012: 2,256,012) with a nominal value of € 0.25 each.  
the total nominal value of € 506,308 (2012: € 564,003) arising from the stock dividend during the 
report year has been charged to the share premium reserve.  

share movement: share-based remuneration 
During the report year the company transferred a total of 61,493 shares (2012: 98,800) with a 
nominal value of € 0.25 each pursuant to share-based remuneration arrangements.  

share-based remuneration arrangements: board of management 
A share plan is in place for the Board of Management. two current members of the Board of 
Management have a total of 177,776 unvested share rights in the company as at 31 December 
2013 (2012: 160,517). the nominal amount of the shares which are claimable under unvested 
share rights equals € 44,444 per that date. 

share-based remuneration arrangements: management 
Reward plans (“phantom plan”) are available for certain members of management. participants in 
these plans are awarded a provisional cash payment. Depending on the total shareholder Return 
(tsR) of Corbion compared with the peer group and/or continued employment after a period of 
three to four years, the actual gross amount if any is determined and paid. 

A share buying program is in place for managers who also participate in the “phantom plan.”  
on 1 october of the year following the calendar year in which participants have acquired shares,  
a gross cash payment worth 30% of the fair value on this date of the shares acquired is made to 
the participants. 

Certain members of management receive a package of Corbion shares worth 9.5% of their fixed 
salary (commitment award). they may sell as many shares as needed to pay the income tax 
obligations. the acquired shares shall be held until the end of their employment at Corbion. 

movements in number of unvested shares: board of management 

Year of allocation Total as at   
31-12-2012

Allocated in  
2013

Vested and  
expired in 2013

Total as at   
31-12-2013

2010 44,048 44,048

2011 40,551 40,551

2012 75,918 75,918

2013 61,307 61,307

2013 7,871 7,871

total 160,517 69,178 51,919 177,776
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valuation allocated unvested shares 2013: board of management 
the fair value of the above-mentioned performance-related shares allocated in 2013 was € 21.05 
per share (2012: € 15.91). the fair value is estimated by using the Black & scholes model and the 
assumptions set forth below.
 

2013 2012

Risk-free interest rate 0 44% 0.98%

expected dividend gains 0 0

expected volatility in share price 32% 32%

term 3 years 3 years

movements in number of blocked commitment award shares: total management

Total as at 
31-12-2012

Allocated in  
2013

Released in  
2013

Total as at  
31-12-2013

total 73,084 9,574 16,586 66,072

other reserves 

Movements in legal reserves

Translation 
reserve

Hedge  
reserve

Development 
costs

Share plan 
reserve

Total

as at 1 January 2012 38.2 -8.2 22.6 1.3 53.9

•	Net	investment	hedge	

   exchange rate differences foreign currency loan 7.8 7.8

   tax effect -1.9 -1.9

•	Translation	difference	

   Foreign group companies -15.4 -15.4

   tax effect 1.2 1.2

•	Cash	flow	hedge

   Fluctuations in fair value derivatives 5.1 5.1

   tax effect -1.6 -1.6

•	Share-based	remuneration	charged	to	result 0.9 0.9

•	Share-based	remuneration	transfers -1.3 -1.3

•	Movement	in	capitalization	of	development	costs 1.0 1.0

•	Other	transfers 0.2 0.2

as at 31 december 2012 29.9 -4.7 23.6 1.1 49.9

•	Net	investment	hedge	

   exchange rate differences foreign currency loan 3 6 3 6

   tax effect -0 8 -0 8

•	Translation	difference	

   Foreign group companies -26 1 -26 1

   tax effect -4 7 -4 7

•	Cash	flow	hedge

   Fluctuations in fair value derivatives 5 9 5 9

   tax effect -1 5 -1 5

•	Share-based	remuneration	charged	to	result 0 8 0 8

•	Share-based	remuneration	transfers -1 1 -1 1

•	Movement	in	capitalization	of	development	costs -12 9 -12 9

•	Other	transfers 0 3 0 3

as at 31 december 2013 1.9 -0.3 10.7 1.1 13.4
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In specific circumstances legal reserves must be created in accordance with part 9, Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code. the legal reserves comprise the translation reserve, hedge reserve, and develop-
ment costs reserve. In case a legal reserve has a negative value no payments can be made from 
the retained earnings up to the level of the negative value(s). the positive legal reserves as at  
31 December 2013 amount to € 12.6 million. 

A reserve for non-transferable profits is not applicable as Corbion has no restrictions to transfer 
profits from its operations in the different countries. 

the effective portion of foreign exchange rate differences on loans is 100% and recorded in the 
translation reserve.

19 provisions 

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

pension and early retirement schemes 10 9 18.1

other long-term employee benefit commitments 1 1 1.5

Reorganization and restructuring 9 2 13.6

other 0 4

total 21.6 33.2

movements in provisions

Pension and 
early retirement 

schemes

Other long-term 
employee benefit 

commitments

Reorganization 
and restructuring

Other Total

as at 1 January 2013 18.1 1.5 13.6 33.2

Addition charged to result 5 8 0 3 8 5 0 4 15 0

Release credited to result -1 5 -0 5 -3 6 -5 6

equity movements -3 5 -3 5

Withdrawal for intended purpose -20 9 -0 1 -9 3 -30 3

exchange rate differences 0 2 -0 1 0 1

Acquisition/divestments

liabilities directly associated with

assets held for sale in prior year,

but not sold 12 7 12 7

as at 31 december 2013 10.9 1.1 9.2 0.4 21.6

short-term part included

in provisions

as at 31 december 2013 9.2 0.4 9.6

pension and early retirement schemes  
pension and early retirement schemes relate to post-employment defined benefit arrangements. 
For more information on pensions see note 20. 
 
other long-term employee benefit commitments 
other long-term employee benefit commitments relate mainly to anniversary commitments, 
past-service commitments, conditional incentive plans, and health insurance.
 
reorganization and restructuring 
this provision relates mainly to the Relevance restructuring program and the divestment project. 
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other  
the other provisions relate mainly to loss-making contracts, legal disputes, and other litigation risks.  

20 pensions 

In 2013 three settlements of defined benefit plans took place. the pension liabilities and assets of 
the two Dutch pension schemes were transferred to the industry-wide pension fund “pensioen-
fonds voor Grafische Bedrijven” (pGB). A uK plan was transferred to an insurance company.  
After these transfers, Corbion will only pay fixed amounts for these plans and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to 
cover all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.  
pension calculations are performed by professional actuarial service firms. the input for the 
actuarial assumptions is based on advice from an independent actuarial service firm. 
 
As per year-end, Corbion sponsors defined benefit pension plans in the usA and uK. Both plans are 
closed schemes. the plans are based on final pay and are wholly funded. All plans have been 
established in accordance with the legal requirements of the countries involved. the defined 
benefit plans are administered by a separate fund that is legally separated from the entity. the 
board of the pension fund is composed of an equal number of representatives from both employ-
ers and (former) employees. the defined benefit obligation as per year-end consisted for the vast 
majority of the uK plan.  
 
summary of the main uK scheme benefits:
•	 the normal Retirement Age (nRA) is 65; however, section 1 members are able to take their 

benefits in respect of pre 1 october 2003 service unreduced from age 60.
•	 pensions in deferment increase in line with statutory revaluation with the exception of pre  

1 october 2003 benefits for section 1 members, which have an underpin linked to the level  
of pension increases in payment (which are linked to RpI).

•  pensions in payment increase in line with RpI capped at 5% for benefits in respect of pre  
1 January 2006 service and RpI capped at 2.5% for benefits in respect of post 31 December 
2005 service. 

the uK pension scheme is in a deficit situation. For this plan a recovery plan has been agreed  
for which Corbion will contribute additional funding payments of GBp 1.1 million per year with an 
increase of 5% per year payable until 2021 or until the scheme is no longer in a deficit situation. 
 
the plans typically expose the group to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk, 
and longevity risk. 

• Investment risk 
the present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate 
determined by reference to high-quality corporate bond yields; if the return on plan assets is 
below this rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plans have a relatively balanced 
investment in mainly equity securities and debt instruments.

• Interest risk 
A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this will be partly 
offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments.

• longevity risk 
the present value of the defined benefit liability is calculated by reference to the best 
estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment.  
An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability. 
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breakdown of the amounts recognized in respect of defined benefit pension plans in the  
income statement and statement of comprehensive income 

2013 2012 (restated)

Current service costs 1 5 14.5

Contribution by employees -0.9

net interest expense 0 5 4.5

Gains/losses from significant settlements 2 3

total pension costs recognized in income statement 4.3 18.1

remeasurements on the net defined benefit liability:

•	Return	on	plan	assets	(excluding	amounts	included	in	interest	income) 2 0 -39.7

•	Actuarial	gains/losses	arising	from	changes	in	demographic	assumptions 1.9

•	Actuarial	gains/losses	arising	from	changes	in	financial	assumptions 10 1 96.7

•	Actuarial	gains/losses	arising	from	experience	adjustments -0 6 0.4

•	Adjustments	for	restrictions	on	the	defined	benefit	assets -15 0 -11.5

total pension costs recognized in other comprehensive income -3.5 47.8

total 0.8 65.9

the amounts recognized in the statement of financial position are determined as follows

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012 
(restated)

As at 01-01-2012 
(restated)

present value of defined benefit obligations 74 1 435.7 581.7

Fair value of plan assets 64 0 432.8 498.3

Funded status 10.1 2.9 83.4

Restrictions on assets recognized 0 8 15.2

net liability 10.9 18.1 83.4

movements in defined benefit obligation

2013 2012 (restated)

as at 1 January 435.7 581.7

Current service costs 1 5 14.5

Interest charges 6 0 26.1

pension payments -10 4 -31.1

remeasurement (gains)/losses:

•	Actuarial	gains/losses	arising	from	changes	in	demographic	assumptions 1.9

•	Actuarial	gains/losses	arising	from	changes	in	financial	assumptions 10 1 96.7

•	Actuarial	gains/losses	arising	from	experience	adjustments -0 6 0.4

significant curtailments

significant settlements -429 4

exchange rate differences -0 7 1.5

liabilities directlty associated with assets held for sale -256.0

liabilities directlty associated with assets held for sale in prior year, but not sold  61 9 

as at 31 december  74.1  435.7 
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movements in fair value of plan assets 

2013 2012 (restated)

as at 1 January  432.8  498.3 

Interest income  5 9  22.9 

pension payments  -10 2  -26.6

Contributions from the employer  20 7  14.9 

Contributions from plan participants  0.9 

Remeasurement gains/(losses):

•	Return	on	plan	assets	(excluding	amounts	included	in	interest	income)  -2 0  39.6 

significant settlements  -431 7

exchange rate differences -0 7  1.3 

liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale  -118.5

liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale in prior year, but not sold  49 2 

as at 31 december  64.0  432.8 

the actual return on plan assets was € 3.9 million positive (2012: € 62.5 million positive). 

the investment srategy is based on the composition of the obligations of the pension schemes. 
Based on Asset liability Management models analyses have been performed on a regular basis to 
define the investment portfolio. At year-end the asset allocation was as follows:
 

asset categories of plan assets  

2013 2012

Quoted equity securities 43 6 97.1

unquoted equity securities 0 2

Quoted debt securities 17 6 323.5

unquoted debt securities

Quoted real estate 12.2

unquoted real estate

other 2 6

total assets 64.0 432.8

the main weighted average actuarial assumptions

2013 2012

Discount rate 4 3% 3.6%

salary growth rate 2.7%

pension growth rate 2 2% 2.7%

sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumption is 

Change in  
assumption

Increase in  
assumption

Decrease in  
assumption

Discount rate 0.50%  (8.0)  7.2 

salary growth rate 0.50%

pension growth rate 0.50%  3.3  (4.7)
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the above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other 
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assump-
tions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to 
significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obliga-
tion calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been 
applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 

each year an Asset-liability-Matching study is performed in which the consequences of the 
strategic investment policies are analysed in terms of risk-and-return profiles. Investment and con-
tribution policies are integrated within this study.  

the strategic investment policy of the scheme can be summarised as follows: 
•	 A strategic asset mix comprising 70% in equities and 30% in bonds. 
•	 Interest rate risk is managed through the use of government and corporate bonds of an 

appropriate duration. 
•	 Currency risk is managed by implementing a 50% currency hedge on the global equity holding. 

the average duration of the defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2013 is 23.6 years.  

the expected contributions to the defined benefit pension plans in the coming year amount to  
€ 1.7 million. 

21 deFerred tax 

breakdown of deferred tax assets and liabilities 

2013 2012 (restated)

Deferred tax liabilities 21 2 134.5

Deferred tax assets -21 4 -44.5

as at start of financial year -0.2 90.0

tax charge in income statement -5 1 -45.1

translation differences foreign group companies 1 2

Acquisition/sale of group companies 0 6 0.2

tax charge movements in equity -2 4 -12.2

liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale -66.0

Assets held for sale 32.9

as at close of financial year -5.9 -0.2

Deferred tax liabilities 10 1 21.2

Deferred tax assets -16 0 -21.4

as at close of financial year -5.9 -0.2
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breakdown of deferred tax assets and liabilities by type 

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

Deferred tax  
assets

Deferred tax  
liabilities

Deferred tax 
assets

Deferred tax  
liabilities

property, plant, and equipment -15 6 17 4 -15.7 20.5

Intangible fixed assets -9 5 9 0 -10.1 5.9

Current assets/liabilities -0 5 4 6 -0.7 6.3

tax loss carry forward -4 5 -0.2

provisions -8 0 1 1 -9.0 2.4

other 0 1 0.4

-38.1 32.2 -35.7 35.5

netting 22 1 -22 1 14.3 -14.3

total -16.0 10.1 -21.4 21.2

the short-term part of deferred tax assets, after write-down and netting with the short-term part 
of deferred tax liabilities, amounts to € 1.9 million (2012: € 1.5 million). 

Depending on the term of anticipated realization of deferred tax assets and liabilities, these are 
netted. this may be the case for a legal entity or for a group of legal entities which are considered 
one fiscal unity. After netting deferred tax assets and liabilities are assessed and the possibilities 
of future realization are analyzed. Corbion has considered tax planning opportunities which provide 
convincing evidence to record the deferred tax assets. this may result in full or partial write-down 
of the relevant tax asset or liability. 

breakdown of deferred taxes due to tax loss carry forward

2013 2012

total tax loss carry forward 145 5 88.1

tax loss carry forward not qualified as deferred tax asset -127 5 -87.5

tax loss carry forward qualified as deferred tax asset 18 0 0.6

Average tax rate 25 0% 33.3%

deferred tax asset 4.5 0.2

expiry date of tax losses carry forward not qualified as deferred tax asset 

2013 2012

Within 5 years 6 4 3.6

Between 5 and 10 years 40 6 3.0

10 years or longer 52 7 52.8

no expiry date 27 8 28.1

tax loss carry forward not qualified as deferred tax asset 127.5 87.5
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breakdown of the tax charge arising from deferred tax assets and liabilities in the income  
statement by type

2013 2012

property, plant, and equipment -2 3 -9.4

Intangible fixed assets 4 3 -38.1

Current assets/liabilities -1 2 8.2

tax loss carry forward -6 6 -4.5

provisions 1 0

exchange rate differences loans 2 9 -0.8

Financial instruments -1 8 -0.5

other -1 4

total -5.1 -45.1

22 non-Current liabilities 

Effective interest % Average term in years

As at
 31-12-2013

As at 
31-12-2012

As at
 31-12-2013

As at 
31-12-2012

As at
 31-12-2013

As at
31-12-2012

private placement 2010 92 2 227.7 3 89 3.93 3 1 5.3

owed to credit institutions 375.4 0.63 1.5

Financial lease commitments 1 1 1.3 7 29 6.98 6 7 7.3

Derivatives 9.6 2.73 1.1

other debts 1 1 7 0

total 94.4 614.0

Weighted average 3.88 3.31 3.1 2.9

the weighted average term has been calculated on the basis of the remaining terms of the 
individual loans. 
Repayments on the above amounts are due within five years (€ 81.5 million) and after five years  
(€ 12.9 million). 

the fair value of the main long-term loans is as follows 

Balance sheet 
value as at 

31-12-2013

Fair value as at 
31-12-2013

Balance sheet 
value as at 

31-12-2012

Fair value as at 
31-12-2012

private placement 2010 92 2 94.9 227 7 254.4

owed to credit institutions 375 4 375.7

private placement 2010 
During 2013, the private placement loan was fully earmarked as a net investment hedge for all us 
dollar companies. Hence, exchange rate differences in respect of this liability are charged to the 
translation reserve in equity in 2013.  

owed to credit institutions 
the revolving credit facility is completely repaid during 2013. the company still has the ability to 
use the facility (€ 250 million) until 6 July 2014. 
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23 interest-bearing Current liabilities 

Effective interest %

As at
31-12-2013

As at
31-12-2012

As at
31-12-2013

As at
31-12-2012

owed to credit institutions

Financial lease commitments 0 1 0.1 0 83 1.24

other debts 2.3 0.11

total 0.1 2.4

Weighted average 0.83 0.14

24 aCquisitions and disposals 

acquisition 
BIRD Engineering bv 
on 7 March 2013, purac, a subsidiary of Corbion, announced that it had entered into an agreement 
to acquire BIRD engineering bv, the netherlands. 
BIRD engineering is a biotech contract research company, specifically in the field of industrial 
microbiology. BIRD engineering has experience with various micro-organisms, mostly bacteria and 
yeasts, and has expertise in the development of new strains and fermentation processes. 
the acquisition includes the intellectual property and seven key employees of BIRD engineering. 
BIRD Recruitment, a division of BIRD engineering bv was not part of the acquisition. 
the transaction has no material impact on Corbion ‘s financial position. 

preliminary acquisition figures

BIRD  
Engineering bv

net sales per year 0.0

number of employees 7

opening balance:

property, plant, and equipment 0.2

Intangible fixed assets 2.6

Deferred tax liabilities -0.6

identifiable assets minus liabilities 2.2

Goodwill 0.2

acquisition price 2.4

the goodwill generated as part of the transaction is attributable to the workforce of the acquired 
business and the synergies expected to arise after the acquisition. 

disposal 
Bakery Supplies businesses 
on 3 July 2013, Corbion divested the Bakery supplies businesses to Rhône Capital. For more 
information see note 9. 
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divestment figures

Bakery Supplies 
businesses

Consideration transferred

payment in cash  932.4 

total consideration  932.4 

property, plant, and equipment 264.7

Intangible fixed assets 618.5

loans, receivables, and other 0.4

Joint ventures and associates 7.3

Deferred tax assets 43.1

Inventories 234.4

Receivables 289.9

tax assets 1.1

Cash and cash equivalents 58.9

total sold assets 1,518.3

long-term provisions 135.5

Deferred tax liabilities 84.0

non-current liabilities 0.9

Interest-bearing current liabilities 0.1

trade payables 257.1

other non-interest-bearing current liabilities 91.2

short-term provisions 7.3

tax liabilities 16.0

total sold liabilities 592.1

gross result from divestment  6.2 

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 932.4

less: Cash and cash equivalent balances disposed of -58.9

total consideration received  873.5 

25 FinanCial instruments 

general 
Corbion uses various financial instruments in order to secure an optimal financing structure.  
It does so in accordance with a treasury policy approved by the Board of Management. 
Corbion also uses various financial instruments in order to reduce purchase price risks. It does so  
in accordance with a purchase policy approved by the Board of Management. 

Capital risk management 
Corbion manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Corbion group will be able to continue as 
going concerns while maximizing return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and 
equity balance. the group’s overall financing strategy remains unchanged from 2012. 

the capital structure of Corbion consists of net debt (interest-bearing debts as detailed in notes 
22 and 23 offset by cash and cash equivalents as detailed in note 17) and equity. 
the Corbion risk management committee reviews the capital structure of Corbion on a semi-annu-
al basis. As part of this review, the committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associ-
ated with each class of capital. the main conditions for Corbion’s credit facility are as follows: the 
net debt/eBItDA ratio may not exceed the factor 3.5 and the interest cover ratio may not be lower 
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than 3.5. these external conditions were met in 2013 as well as in 2012. In line with the new 
strategy, Corbion internally sets the net debt/eBItDA ratio at 1.5 with temporary increases in case 
of currently unforeseen large investment projects.  

the table below shows the ratios at year-end 

2013 2012

net debt position/eBItDA -0 2 2.0

Interest cover 13 5 10.1

Currency risk management 
Currency risk management distinguishes between translation risks and transaction risks. 

Translation risks 
the translation risk arises because Corbion is active on the international market, which means 
that it is exposed to risks arising from currency fluctuations, particularly in the us dollar, Brazilian 
real, Japanse yen, and thai baht. 

In principle, Corbion applies the matching principle. this means that capital employed in foreign 
operations is financed using the country’s currency in order to avoid wide fluctuations due to 
translation effects. 
For practical reasons a specific limit is defined for each currency.  
Corbion does not hedge translation risks in respect of operating results. this means that currency 
fluctuations particularly in the us dollar can have a material effect on Corbion’s income state-
ment. us translation effects of the operating result are partially hedged by the interest paid on 
the us dollar loan. 

breakdown of the net amount of unhedged translation risk for each currency as at  
31 december 2013 

Millions of euros Net risk position

Currency 2013 2012

•	US	dollar 96 3 398.4

•	Brazilian	real 18 4 23.5

•	Thai	baht 110 7 139.0

Transaction risks 
the currency transaction risk arises in the course of ordinary business activities. Corbion uses 
forward currency contracts and currency swaps in order to hedge the risk arising from purchase 
and sales deals and/or commitments from current purchase and sales contracts. transactions 
that are highly probable are fully hedged and included in cash flow hedge accounting. other 
reasonably probable transactions are partially hedged. For practical reasons a specific limit is 
defined for each currency. 

valued at fair value the forward currency contracts are recognized in the balance sheet as follows

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

Receivables 0 2 1.7

total 0.2 1.7

Hedge accounting is being applied to these contracts, so any unrealized fluctuations in the fair 
value are deferred in the hedge reserve of equity until the underlying hedged transaction is 
recognized in the result. All forward currency contracts expire within a year. 
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sensitivity analysis of hedges in place 
As a result of a fall of 10% in the exchange rate of the Japanese yen against the euro, the net 
result would not be significantly impacted and equity would be negatively impacted by € 0.3 
million by the forward currency contracts. 

interest risk management 
As the interest rate has been fixed (3.89% on average) for all of Corbion’s long-term debt  
(approximately € 94 million) for a period of on average 3.1 years, the interest risk is limited. 

sensitivity analysis 
If the interest rate would increase by 50 basis points the net result and equity would not change 
significantly. 

purchase risk management 
Corbion uses commodity derivative contracts (swaps and collars) to reduce the risk profile of 
purchasing. the commodity derivative contracts concern the main commodities used by Corbion, 
which are wheat, oils, corn, and sugar. 

Corbion entered into commodity derivative contracts to hedge the variable price risk of the main 
commodities used. the fair value of these contracts was € 0.2 million as at 31 December 2013  
(31 December 2012: nil). Hedge accounting is applied for the major part of these commodity 
derivative contracts. Further analysis can be found in the section on hedge transactions. 

valued at fair value the commodity derivative contracts are recognized in the balance sheet as follows

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

Receivables 0 2

total 0.2

All commodity derivative contracts expire within a year. 

sensitivity analysis 
If the purchase price of the involved commodities would increase by 10% the result and hedge 
reserve would not change significantly. 

valuation of financial instruments 
Corbion measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements: 
•	 level 1: Fair value measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities.  
•	 level 2: Fair value measurements based on inputs other than level 1 quoted prices that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 
prices).  

•	 level 3: Fair value measurements based on valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
asset or liability that are based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
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breakdown valuation of financial instruments

31 December 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

derivatives

•	Foreign	exchange	contracts 0 2 0 2

•	Commodity	swaps/collars 0 2 0 2

total assets 0.4 0.4

breakdown fair values financial instruments

31 December 2013 Balance sheet 
value

Fair value

Financial fixed assets   

•	Loans,	receivables,	and	other 2 9 2 9

•	Loans	non-interest-bearing 2 0 2 0

receivables   

•	Trade	receivables 83 8 83 8

•	Other	receivables 6 2 6 2

•	Accruals	and	deferred	income 6 9 6 9

Cash    

•	Dutch	treasury	certificates,	money	market	funds,	and	short-term	deposits	 83 0 83 0

•	Cash	other 40 9 40 9

interest-bearing liabilities    

•	Private	placement	2010	(net	investment	hedge)	 -92 2 -94 9

•	Financial	lease	commitments -1 2 -1 2

•	Other	debts -1 1 -1 1

non-interest-bearing liabilities

•	Trade	payables -57 7 -57 7

•	Other	payables -73 4 -73 4

derivatives   

•	Foreign	exchange	contracts 0 2 0 2

•	Commodity	swaps/collars 0 2 0 2

total 0.5 -2.2

Fair values are determined as follows 
•	 the fair value of financial fixed assets does not significantly deviate from the book value. 
•	 the fair value of receivables equals the book value because of their short-term character. 
•	 Cash and cash equivalents are measured at nominal value which, given the short-term and 

risk-free character, corresponds to the fair value. 
•	 Market quotations are used to determine the fair value of debt owed to private parties, credit 

institutions, and other debts. As there are no market quotations for most of the loans the fair 
value of short- and long-term loans is determined by discounting the future cash flows at the 
yield curve applicable as at 31 December. 

•	 Financial lease commitments: the fair value is estimated as the present value of the future 
cash flows, discounted at the interest rate for similar contracts which is applicable as at the 
balance sheet date. this fair value equals the book value. 

•	 Given the short-term character, the fair value of non-interest-bearing liabilities equals the  
book value. 
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•	 Currency and interest derivatives are measured on the basis of the present value of future 
cash flows over the remaining term of the contracts, using the bank interest rate (such as 
euribor) as at the reporting date for the remaining term of the contracts. the present value in 
foreign currencies is converted using the exchange rate applicable as at the reporting date.

•	 Commodity derivatives are measured on the basis of the present value of future cash flows, 
using market quotations or own variable market price estimations of the involved commodity 
as at the reporting date. 

hedge transactions 
the negative amount of € 0.3 million in hedge reserve (see note 18) relates to the hedging of risks 
arising from future purchase and sales deals and/or commitments from current purchase and 
sales contracts amounting to € 27.0 million. 
the amount of € 1.9 million in translation reserve (see note 18) relates to currency fluctuations in 
respect of the net investments in foreign operations less the currency fluctuations of the corre-
sponding net investment hedges. In case of divestment of a net investment in a foreign operation, 
the corresponding net impact of the currency fluctuations is moved from the translation reserve 
to the income statement.  

In the past year no cash flow hedges were terminated due to changes to the expected future 
transaction. no ineffective parts were recorded in respect of the net investment hedge and cash 
flow hedge. 

derivatives

Short < 1 year Long > 1 year

31-12-2013 31-12-2012 31-12-2013 31-12-2012

derivatives receivables used as hedge instrument in

cash flow hedge relations:

Foreign exchange contracts 0 2 1.7

Commodity swaps/collars 0 2

derivatives receivables used as hedge instrument in net

investment hedge relations:

Foreign exchange contracts

derivatives liabilities used as hedge instrument in cash

flow hedge relations:

Foreign exchange contracts

Interest rate swaps -3.9 -4.3

total derivatives in hedge relation 0.4 -2.2 -4.3

derivatives liabilities not used in a hedge relation with

value change through income statement:

Cancellable currency interest swap -0.4 -1.0

total derivatives through income statement -0.4 -1.0

total derivatives 0.4 -2.6 -5.3
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liquidity risk 
liquidity risk is the risk of Corbion not being able to obtain sufficient financial means to meet  
its obligations in time. periodically, the Board of Management evaluates liquidity for the next  
12 months. 
the committed credit facilities at Corbion’s long-term disposal amounted to € 250 million as at 
31 December 2013. As at 31 December 2013 nothing had been drawn. 
Corbion also has a private loan of us$ 127 million with American institutional investors. 

the main conditions for the credit facility and the private loan are: 
•	 the ratio of net debt position divided by eBItDA (“earnings Before Interest, taxes, Depreciation, 

Amortization and impairment of intangible fixed assets, and one-off costs”) may not exceed 
the factor 3.5 (2012: 3.5) 

•	 A minimum interest cover of 3.5. 

these conditions were met during 2013 and as at 31 December 2013. As at 31 December 2012 
the then applicable conditions were met. 

to provide insight into the liquidity risk the table below shows the contractual terms of the 
financial obligations (converted at balance sheet date), including interest paid. 
the table below analyzes Corbion’s financial obligations which will be settled on a net basis, 
according to relevant expiration dates, based on the remaining period from the balance sheet  
date to the contractual expiration date. the amounts shown are contractual non-discounted  
cash flows. 

Effective 
interest %

Less than 1 
year

Between 
1 and 5 years

More than 
5 years

Total

as at 31 december 2013

private placement 2010 3 89 3 3 87 8 11 9 103 0

Financial lease commitments 6 75 0 1 0 5 1 0 1 6

other debts 0 2 0 9 1 1

trade payables  57 7   57 7

other non-interest-bearing current liabilities 73 4 73 4

liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 225 6 225 6

total  360.3 89.2 12.9 462.4

  

as at 31 december 2012

private placement 2010 3.93 8.9 203.7 63.9 276.5

owed to credit institutions 0.63 2.4 376.6  379.0

Financial lease commitments 6.57 0.2 1.8 1.2 3.2

Derivatives 2.73 7.5 2.6 10.1

other debts 0.11 2.3 2.3

trade payables  301.2   301.2

other non-interest-bearing current liabilities 165.6 165.6

liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 347.0 347.0

total  835.1 584.7 65.1 1,484.9

Credit risk management 
Corbion runs a credit risk in relation to financial instruments. this risk consists of the losses that 
would be incurred if the other party were to default on its contractual obligations. In respect of 
disbursed loans, other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents the maximum credit risk equals 
the book value (see notes 13, 16, and 17). In respect of derivatives it equals the fair value shown 
in the table above. 

Given the credit rating that it requires of its partners (at least single A) Corbion has no reason to 
assume that they will not honor their contractual obligations. Based on today’s insights, the actual 
credit risk is virtually nil. 
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26 oFF-balanCe sheet FinanCial rights and Commitments 

Financial commitments 
As at 31 December 2013 the nominal value of future commitments from operational lease 
contracts for property, plant, and equipment was € 6.2 million (2012: € 4.2 million), € 3.0 million of 
which expires within one year, € 3.0 million between 1 and 5 years, and € 0.2 million after 5 years.  

short-term commitments 
the purchase and sales commitments from current orders amounted to € 151.5 million as at  
31 December 2013 (2012: € 184.3 million). 

the capital expenditure commitments not yet incurred amounted to € 6.0 million for (in)tangibles 
as at 31 December 2013 (2012: € 4.6 million).  

Contingent commitments 
Guarantees 
third-party guarantees amounted to € 9.8 million as at 31 December 2013 (2012: € 21.0 million). 
no significant future losses are expected from these guarantees. 

Other 
As the existing structure did not reflect the actual structural, management, and product-line 
organization of our business, we reorganized the legal structure of our company in 2012. the 
reorganization was complex involving several entities in various jurisdictions, and therefore could 
have tax consequences. prior to carrying out the reorganization, we obtained appropriate outside 
professional advice confirming a limited tax risk associated with the reorganization. However, if tax 
authorities in the relevant jurisdictions would challenge the tax treatment of the reorganization 
and if they are successful in doing so, the tax consequences could be significant. 

27 related party transaCtions 

there were no significant related party transactions in 2013. 

28 events aFter balanCe sheet date 

no significant events occured between the end of the reporting period and the date that the 
financial statements were authorised for issue that would affect the ability of users to make 
proper evaluations and decisions. 

29 Cash FloW statement 

the consolidated cash flow statement is drawn up using the indirect method. the items in the 
consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of the financial position have been 
adjusted for changes that do not impact cash inflow and outflow in the report year. Working 
capital consists of inventories and receivables minus non-interest-bearing current liabilities, 
excluding payable dividend, interest, and income tax. the cash flow from the acquisition of group 
companies consists of acquisition price payments for the acquired companies less cash and cash 
equivalents of those companies. 
the interest-bearing debts consist of non-current and current liabilities. 
the effects of exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents are presented separately.  

Cash flows from discontinued operations are shown separately in the cash flow statement 
presenting a single amount for cash flows from operating activities and cash flows from invest-
ment activities. 
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30 additional inFormation 

remuneration policy board of management 
For more information on the remuneration policy see the Report of the Supervisory Board. 
 

the number of conditionally granted shares per member of the board of management is as follows

Granted in “At target” 
number 

outstanding
as at 31-12-2013

Maximum  
number 

outstanding
as at 31-12-2013

Year of vesting

G.J. Hoetmer 2011 14,222 24,889 2014

2012 26,627 46,597 2015

2013 21,502 37,629 2016

n.J.M. Kramer 2011 8,950 15,662 2014

2012 16,755 29,321 2015

2013 13,530 23,678 2016

total as at 31-12-2013 101,587 177,776

the movements in the number of shares conditionally granted to members of the board of management  
are as follows

Maximum number 
outstanding 

as at 
31-12-2012

Maximum 
number 

granted in
2013

Expired in
2013

Vested in
2013

Maximum number 
outstanding

as at
31-12-2013

G.J. Hoetmer 99,556 42,646 33,087 109,115

n.J.M. Kramer 60,961 26,532 18,832 68,661

total 160,517 69,178 51,919 177,776

breakdown of the number of commitment award shares, which are blocked until the end of employment  
of the member concerned 

Number
as at

31-12-2012

Awarded in
2013

Released in 
2013

Number 
as at 

31-12-2013

G.J. Hoetmer 22,216 3,517 25,733

n.J.M. Kramer 15,779 2,656 18,435

total 37,995 6,173 44,168
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breakdown remuneration board of management 

Thousands of euros IAS 24 17 
category

Short-term 
employee benefts*) 

Share-
based 

payments

Post-em-
ployment 

benefits

Other 
long-term 

benefits

Termina-
tion ben-

efits **)

Total

Year Base 
salary

STIP LTIP Total Pension 
benefits

Other 
benefits

Sever-
ance 

payments

G.J. Hoetmer 2012 651 443 435 1,529 180 1,709

2013 668 470 581 1,719 199 2,673 4,591

n.J.M. Kramer 2012 494 278 301 1,073 118 1,191

2013 507 295 342 1,144 119 1,263

*) Excluded from short term benefits is a crisis levy of € 204 thousand for Mr. Hoetmer (2012: € 121 thousand)  

and € 129 thousand for Mr. Kramer (2012: € 79 thousand).

**) Excluded from termination benefits is an excessive levy tax of € 100 thousand for Mr. Hoetmer. 

Agreement has been made with Mr. Hoetmer to terminate his contract. Based on contents of his 
employment contract he is entitled to a severance payment (€ 1.7 million). the total termination 
amount further includes his contractual notice period, and contractual pension costs. 
 

breakdown remuneration supervisory board

Thousands of euros IAS 24 17 
category

Short-term employee 
benefts *)

Share-
based 

payments

Post-em-
ployment 

benefits

Other 
long-term 

benefits

Termi-
nation 

benefits

Total

Year Base fee Commit-
tee fee

LTIP Total Pension 
benefits

Other 
benefits

Sever-
ance pay-

ments

R.H.p. Markham, Chairman

(chairman nomination

Committee/member 2012 55 8 63 63

Remuneration) 2013 60 8 68 68

M.p.M. de Raad, Vice-Chairman

(chairman Remuneration

Committee/member 2012 55 8 63 63

nomination Committee) 2013 50 8 58 58

R. pieterse 2012 45 10 55 55

(chairman Audit Committee) 2013 45 10 55 55

W. spinner 2012 45 5 50 50

(member Audit Committee) 2013 45 5 50 50

J. p. de Kreij 2012 45 5 50 50

(member Audit Committee) 2013 45 5 50 50

M. Vrijsen

(member Remuneration

Committee/nomination 2012

Committee), 2013 30 3 33 33

appointed per May 2013

*) Excluding expenses 
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no loans or advance payments or any guarantees to that effect have been made or issued to the 
members of the supervisory Board. none of the members of the supervisory Board has shares in 
the company or any option rights relating thereto (as at 24 February 2014). 

Fees auditors 
total fees charged by the auditor can be specified as follows.

Thousands of euros Deloitte
Accountants bv

2013

Deloitte
Other
2013

Total 
2013

Total
2012

Audit services 404 271 675 1,420

Audit-related services 245 125 370 33

non-audit services 282

total audit services 649 396 1,045 1,735
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Company balanCe sheet

Before profit appropriation, millions of euros Note As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012 
(restated)

Assets
Financial fixed assets 31 502 4 1,174.0

Deferred tax assets 15 1

total non-current assets 517.5 1,174.0

Receivables 32 0 5 2.1

tax assets 0.1

Cash and cash equivalents 33 101 9 25.0

total current assets 102.4 27.2

total assets 619.9 1,201.2

equity and liabilities
Common share capital 18 7 18.2

share premium reserve 73 0 73.5

other reserves 13 4 49.9

Retained earnings 400 1 652.2

equity 34 505.2 793.8

non-current liabilities 35 92 2 397.1

total non-current liabilities 92.2 397.1

Interest-bearing current liabilities 36 2.3

non-interest-bearing current liabilities 37 19 7 8.0

provisions 38 2 8

total current liabilities 22.5 10.3

total equity and liabilities 619.9 1,201.2

Company inCome statement 

Millions of euros 2013 2012
(restated)

Result from group companies after taxes -6 3 -70.7

other income and charges after taxes*) 10 5 5.4

result after taxes 4.2 -65.3

*) Social security included in the income statement is rounded zero for 2013 as well as for 2012.

Company 
financial statements
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notes to the company  
financial statements

General   
the separate financial statements of Corbion nv are drawn up in accordance with the principles 
referred to in part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. By using the option in section 2:362 (8) of the 
Dutch Civil Code the same accounting principles (including the principles for recognizing financial 
instruments as equity or debt) may be applied in the separate financial statements and the con-
solidated financial statements. participations in group companies are valued on the basis of net 
asset value. net asset value is determined by valuing assets, provisions and liabilities and calculat-
ing the result using the accounting principles applied in the consolidated financial statements (see 
note 2).   
   
A list has been filed at the Amsterdam trade Register setting out the data on the group compa-
nies as required under sections 2:379 and 2:414 of the Dutch Civil Code.  

31 FinanCial Fixed assets  

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012 
(restated)

participations in group companies -205 3 361.3

loans to group companies 666 9 781.9

Joint ventures and associates 1 8 1.9

owed to/by group companies 39 0 28.9

total 502.4 1,174.0

the balance of participations in group companies and loans to group companies is positive in all 
participations of Corbion nv.  
Amounts owed to or by group companies are long term.  
  
For more information on joint ventures and associates see note 14. 
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2013 2012 (restated)

Movements in participations in group companies:

As at start of financial year 361 3 483.7

paid-in capital 150 0 25.1

Capital repayment -18 0 -4.7

sale group company -657 3

Result of group companies -31 9 -70.7

Dividend group companies -6 4 -9.4

exchange rate differences -3 0 -0.2

other -62.5

as at close of financial year -205.3 361.3

movements in loans to group companies:

As at start of financial year 781 9 792.7

exchange rate differences -39 9 -10.2

Disbursements 35 1 26.9

Repayments -110 2 -27.5

as at close of financial year 666.9 781.9

32 reCeivables  

the receivables relate to commodity and foreign exchange derivatives and prepaid costs.  
 

33 Cash and Cash equivalents  

the cash and cash equivalents were available and payable without notice in 2013.  
  

34 equity  

see Consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 18 to the consolidated financial  
statements. For an overview of the legal reserves see note 18.  
  

35 non-Current liabilities  

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

owed to credit institutions 92 2 387.6

Derivatives 9.5

total 92.2 397.1

see note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.  
  

36 interest-bearing Current liabilities  

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

other debts 2.3

total 2.3
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37 non-interest-bearing Current liabilities  

As at 31-12-2013 As at 31-12-2012

taxes and social insurance premiums 17 1 2.6

other debts and accruals and deferred income 2 6 5.4

total 19.7 8.0

38 provisions  

the amount relates to a restructuring provision. the full amount has been charged to result, see 
note 19.  
  

39 oFF-balanCe sheet Commitments  

Contingent liabilities  
under section 2:403 of the Dutch Civil Code the company accepts liability for the debts incurred 
by Dutch group companies. the relevant declarations have been filed for perusal at the office of 
the relevant trade register.  
  
the company guarantees external loans of us$ 127 million drawn by group companies on the 
credit facility of the company.  
  
Fiscal unity   
Corbion nv and a number of subsidiaries in the netherlands are part of fiscal unities for corporate 
income tax and value added tax. During the period the companies are part of a fiscal unity for 
whose liabilities they are jointly and severally liable.  
  

40 personnel  

on average, two personnel were employed by Corbion nv and were working in the netherlands dur-
ing 2013 (2012: 2 personnel).  
For more information on remuneration see note 30.  
  
Diemen, the Netherlands, 24 February 2014  
  
supervisory board board of management 
R.H.p. Markham, Chairman G.J. Hoetmer, CEO 
M.p.M. de Raad, Vice-Chairman n.J.M. Kramer, CFO 
J.p. de Kreij  
R. pieterse  
W. spinner  
M. Vrijsen  
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statutory arrangement For appropriation oF proFit

the corporate articles of association lay down the following conditions regarding the appropriation 
of profit (summary).   
   
Article 25.3   
If possible, a dividend shall first be paid from the profit recorded in the adopted financial state-
ments on each financing preference share in a specific series. this dividend shall be equal to a 
percentage calculated on the basis of the amount paid on the financing preference shares.   
 
Article 25.4   
If the profit is insufficient the dividend on the financing preference shares shall be paid from 
the company reserves, with the exception of the reserves which were formed as share premium 
reserve upon the issue of the financing preference shares. If the dividend cannot be paid from the 
company reserves, it shall be paid in arrear in the subsequent financial years.  
   
Article 25.14   
the Board of Management shall decide subject to the approval of the supervisory Board which 
part of the profit is to be reserved after the above provisions have been applied. the remaining 
profit shall be at the disposal of the General shareholders’ Meeting.   
the General shareholders’ Meeting may decide upon a proposal by the Board of Management with 
the approval of the supervisory Board to pay dividends to shareholders from the distributable 
equity. 

proposed appropriation of profit   

Millions of euros 2013 2012 (restated)

Result after taxes 4 2 -65.3

Available for dividend payment to holders of financing preference shares 2 8 3.7

proposed addition to the reserves -58 1 -84.6

Available for cash dividend to holders of common shares 59 5 15.6

paid interim cash dividend on divestment proceeds 50 4

Dividend*) of € 0.15 (2012: € 0.70) per common share with a nominal value of € 0.25 9 1 15.6

*)   2013: at the choice of the shareholders in cash or in stock. 

2012: at the choice of the shareholders in cash or in stock. 

the dividend proposal is stated in the Report of the Board of Management.

other information 



  110 Corbion AnnuAl RepoRt 2013 otHeR InFoRMAtIon   

independent auditor’s report

to: the General Meeting of Corbion n.V.

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2013 of Corbion n.V., Amsterdam. the 
financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and the company financial 
statements. the consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as per 31 December, 2013, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes, comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information presented on pages 59-104 of this report. the company financial statements 
comprise the company balance sheet as per December 31, 2013 the company income statement 
for the year then ended and the notes, comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other 
explanatory information presented on pages 105-109 of this report. 

Management’s responsibility
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting standards as adopted by the european union 
and with part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and for the preparation of the Management 
Board’s report in accordance with part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore 
management is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due  
to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch standards on Auditing. 
this requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

opinion with respect to the consolidated financial statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of Corbion n.V. as per 31 December, 2013 and of its result and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting standards as adopted by the 
european union and with part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
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opinion with respect to the company financial statements
In our opinion, the company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of Corbion n.V. as per 31 December, 2013 and of its result for the year then ended in accordance 
with part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
pursuant to the legal requirement under section 2:393 sub 5 at e and f of the Dutch Civil Code, 
we have no deficiencies to report as a result of our examination whether the Report of the Board 
of Management, presented on pages 7-52, to the extent we can assess, has been prepared in 
accordance with part 9 of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the information as required under 
section 2:392 sub 1 at b-h has been annexed. 

Further we report that the Report of the Board of Management, to the extent we can assess,  
is consistent with the financial statements as required by section 2:391 sub 4 of the Dutch  
Civil Code.

Rotterdam, February 25, 2014
Deloitte Accountants B.V.

Signed on the original: g.m. dekker
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brieF resumés oF the members oF the supervisory board 

as at 31 december 2013

R.H.p. Markham (1946, m), Chairman
nationality  British
previous position  executive Director and Chief Finance officer unilever nV and unilever plc
supervisory directorships  non-executive Director and senior Independent Director of legal and General plc (uK)
 non-executive Director of united parcel services Inc. (usA)
 non-executive Director of Astra Zeneca plc (uK)
 non-executive Director of standard Chartered plc (uK)
Additional position(s)  Chairman of the Board of Moorfield eye Hospital nHs Foundation trust (uK)
  non-executive Director of the operating Board and of the supervisory Board of  

the Foreign and Commonwealth office (uK)
First appointed in  2010
Current term of office  2010 – 2014

M.p.M. de Raad (1945, m), Vice-Chairman
nationality Dutch
previous positions  Member Board of Management Koninklijke Ahold nv 

Member Board of Management Metro AG 
Chairman Board sHV Makro nv 
Member Board sHV Holdings nv

supervisory directorships HAl Holding nv
  Metro AG Düsseldorf 
 Vion Holding nv
  Vollenhoven olie Groep bv
  tiasnimbas Business school, university of tilburg
 Chairman supervisory Board Jeroen Bosch Hospital
First appointed in 2004
Current term of office 2012 - 2016

J.p. de Kreij (1959, m)
nationality Dutch
position  Vice-Chairman executive Board and Chief Financial officer of  

Royal Vopak nv
supervisory directorship Vice-Chairman supervisory Board evides nv
Additional position Member Advisory Council of the listed Companies of nYse euronext
First appointed in 2011
Current term of office 2011 – 2015

R. pieterse (1942, m)
nationality Dutch
previous position Chairman Board of Management Wolters Kluwer nv
supervisory directorships  Chairman Koninklijke Grolsch nv 

Chairman Mercurius Groep bv
Additional positions Board member of various Foundations
First appointed in 2004
Current term of office 2012 - 2016
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W. spinner (1948, m)
nationality German
previous position Member Board of Management Bayer AG
supervisory directorships  Member Altana AG, Wesel (Germany) 

Member the Zuellig Group International Hong Kong
First appointed in 2004
Current term of office 2011 – 2015

M. Vrijsen (1947, m)
nationality Dutch
previous position(s) senior Vice president Global operations and engineering
 of e.I. du pont de nemours & Company (Du pont)
 Various positions at Du pont 
supervisory directorships Broadview Holding 
 Desso B.V.
Additional position senior external Advisor McKinsey
First appointed in 2013
Current term of office 2013-2017

  

brieF resumés oF the members oF the board oF management

as at 31 december 2013

G.J. Hoetmer (1956), Chief executive officer
nationality Dutch
previous positions  senior Vice president supply Chain unilever Foods,  

member of unilever Foods executive, leader of unilever’s global overheads  
and organization restructuring

Additional positions Chairman spieren voor spieren foundation
 non-executive Director Devro plc.
First appointed in May 2005
Current term of office 2013 - 2017

n.J.M. Kramer (1959), Chief Financial officer
nationality Dutch
previous position CFo and member of the executive Board Wessanen nv
First appointed in April 2006
Current term of office 2010 – 2014



  114 Corbion AnnuAl RepoRt 2013 otHeR InFoRMAtIon   

Company seCretary

J.W.e. van der Klaauw (1955) (until 01-06-2013)
nationality  Dutch
employed since  August 1986

H.G. noppers (1975) (as from 01-06-2013)
nationality  Dutch
employed since  January 2009

group struCture

as at 24 February 2014

Corbion nv
Caravan Ingredients
purac America
purac Argentina
purac Asia pacific
purac Biochem
purac Bioquímica
purac China
purac France
purac India
purac Japan
purac Korea
purac Mexico
purac polska
purac Russia
purac sínteses 
purac thailand

A list has been filed at the Amsterdam trade Register setting out the data on the group  
companies as required under sections 379 and 414 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
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Five years in Figures

Millions of euros 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Continuing operations*)

net sales 744 754 3,113 2,990 2,556
operating result 39 38 -150 158 143
eBItDA excluding exceptional items/one-off costs 99 99 223 287 212
Result after taxes 7 26 -174 99 87
earnings per common share in euros 1) 0 06 0.30 -2.56 1.41 1.25
Diluted earnings per common share in euros 1) 0 06 0.30 -2.55 1.40 1.25
Cash flow from operating activities 34 73 148 189 277
Cash flow from operating activities per common share,
in euros 1) **) 0 45 0.96 2.06 2.73 4.15
Depreciation/amortization fixed assets 41 43 103 107 69
Capital expenditure on fixed assets 76 56 92 83 47
eBItDA margin % 2) 13 3 13.1 7.2 9.6 8.3
Result after taxes/net sales % 1 0 3.4 -5.6 3.3 3.4
number of employees at closing date 1,885 1,834 9,843 9,664 8,430

total operations
balance sheet:

non-current assets 436 1,374 1,559 1,791 1,330
Current assets 206 704 740 718 554
non-interest-bearing current liabilities 134 490 479 483 386
net debt position 3) -29 511 616 631 328
provisions 32 220 257 277 171
equity 505 859 948 1,117 998

key data per common share

number of issued common shares 71,939,942 69,914,711 67,658,699 65,998,134 64,977,416
number of common shares with dividend rights 61,176,915 69,909,876 67,580,372 65,873,803 64,828,082
Weighted average number of outstanding common
shares **) 70,114,838 71,902,593 69,813,766 67,515,917 65,837,383
price as at 31 December 15 40 16.25 12.08 26.19 18.38
Highest price in calendar year 18 60 16.48 26.88 26.27 18.68
lowest price in calendar year 14 41 10.49 9.25 18.55 7.97
Market capitalization as at 31 December 942 1,136 816 1,725 1,192
earnings in euros **) 0 02 -0.96 -2.56 1.41 1.25
Diluted earnings in euros **) 0 02 -0.96 -2.55 1.40 1.25
other key data

Cash flow from operating activities 10 197 148 189 277
Depreciation/amortization fixed assets 41 110 103 107 69
Capital expenditure on (in)tangible fixed assets 76 76 92 83 47
number of employees at closing date 1,885 9,650 9,843 9,664 8,430
number of issued financing preference shares 2,983,794 2,983,794 2,983,794 2,983,794 2,983,794
equity per share in euros 4) 7 87 11.78 13.44 16.22 14.71

ratios

net debt position/eBItDA 5) -0 2 2.0 2.8 2.1 1.6
Interest cover 6) 13 5 10.1 7.6 9.7 8.0
Balance sheet total: equity 1:0 7 1:0.4 1:0.4 1:0.4 1:0.5
net debt position: equity 1:-17 2 1:1.6 1:1.5 1:1.8 1:3.0
Current assets: current liabilities 1:0 4 1:0.4 1:0.6 1:0.6 1:0.6

     *)  The previous years are not restated for discontinued operations later on.    

**) Only the preceding year is restated for stock dividend.      

     

1) Per common share in euros after deduction of dividend on financing preference shares.  

2) EBITDA margin % is EBITDA divided by net sales x 100.     

3) Net debt position comprises interest-bearing debts less cash and cash equivalents.   

4) Equity per share is equity divided by the number of shares with dividend rights.   

5)  EBITDA is “Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Amortization, and impairment of intangible fixed assets,”  

including acquisition and divestment effects recalculated for the full year and excluding exceptional items/one-off costs.   

6) Interest cover is EBITDA as defined in Note 5 divided by net interest income and charges.  
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inFormation on the Corbion share

share capital
Corbion is listed on nYse euronext Amsterdam.
As at 31 December 2013 71.939.942 common shares of € 0.25 each and 2,983,794 financing 
preference of € 0.25 each had been issued, including 10,763,027 common shares and 409,513 
financing preference shares with Corbion.

substantial shareholdings
pursuant to the Financial supervision Act, the following notifications of capital interest in Corbion 
as at 31 December 2013 were reported:

1. InG Groep n.V. 10.59%
2. J.o. Hambro Capital Management limited 5.03%
3. AsR nederland n.V. 4.46%
4. lansdowne partners limited 4.19%
5. pimco europe limited 3.63%
6. norges Bank 3.35%
7. RWC partners limited 3.07%

n.B: As at 24 February 2013 Corbion nv has a capital interest of 14.91%.

other information
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

number of common shares with dividend rights  
x 1,000 as at 31 December 61,177 69,910 67,580 65,874 64,828

Market capitalization in millions of euros as at 31 December 942 1,136 816 1,725 1,192

Highest share price 18 60 16.48 26.88 26.27 18.68

lowest share price 14 41 10.49 9.25 18.55 7.97

share price as at 31 December 15 40 16.25 12.08 26.19 18.38

Average daily turnover of shares 243,793 373,949 414,275 320,656 288,791

Important dates*)

25 April 2014 publication of the interim management statement first quarter 2014

12 May 2014 General shareholders’ Meeting

14 May 2014 ex date

16 May 2014 Record date

4 June 2014 Dividend payable for 2013

13 August 2014 publication of half-year figures 2014

24 october 2014 publication of the interim management statement third quarter 2014

12 May 2015 General shareholders’ Meeting

*) Subject to change.

*) Subject to change
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Trends in share price

Movement in price of 

Corbion shares from 

2 January 2009 to 

31 December 2013 

(per share of € 0.25; 

2 January 2009 = 100%) 

Midkap index 

(2 January 2009 = 100%)
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gypsum-Free teChnology 

With its proprietary gypsum-free technology Corbion 
has tackled a major sustainability challenge in lactic 
acid production. All current lactic acid processes result 
in the formation of the byproduct gypsum. Although 
this gypsum can be put to good use at present in  
many different agro and technical applications the 
growing demand for lactic acid, generated by the  
growing demand for poly lactic acid, will push up the 
gypsum volumes to unsustainable levels. 

What sets this new technology apart from the  
conventional processes is its clever use of auxiliary  
materials in the process and the optimal recycling of 
these materials, which avoids the formation of the 
byproduct gypsum.

our technology is unique in combining improved  
sustainability with scalability to volumes of more than 
100,000 metric tons a year, with more attractive  
manufacturing costs. We can therefore say that this 
process genuinely represents the next generation of 
our lactic acid production plants and significantly  
reduces our cradle-to-gate Co2 footprint.

Another unique feature of Corbion’s gypsum-free 
technology is its versatility, it can be integrated into 
all of our current and future organic acid production 
processes.

the seCond generation: replaCing 
sugar and starCh With alternative 
FeedstoCks

society is becoming increasingly concerned about 
our dependence on fossil fuels for the production 
of chemicals and materials. Meanwhile, innovative 
solutions based on renewable raw materials, or bio-
based products, offer an alternative to fossil-based 
products. However, renewable raw materials are also 
not endlessly available, since more and more farmland 
will be needed to provide food for the world’s growing 
population. It is therefore essential to find ways of 
producing biobased solutions not compromising food 
security. this is particularly relevant for our customers 
in the biochemicals and biopolymers markets, as they 
are seeking biochemicals based on feedstock which  
do not interfere with the food value chain. 

Investing in research
At Corbion, we are investing in advancing technology 
for the next generation of organic acid production 
in order to resolve the conflict between the limited 
availability of land for the production of biomass and 
the biomass needs for the production of chemicals. 
several years ago, we started a research program to 
develop processes to replace substrates derived from 
sugar and starch with second generation feedstocks, 
for the production of lactic acid and lactides. second 
generation raw materials consists of existing biomass 
which is not used in the production of food and feed 
products, such as the agricultural byproducts corn 
stover, sugar cane bagasse, and woody biomass.  
In this way, we are developing even more sustainable 
products which do not interfere with the food and feed 
supply chain.

Designed by science
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Growing demand
one of the drivers for this initiative is the expected 
strong increase in the demand for lactic acid due to 
the rising interest in poly lactic acid. However, the use 
of second generation feedstocks for the production of 
chemicals such as lactic acid is a formidable challenge, 
since biomass needs to be fragmented into sugars 
before it can be used for further processing. to be 
viable such processes also need to be sustainable 
and highly efficient. Collaboration between industry 
and the public domain is accelerating progress in 
jointly addressing this challenge. Corbion does this by 
partnering with universities, institutes, and private 
industry and is a research member of the Be-Basic 
public-private partnership. 

Besides participating in the Be-Basic knowledge 
network, we are involved in the establishment 
of the Bioprocess pilot Facility (BpF) in Delft, the 
netherlands which is equipped to pretreat, ferment, 
and process biomass into lactic acid. the derived 
information is crucial for testing and scaling up these 
new biotechnology processes to demonstration and 
commercial levels. 

In 2013, through our collaborations we were able to 
successfully pretreat, ferment, and process various 
alternative feedstocks into lactic acid on laboratory 
and pilot level. As we progress in our development 
program for second generation feedstocks, we will 
secure the feedstocks, technologies, and strategic 
partners that are required to realize production on 
both demonstration and commercial level. Having 
achieved such promising results thus far, we are 
even more confident about moving on to production 
on demonstration level based on second generation 
feedstocks in 2015 and we have the ambition to move 
to full commercial scale production in the latter part of 
this decennium. 

ultra Fresh sWeet: a suCCess story 
Worth savoring

ultra Fresh™ sweet is Corbion’s answer to the perennial 
question of how to keep sweet goods tasting as fresh 
and flavorsome as when they come out of the oven. 

When our innovation center first started looking at 
extending freshness in small cakes, we knew that 
the current options for the industry were not really 
working. Gum starches and sugars are good tenderizers, 
but have only limited ability to deliver longer-term 
freshness, and enzymes currently on the market could 
not provide the activity needed for shorter baking or 
frying times. 

Reducing stales while improving the eating 
experience
new enzyme solutions were needed to achieve better 
product quality, so the team went to work on extending 
our existing ultra Fresh™ line to include sweet good 
products. We knew if we could come up with something 
to help Corbion’s customers gain extra days of 
freshness, we would open up new distribution options 
and reduce stales at the retailers while improving the 
eating experience for the consumers. 

the result was ultra Fresh sweet™, a complex new 
enzyme technology that helps sweet goods perform 
better throughout the freshness cycle and beyond 
45 days. ultra Fresh sweet™ is available in the same 
Classic, premium and supreme product tiers as the 
original ultra Fresh portfolio.

Collaborative approach
launched in the spring of 2013, ultra Fresh sweet™ 
exceeded expectations for early adoption and 
continues to show great promise for long-term success. 
What set ultra Fresh sweet™ on the path to launch 
success? It is a success story worth savoring.

We took a collaborative approach to project 
management, which enabled simultaneous progress. 
one part of the team focused on project and process 
management while the other part focused on research 
and validation, which sped up time-to-market.

Consumer insights were used to gain broad validation 
with customers and were foundational to the 
development of our customer value proposition. 

ultra Fresh sweet™ had full marketing support, 
including a media campaign, digital magazine, video, 
collateral, and public relations. the product was the 
main talking point at IDDBA and IBIe – ideal trade shows 
for our target audience – and drew in many leads and 
considerable interest from the live on-floor samples of 
sweet goods with and without ultra Fresh sweet™.

ultra Fresh sweet™ was launched on time and on 
budget. three- and six-month post-launch reviews show 
continued progress and the approach has now become 
a crucial part of the planning for the launch of new 
products in the future.
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antimiCrobials: the need For a saFer 
alternative

In today’s world, news about contamination travels 
almost as fast as the contaminants themselves. For 
example, people are quickly informed about outbreaks 
of influenza in the usA, the rise of the noro-virus in 
europe, or the H1n1 in parts of Asia. 

Consumers across the globe are increasingly looking 
for antimicrobial benefits in their cleaning products. 
However, there is mounting pressure from lawmakers, 
consumer advocates, and other stakeholders who are 
concerned about the safety of some, more traditional 
antimicrobial actives. As a result of this growing 
concern, consumers and formulators are looking for 
alternatives which are considered to be safer and more 
environmentally-friendly.

What are antimicrobials?
An antimicrobial active is an agent that kills or inhibits 
the growth of microorganisms. people have been using 
substances with antimicrobial properties for more than 
2000 years. specific molds and plant extracts were 
used in Ancient egypt and Ancient Greece to treat 
infections. later, microbiologists such as louis pasteur 
and Alexander Fleming observed antagonism between 
some bacteria and discussed the merits of controlling 
these interactions in medicine. nowadays, antimicrobial 
actives find their way into a wide range of industrial and 
consumer products, serving many different functions, 
from the preservation of manufactured products, to 
increase their shelf life, to delivering disinfection or 
sterilization benefits.

Biobased and readily biodegradable
natural and biobased antimicrobials are a key pillar of 
the Corbion portfolio and strategy. 
In the field of home and personal care, our products 
show an excellent fit with the required antimicrobial 
performance and market trends related to 
sustainability, safety, and natural claims. We produce 
a biobased, readily biodegradable antimicrobial agent, 
containing lactic acid, called sanilac, which is applied 
as an active ingredient in a wide range of cleaning 
and disinfecting products in home care, industrial, and 
institutional applications. 

sanilac is not only antibacterial, it can also bring 
antiviral benefits to detergent formulations. Combining 
the antibacterial and antivirus action into one single 
ingredient makes sanilac a unique ingredient with a 
wide range of antimicrobial efficacy. our customers 
acknowledge the benefits that our products bring to 
their formulations and are increasingly applying them in 
many different applications. 

We intend to strengthen our position further by actively 
developing novel biobased antimicrobial concepts for 
home and personal care products as well as biochemical 
applications.

Powered by nature
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CommuniCating the sustainability oF 
bioplastiCs

Bioplastics provide a sustainable alternative to their 
traditional, fossil-based counterparts. Bioplastics 
are defined as being plastics that are biobased, 
biodegradable, or both. In the case of poly lactic acid 
(plA), both of these criteria are met. As adoption 
rates increase and more and more bioplastic products 
are launched, the need for clear, understandable 
communication of these sustainability characteristics is 
growing. Corbion is chairing the board of the european 
Bioplastics Association, which takes a leading role in 
defining and clarifying sustainability claims that can be 
made about bioplastic products. each bioplastic has its 
own set of sustainability data. For plA, the benefits are 
as follows.

Reduced carbon footprint
Fossil-based plastics require fossil fuel as a key 
raw material. In addition, fossil-based plastics such 
as polypropylene (pp) and polystyrene (ps) require 
more energy during the development process than 
bioplastics. A life Cycle Analysis (lCA) for a typical pp 
or ps plastic shows a carbon footprint of approximately 
2.0 kg Co2 equivalents per kg of plastic (from cradle 
to factory gate). these Co2 emissions are four times 
higher than those for plA resin. As consumers are 
becoming increasingly conscious of the environmental 
impact of Co2 emissions, environmentally positive label 
claims can have a positive impact on product sales.

100% biobased
plA is made from 100% biobased resources and, 
for those who require it, Corbion offers lactides for 
plA based on GMo-free feedstocks. As a part of its 
sustainable sourcing initiative, Corbion is a member 
of sedex, the supplier ethical Data exchange, and 
Bonsucro, a global, multi-stakeholder, non-profit 
initiative dedicated to reducing the environmental and 
social impacts of sugar cane production.

Highly efficient use of feedstocks
plA is one of the most efficient bioplastics in existence 
today. to make 1 kg of plA requires just 1.6 kg of sugar. 
other types of bioplastics can require significantly more 
natural resources to produce the same amount of end-
product. In the future, it will be feasible to use non-food 
feedstocks such as the agricultural byproducts corn 

stover, sugar cane bagasse, and woody biomass for  
bioplastic production. Corbion is working to develop 
these second generation feedstocks for plA 
production. However, bioplastics today are produced 
from crops rich in carbohydrates such as corn or sugar 
cane, which generate maximum yield with minimum 
land use. Corbion is actively involved in various 
fundamental research and development programs to 
develop cellulose-based, non-food feedstocks as an 
even more sustainable raw material for plA. 

Multiple end-of-life options
Bioplastics offer a range of end-of-life options,  
allowing the possibility to choose the most sustainable 
option for the specific application and available 
infrastructure. Industrial composters and commercial 
recycling companies are showing an interest in 
bioplastics and are anticipating a more substantial 
stream of bioplastics waste material. As the adoption 
of bioplastics increases amongst brand owners and 
manufacturers, local, national, and international end-of-
life infrastructures can be further developed, whether 
in the form of composting facilities, take-back schemes, 
or recycling plants.

Biobased feedstocks: no competition  
with food 
the discussion of whether the use of food crops for 
bioplastic production is ethically viable is close to our 
hearts. It is helpful, therefore, to take a critical look at 
the statistics (released by the European Bioplastics 
Association in 2013 together with the IfBB). the 
question concerns land use and the allocation of land 
to grow food crops for non-food purposes. Currently, 
less than 0.01% of our planet’s agricultural area is 
used for the production of bioplastic feedstock. this is 
considered to be nowhere near the 98% of land used for 
pastures and growing food and feed. At the same time, 
the Food and Agricultural Organization of the United 
Nations has published statistics stating that around 
33% of global food production is either wasted or lost, 
every year. through its preservation technology Corbion 
is contributing to solve this massive problem which has 
much more impact in terms of resource conservation 
than the limited land use impact of bioplastics. 
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putting salt on hold

Consuming too much sodium is considered a signifi-
cant health threat. Reducing one of the most common 
sources of sodium, salt (sodium chloride), is a key 
challenge for the food industry. overconsumption of 
sodium is linked to hypertension and can contribute 
to strokes and cardiovascular disease. the World 
Health organization (WHo) recommends that the daily 
consumption of sodium should be limited to 2,000 mg, 
which equals about five grams of salt but many people 
exceed this amount. 

Just taking it out won’t do the trick
the role of salt in food varies per product. sodium 
chloride has a salty taste, enhances flavors, has 
excellent preservative properties, stabilizes color and 
texture, and plays a functional role in the production 
processes of many food products. Maintaining a similar 
flavor, color, and texture are the highest priorities, as 
these are quality characteristics and key to consumer 
acceptability. 

other important properties of salt, such as its 
functional role in processing and as a preservative are 
usually noticed later in the development process when 
the new process is scaled up or when the product’s 
shelf life is tested. so it is not just a matter of taking 
out the sodium chloride. Achieving a balanced low-salt  
formulation is easier said than done. 

there is a solution!
Corbion offers solutions that can take over the role of 
salt in the flavor and food preservation products and 
we can share vast experience in the use of sodium-
reduction solutions. Corbion’s puRAsAl® Hipure p plus 
is a potassium salt which provides shelf life without 
adding sodium and a bitter taste. We also offer puraQ® 
Arome nA4, a double award-winning sodium reduction 
solution and a natural building block for a savory flavor 
profile. Both these solutions can be valuable tools in 
the development of low-salt products.

Want to know more on how to put salt on hold?  
read our white paper! 
the white paper documents Corbion research into 
multifunctional, fermentation-based solutions and is a 
must-read for food manufacturers and processors who 
are looking to reduce sodium content while aiming for 
cleaner labels and retaining the original product quality.
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a Wealth oF bakery knoWledge

Is baking an art or a science? some might think it is a 
science, given the precise measurement of ingredients 
and chemical interactions. others might believe it is  
an art, as it involves craftsmanship and the finished 
product has its own beauty whether it be a cake, 
cookie, or loaf of bread.

those who grew up with baking in their blood, though, 
know it is a perfect combination of both. 
Chris Bohm, eric spegler, and Ron Zelch all come from 
families with a long baking tradition. each brings their 
wealth of knowledge to their roles at Corbion. Baking is 
personal, whether it is done at a large wholesale bakery 
or by a mom and pop shop in the city. these three 
Corbion colleagues understand the personal aspect of 
baking and use their backgrounds to make a difference 
every day.

every baker touches the dough
Ron Zelch, product Knowledge and training Manager for 
Corbion, has over 40 years of experience in the baking 
industry as a retail baker, technical service manager, 
instructor, and consultant. 

Ron is a fourth-generation baker and remembers baking 
his first pie at three and earning his first paycheck from 
his family bakery at thirteen. After years of running the 
family bakery in st. louis, Ron was an instructor at the 
American Institute of Baking in Manhattan, Kansas. In 
fact, some of his students are now Corbion employees. 
In his role as product Knowledge and training Manager, 
Ron answers customers’ questions by phone or email. 
He has also conducted seminars and participated in 
panel discussions at trade shows.

Ask Ron if baking is an art or a science and he will tell 
you it is both. “You try to define with science what is  
going on in the baking process. It is a combination of  
the right time, temperature, and mixture of the raw 
ingredients,” says Ron. 

the art, though, comes down to the feel. “every baker 
touches the dough,” Ron says. “even at a wholesale  
bakery. I was with a customer at a large wholesale 
bakery and asked him what the temperature of the 
dough was. He reached in to touch the dough and said, 
‘78 degrees’. I reached for my thermometer, stuck it into 
the dough, and yes, it was 78 degrees!”

Ron knows that bakers pride themselves on the finished 
product — the size, the shape, the look, and feel. For 
Ron, Corbion stays ahead of the competition through 
the legacy of great products and the creation of new 
technologies. this combined with our highly skilled 
sales and technical services ensures that bakers 
achieve a finished product of which they can be proud.

the moment
eric spegler, Developer, product Development, quite 
literally grew up in a family bakery. His family’s bakery  
in Allentown, pennsylvania, was on the first floor of a 
terrace house and the family lived on the second floor. 

His earliest memories are of playing with dough at a 
young age and cutting out Christmas cookies. every 
baker, though, lives for “that moment” when their fin-
ished product goes into the case. For eric, it happened 
when he was in second grade and his Christmas cookies 
made it to the sales floor.

At his family bakery, everything revolved around occa-
sions, like weddings, graduations, and baptisms, as well 
as special holidays. eric left the family bakery to attend 

Delivered through 
dedication
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oklahoma state university, then worked in the hotel 
and restaurant industry before attending the American 
Institute of Baking.

prior to joining Corbion, eric spent 12 years working 
for Interstate Bakeries Corporation, maker of Hostess 
twinkies and Wonder Bread, along with other bakery 
products. In his role as a product developer at Corbion, 
eric works with customer requests to help them make a 
“better cake.” He believes that what sets Corbion apart 
from its competitors is its ability to bring together all 
the functional ingredients that enable a baker to make 
a better product. 

Is baking an art or a science? eric says it is both. “the 
creativity of developing a product is an art. How you 
develop a solution by using ingredients to create that 
product, though, is a science.”

A passion for baking
Chris Bohm, Manager, Bakery Applications, is also a 
fourth-generation baker. With Corbion since 1989, Chris 
is responsible for project execution, from concept to 
final product. “It’s not just about what we make,” says 
Chris.” It’s about what the customer makes as well.” 

His earliest memories are of waking up at 3 a.m. and 
jumping into a cold station wagon to head to the  
family bakery. At a young age, he was responsible for  
making the coffee and panning rolls and donuts, as well 
as cleaning the bathrooms and all the pans and wares 
left over from of the day’s production. By the age of  
12 years, Chris knew his life path would be in baking.  
He was hooked on the pleasure and satisfaction of  
creating products with basic ingredients for people’s 
enjoyment. As the “Cake Boss of the 1980s,” he was 
winning contests for his cake decorating abilities and 
his work was featured in magazines and print ads.

Chris’s family background in baking is a mix of old  
world and new world. His grandfather served his baking 
apprenticeship in Germany and believed in investing 
time and moving slowly in creating bakery products. His 
father learned baking in the usA and had assimilated 
the new world approach of finding ways to make baking 
more efficient. 

Chris learned from both approaches and brings these life 
lessons to his work at Corbion: “there is value in the old 
way of investing time in creating products but we also 
need the new way if we are to shorten the baking time.”

Ask Chris if baking is an art or a science and he will also 
firmly state it is both: “You need to understand the  
chemistry of baking in order to manipulate the ingredients 
to do what you want them to do. the art, of course, lies in 
creating a finished product that brings joy to others.”

 
partnering For bioplastiCs groWth

Corbion produces lactides from lactic acid, which are 
then converted to poly lactic acid (plA) thermoplas-
tic resin, by our customers. our customers offer this 
bioplastic resin to product manufacturers who develop 
bioplastic applications for brand owners and retailers, 
from packaging items to automotive components. In  
order to stimulate the adoption of bioplastics through-
out this supply chain and further develop tailored resins 
for specific applications, Corbion operates in a partner-
ship model. We connect with strategic partners in multi-
ple industries to bring a bioplastic product to successful 
fruition, whether as a novel item or as a replacement  
for existing fossil-based items. once successful, the 
developed technology enables a drop-in bioplastic  
solution that can be multiplied over a multitude of 
related applications.

We invested in a team of in-house downstream pro-
cessing specialists to assist our customers - and their 
customers - with their application development. While 
plA bioplastic resin can, in most cases, be processed 
on existing production lines, certain optimizations are 
required to maximize processing efficiency. By joining 
forces with partners further down the supply chain, 
we can apply our processing expertise to help speed 
up this optimization process during the trial phase of a 
development project. this is critical for the wider adop-
tion of bioplastics and also allows for further tailoring 
of each resin according to the specific application and 
processing requirements. 

A typical example of such a partnership is the plA 
bioplastic computer housing recently co-developed 
with suplA, whose 10 kiloton plA production facility 
will be operational later this year. together, we worked 
with their customer Kuender, a leading taiwanese 
electronics original equipment manufacturer (oeM), and 
assisted with the injection molding trials: “In addition 
to the plA blends, we have developed techniques for 
the injection process. therefore we are glad to let our 
customers know that we are able to provide a total 
solution for making green products,” said Dr. Wen-Jeng 
Kuo, president of Kuender. As a direct result of this 
successful development, the resin and the processing 
expertise can now be applied to a multitude of related 
applications, from phone housings and laptops to game 
consoles and tablets.

In food service ware our partner approach includes a 
joint development project with Huhtamaki, a global 
leader in their market, and Wageningen university’s 
Biobased Research team. We tackled the challenge of 
a biobased plA single-use coffee cup, which required 
the development of both the bioplastic resin and the 
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optimization of the thermoforming production process. 
the successful result of this joint development project 
enables other bioplastic high heat applications, such 
as microwave meal packaging, soup tubs, noodle pots, 
clamshells, disposable plates, and bowls. “Having a high 
heat plA for thermoforming is a missing corner stone 
and will maximize the number of end use applications 
for which plA could be the material of choice,” says 
timo Keski-Mattila, Vice president of Business Devel-
opment at Huhtamaki Foodservice for europe-Asia-
oceania.

And when it comes to automotive components such as 
under-the-hood and visible interior parts, our innova-
tions have pushed the performance limits of plA to 
new heights. our partner, Röchling Automotive, has 
successfully developed a family of plA-based materials 
that show improved hydrolysis and thermal resistance 
up to 140°C with fiber reinforcement. Impressive results 
were also obtained for scratch and uV resistance, which 
is crucially important for vehicle interior applications. 
so far, Röchling has demonstrated a plA-based air 
filter box as well as high gloss dashboard panels, which 
have already passed the stringent testing required for 
automotive components. A testament to the unlocked 
potential for leading automotive brand owners seeking 
biobased solutions.

Creating exCeptional Customer  
experienCes

At Corbion, we are committed to delivering a 
consistently strong customer experience. Why? 
Because we know that every interaction a customer 
has with our products, people, and brand, defines our 
value in their eyes.

It is our ambition to cultivate a truly customer-centric 
organization through a deeper understanding of not 
only needs and values, but also of the market trends 
and forces that will impact business growth. As a result, 
we can create more relevant and more differentiated 
products and service solutions to better meet 
customers’ needs.

Creating an exceptional customer experience embodies 
every interaction our customers have with our people, 
products, services, and brand.

“ 70% of buying experiences are based 
on how the customer feels they are 
being treated.”  
(McKinsey)

Delivering that customer experience will help us realize 
two critical, and interlinked, success factors:
•	 Customer loyalty
•	 profitable growth 

As an organization, we are working hard to build the 
metrics that will help us measure our success over 
time. Because loyal customers are generally more prof-
itable customers, we have begun the process of identi-
fying the key indicators of customer loyalty – based on 
both their words and actions.

Customer focus is deeply ingrained in our culture and 
behavior. How does this show? through the responses 
of our customers for one thing: our nps score (net  
promoter score) is constantly among the highest in  
our industries. our customers praise us for our product  
quality, our response time, and our genuine commitment  
to enduring relations and partnerships. We are glad our 
customers acknowledge our company values: passion, 
partnership, and performance! 

Customer loyalty can be measured in many different 
ways. And while we look to purchase behavior as one 
indicator, the other is in their personal assessment of 
our value to their business. Key indicators of customer 
loyalty include three critical evaluations: 

At the intersection between strong customer satis-
faction, likelihood to recommend, and likelihood to 
purchase in the future lie our most loyal customers. 
through our customer insights initiatives, we will 
continually improve our understanding of the elements 
of customer experience that have the deepest impact 
on customer loyalty to Corbion. We can prioritize then 
our focus on the products, services, messaging, and 
thought leadership that will increase our share of loyal 
customers and which will, in turn, strengthen our share 
of spend and market!

satisfaction 
with our products

 and services

likelyhood to  
purchase 

our products 
in the future

likelihood to  
recommend 
Corbion to a  
colleague or  
industry peer
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